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Chief Executive’s overview 
Good health matters – to individuals, to families and whānau, to communities, and to 

the economy. New Zealanders expect access to high-quality health and disability 

services that are designed to meet their needs and where possible, close to home. As 

the lead agency for the health and disability sector, the Ministry of Health seeks to 

improve, promote and protect the health of New Zealanders through: 

 leadership and overall responsibility for the management, development and 

regulation of the health and disability system 

 expert policy, clinical and technical advice to support Government decision-making 

 funding and purchasing health and disability services on behalf of the Crown 

 infrastructural support through the provision of national information systems 

and payments services. 

 

This report sets out how the Ministry has fulfilled these responsibilities in 2011/12, in 

accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

 

We are operating in a time of tremendous change and challenge. New Zealanders are 

living longer, and in better health. Medical and technological advances mean new 

opportunities and changing public expectations. The Ministry must continue to meet 

the challenges presented by an ageing population and technological change in a timely 

way. There is likely to be continued pressure for increased efficiency and reduced costs 

for the foreseeable future. 

 

The health and disability sector has achieved some impressive results over the last 

year. We have had the best result ever with respect to immunisations and we have 

made further progress on smoking cessation, preventing cardiovascular disease, 

meeting the health targets and preventing rheumatic fever. DHB deficits over the last 

two years are the lowest they have been since 2006/07. 

 

Integrated, patient-centred care has been a strong focus over the year. The 

establishment of Integrated Family Health Centres (‘one-stop shops’) are bringing a 

wider scope of services closer to home. We have expanded the resources available for 

disability support services and put additional resources into aged care – a continuing 

focus for the health sector. 

 

We have worked hard to support Canterbury as it recovers from the devastating 

earthquakes and we will continue to support the rebuilding of the region’s health 

sector, and its ability to make adjustments to respond to ongoing challenges. 
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We are working closely with other Ministries in the social sector to progress the Prime 

Minister’s Key Results with respect to increasing immunisation rates for infants, 

preventing rheumatic fever and reducing assaults on children; and to support Whānau 

Ora. We have actively participated in working across the whole of government to 

improve the quality, responsiveness, and value for money of state services, focusing on 

ICT, procurement and property. 

 

Ministry governance has strengthened and we will continue to make improvements as 

we address the recommendations of the recent Performance Improvement Framework 

review. 

 

Further improvement in the health sector is likely to come from a system that is 

predominantly based around better community and primary care. This focus will assist 

people and their families to manage their own health in their own home, supported by 

specialist services when needed. Apart from the intrinsic benefits of good health to 

individuals, families, whānau and communities, a healthy population, living longer, can 

also translate to greater economic growth. 

 

I hope you will find the report to be informative and helpful. 

 

 
Kevin Woods 

Director-General of Health 
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The New Zealand health and 

disability system 
Health and disability services in New Zealand are delivered through a large, complex 

and dynamic network of organisations and people, all of which play a role in 

contributing to New Zealanders living healthier, more independent lives. The devolved 

nature of the system means that responsibility and authority for service funding and 

planning occurs at national, regional and local levels. 

 

District health boards (DHBs) are the largest funders and providers of health services. 

Around 75 percent of Vote Health funding is administered by DHBs. They are 

responsible for planning, managing, providing and purchasing services for the 

populations of their districts and regions, including services delivered in communities 

such as primary health care, residential services, home support and community care 

services. The majority of these community-based services are delivered by non-

government health providers, including Māori and Pacific providers. 

 

There are also many government and non-governmental entities with quality, training, 

regulatory, purchasing and planning roles. These include PHARMAC, the Health 

Quality and Safety Commission, primary health organisations (PHOs), 16 Health 

Regulatory Authorities, and a range of professional colleges and other training bodies. 

There are also many workforce and consumer bodies that provide support and 

advocate for the interests of various groups, alongside more formal advocacy (such as 

from unions), committees and organisations. 

 

In accordance with Government policy, the Ministry has undertaken targeted work on 

system configuration. This has seen the creation of a range of new and reconstituted 

health sector bodies intended to drive improvement in key areas: 

 the Health Quality and Safety Commission which was established to create a sharper 

focus on service quality and safety 

 Health Benefits Ltd, which put in place shared services and joint procurement in 

order to release resources for frontline services 

 new and refocused advisory committees to lead: workforce planning (Health 

Workforce New Zealand); IT investment (the IT Health Board); evaluation of 

technology investment options (the National Health Committee); capital investment 

decision-making (the Capital Investment Committee) and whole-of-system planning 

advice (the National Health Board) 

 PHARMAC’s role, which has expanded to get better value for money across 

pharmaceutical expenditure (including vaccines) and medical devices. 
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There has also been rationalisation of other entities. During 2011/12, the Ministry 

implemented the Government’s decision to disestablish the Mental Health Commission 

and the Crown Health Financing Agency. The Alcohol Liquor Advisory Council and the 

Health Sponsorship Council were merged to form a new Health Promotion Agency. 

The Agency came into being on 1 July 2012 and its role is to deliver innovative 

programmes and activities designed to promote health, wellbeing and healthy 

lifestyles, and to provide research and advice on alcohol issues. 

 

The complexity of the system requires the Ministry to work with a large range of 

organisations and clinical leaders to achieve the Government’s objectives and to 

generate ongoing improvements across the health and disability system. Increasingly 

this also means working with other social sector agencies, because health outcomes are 

influenced by many factors outside of the scope of health services. 
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The year in review 

How our system is performing 

Overall, the New Zealand health and disability system is performing well. Almost 

90 percent of New Zealanders report that they are in good health. Life expectancy, a 

key measure of health status, continues to rise. In 2010, life expectancy at birth in New 

Zealand stood at 81.0 years, more than one year higher than the OECD average of 

79.8 years.1 This compares favourably with other OECD countries that achieve a similar 

life expectancy but spend more on health per capita. In line with recognition of the role 

of primary care in achieving good health outcomes, 96 percent of New Zealanders are 

enrolled with a primary care provider. Figure 1 shows New Zealand life expectancy at 

the higher end within the OECD. 

 

Figure 1: Life expectancy among OECD countries, by health spending 

 

Note: USD PPP refers to purchasing power parity in US dollars. It enables a comparison of the amount of 

money needed to purchase the same goods and services in different countries. 

 

 

1 OECD Health Data 2012: How Does New Zealand Compare 

www.oecd.org/health/healthpoliciesanddata/BriefingNoteNEWZEALAND2012.pdf 
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It has been both a challenging and a successful year. The global economic outlook has 

continued to deteriorate. The sustained crisis in the Eurozone remains a substantial 

threat to the world economy and therefore to our own. This, together with the 

Government’s goal of returning to surplus in 2014/15 has created a strong focus on 

lifting system performance and productivity, making services sustainable and 

improving fiscal management to further reduce deficits and redirect spending to the 

frontline. 

 

The impacts of the Christchurch earthquake are still being felt. Work is ongoing to 

respond to the consequences and to redevelop the necessary infrastructure to support 

the delivery of health services. 

 

We continue to invest in frontline health services. Despite the constrained fiscal 

environment, New Zealand is one of only a few OECD countries to have increased its 

total health spending in recent years (see Figure 2 below) with 3.4 percent growth in 

spending between 2010 and 2011. Our rate of growth is higher than other countries we 

often compare ourselves with such as the UK, Canada and other northern European 

countries. At the same time, the Ministry has reduced its own operating budget from an 

annual expenditure of $205 million in 2010/11 to $191 million in 2011/12. 

 

Figure 2: Average annual growth in health spending across OECD countries in real 

terms, 2000–2010 

 

Notes: Growth rates for 2009/10 are not available for Australia, Japan, Luxembourg, Israel, Spain and 

Turkey.  Growth rates for Chile calculated using the Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

Source: OECD Health Data 2012. 
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The health sector has achieved significant milestones in 2011/12: 

 92 percent of New Zealand two-year-olds are now fully immunised, the highest ever 

percentage 

 more New Zealanders than ever are quitting smoking 

 prevention of cardiovascular disease is more effective 

 surgical waiting times are reduced and more people than ever are undergoing 

elective surgery2 

 there was an increase of 1093 medical employed full-time equivalent (FTE) staff and 

2446 more nursing employed FTEs.3 

 

The Ministry has also successfully implemented the Government’s commitments to 

free after-hours care for children aged under six, new mental health initiatives and an 

expansion of the voluntary bonding scheme to more professions. 

 

However, we continue to face some significant challenges. Our population is ageing and 

the prevalence of long-term conditions is rising. There are also marked differences in 

health experiences among different groups within our population. 

 

Efficiency gains remain central to ensuring that we can continue to deliver high-quality 

services and improving health outcomes while living within a lower funding path. 

Although overall funding for the health sector has increased, the rate of increase is 

lower than in the past. Notwithstanding this, and allowing for the impact of the 

Canterbury earthquake, DHB deficits reached their lowest point since 2006/07. 

 

System improvements have been achieved, in part, through strengthening the 

institutions and governance arrangements within the sector. Strengthened national 

and regional service planning have contributed to more effective coordination of 

service delivery. Clinical involvement has been essential in improving clinical 

integration and designing new models of care – a core strategy for improving our 

ability to address complex health needs and protect good health and wellbeing, 

particularly into older age. 

 

The Minister has signalled his expectations that the programme to achieve greater 

clinical integration should be accelerated, because a more clinically integrated system 

will improve our ability to address complex health needs and deliver better, more 

accessible patient-centred services, where possible, at home or in a community setting. 

 

 

2 Elective surgery refers to non-emergency surgery, such as knee replacements. 

3 The increase is over the 3½ year period 30 November 2008 to 30 April 2012. 
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At the same time, in response to the Government’s Better Public Services initiative, the 

Ministry is engaged in increased intersectoral working at both the policy and service 

delivery levels. The focus is on driving the delivery of results by improving the quality, 

responsiveness and cost-effectiveness of services. The Ministry is actively working with 

other social agencies to align services and develop joint initiatives through, for 

instance, the Social Sector Forum, an inter-agency group comprising the Ministry of 

Social Development (chair), the Ministries of Justice, Education and Health, the State 

Services Commission, the Treasury and the Department of the Prime Minister and 

Cabinet. 
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Government priorities 
In his Statement to Parliament on 8 February 2011, the Prime Minister emphasised the 

Government’s focus on ‘building better results from the public services New 

Zealanders rely on’ and ‘building the foundations for a stronger economy’. 

Following the general election in November 2011, the Government reinforced and 

expanded its priority areas to focus on: 

 delivering better public services within tight fiscal constraints 

 delivering responsible management of government finances, with the goal of 

returning to surplus in 2014/15 

 rebuilding Canterbury 

 building a more competitive and productive economy. 

 

The health and disability system, and consequently the Ministry as the lead agency for 

the sector, is a major contributor to delivering on these priorities. In June 2012, under 

the Better Public Services priority area, Government also introduced 10 key result areas 

to be achieved by 2017. The Ministry is leading the key result relating to immunisation 

rates and a reduction in cases of rheumatic fever among children, and is contributing to 

others. 

 

The Ministry also contributes to other whole-of-Government priorities: 

 Whānau Ora 

 welfare reform 

 youth mental health, including suicide prevention. 

 

Better public services 

Key results 

Supporting vulnerable children 

Supporting Vulnerable Children is a joint work programme across the Ministry of 

Social Development, Ministry of Education and Ministry of Health. The Ministry of 

Health contributes to supporting vulnerable children by addressing immediate health 

needs and through working with other organisations to deliver coherent health and 

social services for vulnerable families. The Ministry is leading the key result of 

Increasing infant immunisation and a substantial reduction in rheumatic fever cases 

among children. Other activities include B4 school checks and free after-hours services 

for children under six. 
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Increasing infant immunisation 

There has been significant progress in lifting immunisation rates among young 

children in recent years. Around 93 percent of New Zealand two-year olds are now fully 

immunised,4 up from 80 percent in 2009. 

 

The Ministry continues to engage with the Midwifery Council and College, Plunket, Ngā 

Maia (the Māori Midwives Collective), other Well Child providers and antenatal 

educators to develop training tools to support these organisations to inform parents 

about the benefits of immunisation. Work is also under way with DHBs to improve 

coverage and access to immunisation services, and to prepare for the new target of 

immunising 85 percent of eight-month-olds by July 2013, 90 percent by July 2014 and 

95 percent by December 2014. 

 

A substantial reduction in rheumatic fever cases among children 

In New Zealand, acute rheumatic fever is now almost exclusively a disease affecting 

Māori and Pacific peoples.5 The goal is to reduce the incidence of rheumatic fever to 

1.4 cases per 100,000 people by June 2017. A broad programme of work is under 

development with relevant agencies and includes the Ministry’s $24 million Rheumatic 

Fever Prevention Programme which started on 1 July 2011. This programme has 

targeted those parts of the country with the highest rates of acute rheumatic fever 

hospitalisation over recent years. 

 

Other areas of focus 

The Ministry’s work to deliver Better Public Services has seen a strong focus on 

ministerial priorities to deliver the following. 

 A health system that is responsive to people’s needs – to ensure people can 

access services when they need them, and that the needs of different groups within 

the population are met. The introduction of free after-hours GP visits for children 

under six and better access to specialists are examples of specific actions to support 

this. 

 Clinical integration – as a key mechanism for delivering better public services 

within tight fiscal constraints. Integrated care brings organisations and health care 

professionals together to improve outcomes and provide a better patient experience. 

It is particularly valuable for children, older people and people with long-term 

conditions. 

 Preventive measures – proven preventive measures and earlier intervention can 

result in significant health gains. Actions of note in this area include increasing 

immunisation, smoking reduction initiatives and cardiovascular risk management. 

 

 

4 As at August 2012. 

5 Acute rheumatic fever is 23 times more likely in Māori and nearly 50 times for likely in 

Pacific peoples than in other ethnic groups. While rheumatic fever rates decreased 

significantly for other ethnic groups between 1996 and 2005, rates among Māori and Pacific 

children increased significantly. 
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Responsibly managing the Government’s finances 

Vote Health is the second largest area of public spending. The path of health 

expenditure therefore plays a key role in the Government being able to return to budget 

surplus in 2014/15. The challenge is to continue providing New Zealanders’ with 

excellent health care while ensuring the cost of our health system is sustainable in the 

long term. 

 

Internally the Ministry has made substantial savings by tightening the criteria for the 

use of consultants, smarter travel purchasing and greater use of video-conferencing 

technology, energy savings and the use of all-of-government contracts. This is 

discussed in more detail in the ‘Improving value for money’ section on page 20. 

 

The Ministry’s stewardship role means it is also responsible for ensuring the wider 

health and disability system is productive and efficient, and is delivering continuous 

improvements in the services New Zealanders receive. 

 

Elective operations have increased by an average of 8000 a year, more people needing 

specialist assessments are being seen sooner, children under six have access to free GP 

visits, and PHARMAC and Health Benefits Limited are generating cost savings through 

new and expanded purchasing functions. 

 

Labour costs account for around 61 percent of DHB health expenditure, and DHB wage 

costs have been managed within the overall funding cap. This has contained the 

annualised ongoing cost of settlement to 1.5 percent over the 2011/12 period, with 22 

national and regional multi-employer collective agreements (MECAs) and 55 single 

employer collective agreements (SECAs) agreed in the DHB sector. The MECAs expire 

at a range of dates between February 2013 and February 2015. 

 

Supporting the Canterbury recovery 

The Ministry continues to provide cross-sectoral support for recovery from the 

Christchurch earthquakes. This includes maintaining oversight of emerging health 

issues, working with the Ministry of Social Development to support the recovery, and 

working with the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) on health-related 

issues. The Ministry has been working to assist Canterbury DHB to redevelop core 

infrastructure. The Ministry has also worked to support its Christchurch-based staff, 

including relocating them to new premises. 

 

Building a more competitive and productive 

economy 

A healthy population is central to a productive economy. Good health allows people to 

participate in training or employment. This in turn supports raising the skill-base of 

our workforce and contributes to national earnings, and individual income levels. 

DHBs and other health organisations also make a direct contribution to their local 

economies as employers and purchasers of supplies. 
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Other Government priorities 

Implementing Whānau Ora 

Whānau Ora is an inclusive, interagency approach that includes services to support the 

aspiration of whānau to become more self-managing and to take responsibility for their 

economic, social and cultural development. 

 

Throughout 2011/12 the Ministry continued to work with Te Puni Kōkiri (as the lead 

government agency) and the Ministry of Social Development to implement 

Government decisions on Whānau Ora. As part of the Ministry’s contribution to 

leadership for Whānau Ora, the Director-General of Health is a member of the Whānau 

Ora Governance Group. This Group is responsible for overseeing the implementation 

of Whānau Ora and advises the Minister for Whānau Ora on policy settings and 

priorities. The Ministry is also working with DHBs to support the Whānau Ora 

collectives in their regions. 

 

In May 2012, the Ministry was confirmed by the Governance Group as the lead for IT 

investment in the Whānau Ora collectives. The Ministry is working with all 34 Whānau 

Ora collectives to complete information system strategic plans (ISSPs) to support the 

collectives as they transform the way they work towards being more whānau-centred, 

whānau driven and integrated. Further information is provided in the report on 

Whānau Ora progress under Impact 9 on page 73. 

 

Welfare reform 

New Zealand’s welfare system is undergoing significant change. The new system is 

seeking to take a long-term investment approach to moving people from welfare to 

work, and is providing more intensive support to people who are capable of working 

but likely to remain on a benefit without more intensive support. The Ministry of 

Health is engaged in ongoing work with the Ministry of Social Development on the 

health-related impacts of the changes. 

 

Youth Mental Health 

A considerable number of young New Zealanders experience mental health issues such 

as depression, anxiety and substance abuse, which can have life-long consequences. 

 

In April 2012, the Prime Minister announced a new cross-government Youth Mental 

Health project designed to improve mental health services for young people aged 12 to 

19 years with, or at risk of, mild to moderate mental health issues. The Ministry is now 

responsible for leading a cross-agency package of 22 initiatives that aim to prevent 

mental health problems developing and to improve access to specialised treatment 

where it is needed. More detail on this initiative can be found on page 48. 
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Working across government 

Other interagency collaboration 

The Ministry was actively involved in the planning for the Rugby World Cup and was 

responsible for overseeing management of any public health issues that arose during 

the event. This contribution to a very successful event was welcomed across 

government. 

 

The Ministry also provided advice during the year to a range of central and local 

agencies on managing potential public health risks from exposure to hazardous 

environments, including the MV Rena grounding and issues associated with 

contaminated sites, commercial solaria, chemical fires, consumer products and 

hazardous waste. 

 

Significant support was provided for other government departments, including the 

Ministry for Primary Industries’ management of food safety and the development of 

Front of Pack labelling policy, and the Ministry for the Environment’s support for local 

authorities’ management of contaminated sites. The Ministry also contributed to the 

Department of Labour’s Occupational Health and Safety Strategy. 

 

International health leadership 

As well as working across government in New Zealand, the Ministry provided 

leadership and influence through its international contributions. During the past year, 

among other things, we have provided advice to the World Health Organization (WHO) 

on the Pandemic Influenza Preparedness Framework and participated in an Expert 

Advisory Group established to recommend future directions for the Secretariat of the 

Pacific Community (SPC). 

 

Implementing the Australia New Zealand Therapeutic Goods Agency 

(ANZTPA) 

In July 2011, the New Zealand and Australian Prime Ministers agreed to implement a 

2003 treaty to establish a joint regulatory scheme and single market for therapeutic 

products and a joint agency to administer the scheme by mid-2016. 

 

This is a very significant step in the development of trans-Tasman institutional 

arrangements that underpin deeper and closer economic relations. ANZTPA will be the 

first joint trans-Tasman regulator. Businesses will benefit from a reduction in red tape 

with a single set of requirements operating across a single trans-Tasman market. 

 

Over 2011/12 Medsafe and Australia’s Therapeutic Goods Administration have given 

priority to implementing projects that will deliver early benefits including improved 

public health outcomes and better value for money for industry and governments with 

greater efficiency in regulatory processes. 
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Specific projects under way to deliver early benefits to industry and governments are: 

 a joint publicly searchable database of adverse reactions to therapeutic products – 

for the first time both countries have published adverse reactions information 

 an early warning system to inform the public of potential safety issues in relation to 

medicines 

 a common recalls portal for therapeutic products 

 a reform of business processes for the evaluation of over-the-counter medicines, 

resulting in a common approach to lodging applications, assessment, evaluation and 

registration of these products 

 an integrated capability to conduct audits to assess good manufacturing practice. 

 

Significant progress has been made in identifying a work programme to see ANZTPA 

implemented by mid-2016. In 2012/13 substantive work will be undertaken to develop 

the ANZTPA regulatory scheme which will operate across the two jurisdictions. New 

Zealand also intends to progress its implementation of the legislation in 2012/13. 
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Minister’s priorities 
The Minister of Health has identified four health-specific priority areas for the 

Ministry’s short- and medium-term work programme. These reflect the Government’s 

broader priorities, but also create a sharper focus on critical areas within the health 

and disability system: 

 bringing health services closer to home 

 improving the health and independence of older people 

 strengthening the health workforce 

 improving value for money. 

 

Bringing health services closer to home 

The Better, Sooner, More Convenient business cases have focused on providing better 

integrated clinical services, closer to people’s homes. The initial phase of this work has 

focused on strengthening relationships across primary and secondary care settings and 

establishing appropriate platforms for bringing together health managers and 

clinicians to undertake system-wide approaches to service planning. 

 

We are beginning to see changes. New models of care are creating new ways for people 

to interact with their local general practice and primary care services. For example, 

some patients can now access health advice from their GP by phone. This reduces the 

need for face-to-face consultations. Others are interacting electronically with their GPs 

through portals which contain their personal health information as well as providing 

access to more general health information. 

 

More care is being provided closer to home. Many Integrated Family Health Centres 

(IFHCs) are nearing completion. These will bring together a greater range of services, 

such as physiotherapy, podiatry, radiology and pharmacy, into one location. Many 

areas have increased access to a range of diagnostic procedures and treatments in 

communities. For example, intravenous antibiotic treatments for cellulitis are now 

being delivered in community settings where previously they were administered only in 

hospital settings. This is reducing emergency department presentations and hospital 

admissions. In addition DHBs are providing more specialist clinics in communities, 

such as access to musculoskeletal and respiratory services, meaning patients do not 

have to travel to hospital. These new models of care are supported by clinicians 

working together in different ways to improve access. For example, many practices are 

using nurses to support patients with chronic diseases and employing health 

navigators to help people to work through complex interactions with the health system. 

There is also a strengthened focus on clinical pathways. These contribute to service 

quality by standardising care, and provide greater patient certainty in relation to the 

services they can access and how long they are likely to wait for those services. 
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Improving the health and independence of older 

people 

Statistics New Zealand population projections suggest that by 2031 one in five New 

Zealanders will be aged over 65 years. Longevity is predicted to increase and the 

proportion of New Zealanders in the 85-plus age bracket is growing rapidly. Many of 

these people will require care and support services. 

 

Greater integration of older people’s health and support services, aims to ensure 

seamless pathways of care for older New Zealanders. During 2011/12, the Ministry’s 

focus has been on providing wrap around services that support older people to live in 

their own homes for longer. This has included a range of initiatives to improve the 

quality of home-based support services. 

 

During 2011/12, the roll-out of the internationally recognised Comprehensive Clinical 

Assessment (CCA) framework into home-based support services was completed. The 

implementation of CCA into age-residential care commenced during this same period 

and is due for completion in 2015. CCA is the product of researchers collaborating 

across more than 30 countries to identify health and support needs for older people. It 

uses a common language and set of clinical concepts across care settings to promote 

integrated care. It can be used for the development of high-quality care plans and to 

benchmark the quality of care on a national basis. 

 

Following Government’s election commitment to Smarter Home Support Service, the 

Ministry implemented a national programme to promote smarter, more intensive 

community-based services for older people. This programme includes supported 

hospital discharge to allow early release from hospital and to reduce the likelihood of 

acute events that lead to re-admissions. Support for primary care professionals by 

DHB-based clinical specialists is a key feature of this programme. 

 

Dementia care is one of the most pressing challenges associated with an ageing 

population. To ensure that high-quality dementia care is consistently available across 

all DHBs, the Ministry has initiated a programme to establish a national dementia care 

framework. The framework will help clinicians develop a dementia care pathway for 

their DHB. The pathway will draw together a range of services and, through agreed 

care plans, ensure that patients receive integrated care from the point of diagnosis. An 

additional $2.5 million was made available to DHBs nationally to develop their 

dementia care pathways. This will ensure people with dementia are better supported to 

live well within their communities and receive appropriate services sooner, through 

earlier diagnosis and an integrated service response. Services include dementia day 

care and making information available to families. The national framework and DHB 

pathways are due for completion by June 2013. The funding is ongoing and will assist 

in strengthening the dementia care pathway in future years. 
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Underpinning all of this and in line with the strengthened focus on service quality 

across the system, the Ministry has commenced a programme to ensure the quality of 

home-based support services. This includes the introduction of new mandatory quality 

standards (completed in March 2012), a national cross-agency audit framework, a 

more robust consumer complaints process and measurement of consumer satisfaction. 

 

Strengthening the health workforce 

Strengthening our health and disability workforce means attracting, retaining and 

making best use of our existing workforce, while developing the future workforce. 

Priority areas for workforce development include: 

 progressing workforce service reviews 

 workforce innovation 

 attracting and retaining our health workforce 

 investing in training and education 

 a simpler, more unified regulatory system. 

 

Progressing the workforce service reviews 

The Ministry has supported groups of clinicians to conduct a series of workforce 

service forecasts (previously workforce service reviews) within selected specialist areas. 

The groups were asked to consider how high-quality services could be delivered to 

communities in 2020 in the face of ongoing fiscal and workforce constraints. Ten 

service forecasts have been published to date: aged care; gastroenterology; anaesthesia; 

youth health; eye health; musculoskeletal; palliative care; mental health and 

addictions; rehabilitation; and diabetes. 

 

Workforce innovation 

The service forecasts have provided the basis for many of the workforce innovations 

that have been developed in the past year. For example, a sector-led process to develop 

a skills, knowledge and competency framework for nurses, technicians and health-care 

assistants working in endoscopy has been completed and will be implemented in the 

coming year. The project to enable specialist nurses working in diabetes to prescribe 

has been found to benefit patients and is being rolled out more widely. The initiative to 

develop a gerontology nurse specialist in the community to screen for at risk patients 

living at home and provide follow-up assessment and service coordination has been 

well accepted by patients and by doctors and nurses working in primary care practices 

and a second stage of the project will be established to undertake a cost-benefit 

analysis. 
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Other workforce innovations have developed as a result of proposals from the sector, 

particularly in relation to expanded scopes of practice for nurses and pharmacists. The 

successful project whereby community pharmacists were trained to manage patients 

on warfarin medication is currently being rolled out more widely through DHB 

contracts with pharmacies. Clinical advisory pharmacists are also being trained for the 

first time to enable them to prescribe medication, pending a change in regulation. A 

second cohort of registered nurses are in training to enable them to assist doctors 

during surgical procedures and the first primary care nurse has completed the 

requirements to be credentialed by the College of Mental Health Nurses in the area of 

mental health and addictions. Initiatives to strengthen the roles of assistants within 

clinical teams have included developing a practice assistant role in primary care and 

testing the physician assistant role in surgical services. This frees up skilled 

professionals to practise at the top of their scope. 

 

Attracting and retaining our health workforce 

The Ministry’s Voluntary Bonding Scheme (VBS) was established in 2009 and aims to 

help address retention issues and the distribution of essential health workforces by 

bonding new graduates to work in New Zealand particularly in hard-to-staff 

communities and/or specialties in exchange for payments against their student loans. 

The VBS bonding period is for a minimum of three and a maximum of five years. 

 

Recently graduated doctors, midwives and nurses have been eligible for the VBS since 

its inception and in 2012, $1 million was added to the VBS budget to enable its 

expansion to other professions. This commenced with the inclusion of radiation 

therapists and medical physicists, professions key to the delivery of cancer treatment, 

in the 2012 intake. Since 2009, 2303 registrations of interest have been received, from 

1809 nurses, 262 doctors, 218 midwives, 13 radiation therapists and one medical 

physicist. 

 

A pilot project is also under way to establish a nationally coordinated, web-based 

system to assist recruiting new graduate nurses to the DHBs, aged residential care and 

primary care. The Ministry has worked closely with DHBs to ensure the new system 

will improve the recruitment of new graduate nurses by better matching new graduates 

to employers. It will also provide better information about where new graduates are 

employed. 

 

Investing in training and education 

Reflecting the emphasis on primary care, the Ministry has worked with the Medical 

Council of New Zealand and the Royal New Zealand College of General Practitioners 

(RNZCGP) to develop a revised General Practice Education Programme (GPEP). The 

revised GPEP curriculum will include opportunity for trainees to work with clinicians 

trained in other vocational scopes thereby fostering cross-disciplinary collaboration 

and teamwork to enable the delivery of enhanced health care for patients. The 

programme will commence in December 2012. 
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The Ministry has worked with DHBs, education providers and professional bodies to 

develop four regional postgraduate training hubs which became fully operational as of 

1 January 2012. The hubs are responsible for supporting and developing health 

training and consolidating training resources in their area while maintaining a focus on 

the needs of health providers and the communities they serve. Each hub has integrated 

regional governance, with Ministry oversight of the delivery of workforce priorities. 

 

Māori and Pacific people are underrepresented in the health and disability workforce. 

In response, the Ministry has put in place a series of initiatives to attract Māori and 

Pacific people into the health and disability workforce and to support ongoing 

workforce development. Following are brief descriptions of programmes that support 

Māori workforce and provider development. 

 The Māori Provider Development Scheme (MPDS) distributes $8.89 million of 

annual grant funding. The scheme aims to support the development of the Māori 

health and disability regional provider sector to develop more effective health 

service provision. During 2011/12 over 130 agreements were completed and there 

continues to be strong interest in the scheme with more than 144 applications from 

regional and national providers in 2012/13. 

 Hauora Māori scholarships support Māori students to enter health-related study, 

while also recognising their contribution to their community. In 2012, 555 students 

were awarded scholarships at undergraduate and postgraduate levels across the 

following nine categories: community health workers; dieticians; dentistry; health 

management; medicine; midwifery; nursing; pharmacy; and physiotherapy. 

 

National Māori Workforce Development Programmes delivered $12 million over four 

years to strengthen the Māori health and disability workforce. Ten programmes were 

initiated with the aim of increasing the number of Māori student taking up health 

careers and increasing the numbers and skill-base of Māori nurses and midwives. 

These programmes are on track to increase the numbers of Māori entering and 

remaining in health careers. 

 

Te Ao Auahatanga Hauora Māori: The Māori Health Innovation Fund seeks to advance 

whānau ora (family health and wellbeing). In 2009, 32 providers were contracted over 

a four-year period to 30 June 2013 to design, develop, deliver and evaluate a wide 

range of health service or programme delivery models. 

 

The Ministry supports the development of the Pacific health workforce through the 

Pacific Provider and Workforce Development Fund (PPWDF). This includes 

supporting and encouraging Pacific students to engage and achieve in science and to 

choose to study health science degrees at tertiary institutions. 
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Highlights include: 

 a marked increase in the number of students taking science subjects in Years 11, 12 

and 13 since the programme started in 2010 

 181 students receiving Provide Pacific Health Workforce Awards in 2012, mostly for 

medicine and nursing 

 a clinical training support programme for Pacific GPs and practice nurses which 

resulted in eight new GPs and eight practice nurses being given clinical attachments 

and training with Pacific practices in South Auckland 

 15 Pacific-trained nurses of Pacific ethnicity supported to gain New Zealand 

registration with the New Zealand Nursing Council 

 the Aniva Pacific Health Leadership alumni programme which works with the 

growing cohort of Pacific health workers taking leadership roles in the wider health 

sector. 

 

A simpler, more unified regulatory system 

During the year, the Ministry began a strategic review of the Health Practitioners 

Competence Assurance Act 2003. The Review is considering, among other things, how 

the Act supports the delivery of workforce services required both now and in the future, 

whether the pastoral care of health professionals can be improved to support the 

sustainability of the health workforce, and how a robust data collection system might 

be developed to inform sector intelligence and planning. A consultation period is 

expected to commence from 31 August 2012 and to conclude by October 2012. A 

second round of public consultation will occur in early 2013. 

 

Improving value for money 

The Ministry is seeking to improve value for money, enhance the efficiency and 

financial sustainability of the sector as a whole and improve the cost-effectiveness of 

the Ministry. 

 

The improved efficiency and financial sustainability of service providers is evident in 

reduced deficits and ongoing improvements in other performance measures discussed 

below. 

 

In relation to its own expenditure, the Ministry has achieved substantial cost savings 

through a combination of reducing expenditure on consultants and travel, energy 

saving initiatives and through the use of all-of-government contracts. These and other 

initiatives aimed at reducing overheads have helped to reduce the Ministry’s 

expenditure by more than $13 million in 2011/12 over the previous year. 

 

Consultants 

The Ministry has tightened the criteria for use of consultants and contractors, resulting 

in a reduction of more than 30 percent relative to 2010/11 costs. 
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Travel 

The implementation of video-conferencing and improved travel booking services in 

2008, has reduced Ministry spending on travel by $1.9 million. These savings were 

achieved through: 

 training over 600 staff in the use of video-conferencing and the online booking tool 

 using video-conferencing instead of travel 

 online travel booking resulting in service fee savings of approximately $96,000 per 

year 

 transparent travel reporting and regular auditing 

 97 percent compliance with accommodation bookings through our preferred 

suppliers 

 99 percent compliance with rental car bookings through our preferred supplier 

 reducing taxi travel by $283,000 since 2009. 

 

In April 2012, the Ministry signed on to the all-of-Government contract for air travel. 

This contract is estimated to save the Ministry a further $100,000 to $150,000 per 

annum. 

 

Energy savings 

The Ministry has achieved a 33 percent decrease (approximately $200,000 per annum) 

in energy costs and usage over the last three years as a result of: 

 smarter lighting controls 

 closer management of heating and ventilation systems 

 new offices and modern, energy-efficient appliances. 

 

All-of-government contracting 

The Ministry has been actively engaged in the use of all-of-government contracts. We 

are now party to contracts covering office consumables, motor vehicles, legal services, 

multi-function devices and energy management. 
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Health targets 

Health targets are a set of national performance measures designed to drive 

performance improvement in targeted service areas. The Minister reviews these 

annually and they are adjusted to ensure they align with the Government’s priorities. 

 

The Minister identified six areas of focus for 2011/12: 

 shorter stays in emergency departments 

 improved access to elective surgery 

 shorter waits for cancer treatment 

 increased immunisation 

 better diabetes and cardiovascular services/more heart and diabetes checks 

 better help for smokers to quit. 

 

Shorter stays in emergency departments 

Measure: 95 percent of patients will be admitted, discharged or transferred from an 

emergency department within six hours. 

 

Figure 3: Percentage of people waiting less than six hours for treatment in an 

emergency department, 2009/10–2011/12 
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The length of a person’s stay in an emergency department (ED) is an important 

measure of the quality of acute (emergency and urgent) care in our public hospitals, 

because, among other things, long stays and overcrowding in EDs are linked to 

negative clinical outcomes for patients, such as increased mortality and longer 

inpatient lengths of stay. 
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Results for the ‘Shorter stays in emergency departments’ target are the best since the 

target was introduced. In 2011/12 93.8 percent of people were seen within six hours of 

arrival in an ED, up from 91.6 percent in 2010/11. 

 

Figure 3 indicates the tendency for quarter one performance to be lower than the prior 

quarter, consequent to winter demands. However, performance improves subsequently 

and the overall trend is of improving performance. The quarter one 2011/12 result is 

seen to be part of this trend. The national performance of 90 percent achieved in 

quarter one 2011/12 is higher than the national performance of 86 percent achieved in 

quarter one of 2010/11 despite ED presentations being slightly (1 percent) higher. 

 

Improved access to elective surgery 

Measure: The volume of elective surgery will be increased by an average of 4000 

discharges per year (compared with the previous average increase of 1400 per year). 

 

Figure 4: Volume of elective surgery, 2001/08–2011/12 
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Surgery can improve the quality of life of patients suffering from significant medical 

conditions. In the past, the growth in elective surgical discharges did not keep up with 

population growth. 
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This health target has been achieved. The volume of elective surgery delivered in 

2011/12 was 152,991.6 Since 2007/08, the volume has increased by more than 8000 a 

year. 

 

This health target supports improved access to elective services, and contributes to the 

outcome of New Zealanders living longer, healthier and more independent lives. 

Delivery of this measure supports better, sooner, more convenient health services for 

New Zealanders by improving access and reducing waiting times for elective services. 

DHBs have consistently performed very well against this target over the past four 

years. 

 

Reducing waiting times for elective services 

Improving timeliness of access to elective services has been a priority during 2011/12. 

In February 2011 changes were introduced to increase the focus on reducing waiting 

times to ensure DHBs meet the waiting time commitments they make to patients. A 

goal was set for DHBs that by the end of June 2012 they have no patient waiting longer 

than six months for either elective First Specialist Assessments (FSA) or treatment 

(Canterbury DHB was granted an exemption due to exceptional circumstances 

surrounding the Canterbury earthquakes). 

 

Since then, clinicians, managers, frontline teams and support staff have made this an 

area of concentration, focusing on meeting the needs of each long-waiting patient, as 

well as improving systems, processes, scheduling and pathways for patients. As a 

result, by the end of June 2012, excluding Canterbury DHB, there were only 33 patients 

across the country waiting over six months for an elective FSA, and only 119 waiting for 

elective treatment. Seventeen DHBs have achieved the target of having no patient 

waiting longer than six months. 

 

The expectation is now that maximum waiting times for elective services will reduce 

further between 2012 and 2014, as follows. 

 From 1 July 2013, all patients who are waiting for an elective FSA or treatment will 

receive this within a maximum of five months. 

 From 1 January 2015, all patients who are waiting for an elective FSA or treatment 

will receive this within a maximum of four months. 

 

 

6 Data is extracted from the National Minimum Data Set (NMDS) which is a live and dynamic 

dataset. 2007/08–2010/11 data refreshed as at 2 July 2012. 2011/12 results extracted 

13 August 2012. 
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Shorter waits for cancer treatment 

Measure: Everyone needing radiation treatment will have this within four weeks. 

 

Figure 5: Percentage of patients receiving radiation treatment within four weeks, 

2009/10–2011/12 
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Specialist cancer treatment and symptom control are essential to reducing the impact 

of cancer. Delays in accessing radiotherapy and chemotherapy are likely to lead to 

poorer treatment outcomes for patients. 

 

This target has been achieved. Nationally, 100 percent of patients who were ready for 

treatment received their radiation treatment within four weeks of their first specialist 

radiation oncology assessment. 

 

Over the reporting period, this target focused on radiotherapy. DHBs have consistently 

performed well against the target, and it has been extended to include chemotherapy in 

2012/13. 
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Increased immunisation 

Immunisation coverage for two-year-olds 

Measure: 95 percent of two-year-olds will be fully immunised. 

 

Figure 6: Percentage of two-year olds fully immunised, 2009/10–2011/12 
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Immunisation can prevent a number of serious childhood diseases. It not only provides 

individual protection, but also population-wide protection by reducing the incidence of 

infectious diseases and preventing their spread to vulnerable people. Some of these 

population-wide benefits are only gained with high immunisation rates. 

 

New Zealand’s childhood immunisation rates are now higher than they have ever been. 

Over 2011/12, immunisation coverage for two-year-olds increased nationally from 

90.8 percent to 93.1 percent. Eight DHBs were successful in reaching the immunisation 

health target of 95 percent of fully immunised two-year-olds. Another eight DHBs 

achieved over 91 percent. This continues the outstanding progress made over the past 

few years, and compares to a coverage rate of 67 percent in 2007 and much lower rates 

in the 1990s. 
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Over 2011/12 a particularly pleasing area of progress has been the increase in Māori 

coverage from 89 percent to 92 percent. Pacific and Asian coverage increased to 

97 percent and 98 percent respectively. Immunisation rates in deprived areas 

(deprivation quintile areas 9 and 10) increased from 90 percent to 94 percent. At the 

same time, the number of parents declining one or more vaccines for their children has 

decreased over the year to 4 percent. This may be as a result of recent outbreaks of 

measles and whooping cough, but is also likely to be influenced by efforts from 

providers and DHBs to follow up families who are recorded as declining 

immunisations. 

 

In 2012, this target was revised to reflect changing Government priorities. The new 

target aims for 85 percent of eight-month-olds completing their primary course of 

immunisation at six weeks, three months and five months on time by July 2013, 

increasing to 90 percent by July 2014 and 95 percent by December 2014. The 

immunisation target of increasing eight-months coverage will support early enrolment 

and ongoing engagement with primary care and Well Child services. Immunisations for 

young children cover a range of childhood diseases such as measles, mumps, rubella, 

polio and whooping cough. 

 

National Immunisation Week, 23–29 April 

This Western Pacific World Health Organization annual initiative was a success, with 

more than 20 activities relating to immunisation aired on television or radio, or 

published in local newspapers. DHBs also held their own local activities. 

 

Better diabetes and cardiovascular services/more heart and diabetes 

checks 

Measure: The targets for diabetes and cardiovascular services changed during the 

year. 

 

Targets to 31 December 2011 were: 

 90 percent of the eligible adult population will have had their cardiovascular 

disease risk assessed in the last five years 

 an increased percentage of people with diabetes will attend free annual checks 

 an increased percentage of people with diabetes will have satisfactory or better 

diabetes management. 

 

Target from 1 January 2012 is: 

 by 1 July 2014 90 percent of the eligible population will have had their 

cardiovascular risk assessed within the last five years. This will be achieved in 

stages. The first stage is to achieve 60 percent by 1 July 2012, and the second is to 

achieve 75 percent by 1 July 2013. 
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Long-term conditions are the major health burden for New Zealand now and in the 

foreseeable future. These conditions are the leading cause of morbidity in New Zealand, 

and disproportionately affect Māori, Pacific and South Asian peoples. As the 

population ages, and lifestyles change, the prevalence of these conditions is likely to 

increase significantly. 

 

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) includes heart attacks and strokes, which are both 

substantially preventable with lifestyle advice and treatment for those at moderate or 

higher risk. The indicator monitors the proportion of the eligible population who have 

had the blood tests for CVD risk assessment (including the blood tests to screen for 

diabetes) in the preceding five-year period. 

 

Diabetes is important as a major and increasing cause of disability and premature 

death, and it is also a good indicator of the responsiveness of health services to people 

in most need. Diabetes tests are included as part of the overall CVD risk assessment. 

These tests are different from a diabetes annual review, which takes place when a 

patient, who has been previously diagnosed with diabetes, is seen by their health 

professional to review the management of their disease. The Ministry will continue to 

collect information on diabetes management as part of the DHB performance 

indicators in 2012/13. 

 

From 1 January 2012 the ‘Better diabetes and cardiovascular services’ health target was 

replaced with a new national target: ‘More heart and diabetes checks’. 

 

The provisional result for the new health target is 48.7 percent and after six months, 

there has been positive improvement towards the 60 percent target. There are a 

number of reasons why this new target has not been met. There is evidence that the 

current programmes available for the prevention and treatment of major long-term 

conditions such as CVD still vary greatly across DHBs. There is work to do to ensure all 

available data is captured and reported by PHOs. Further education is also required to 

support some clinical staff to ensure familiarity with the purpose of, and methods for, 

undertaking a CVD risk assessment. 

 

Figure 7 shows figures for 2011/12. As this ‘better diabetes and cardiovascular services’ 

target has changed, it will not be reported as a health target in future. 
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Figure 7: Percentage of diabetes management and free check rates, 

2010/11–2011/12 
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Diabetes care improvement packages 

The Ministry and the sector undertook significant work during much of 2011/12 in 

preparation for the replacement of the Get Checked programme with Diabetes Care 

Improvement Packages (DCIPs) from 1 July 2012. A communication strategy was 

developed with the sector, and the Ministry worked with stakeholders such as DHBs 

and Diabetes New Zealand in preparing for the change. As part of the shift to DCIPs, 

the DHBs’ DCIP sections in their 2012/13 Annual Plans were all agreed in June 2012. 

The Ministry is continuing to work closely with DHBs and PHOs to support DHBs to 

implement their submitted plans, and to develop suitable mechanisms to capture 

quarterly reporting of their progress. The Ministry is also planning a number of visits 

to DHBs to help make their own DCIPs a success for their populations. 

 

Better help for smokers to quit 

Measures 

 95 percent of hospitalised smokers will be provided with advice and help to quit by 

July 2012 

 90 percent of patients enrolled with PHOs who smoke and are seen in general 

practice will be provided with advice and help to quit by July 2012. 
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Smoking kills an estimated 5000 people in New Zealand every year, and smoking-

related diseases are a significant opportunity cost to the health sector. Most smokers 

want to quit, and there are simple effective interventions to support this that can be 

routinely provided in both primary and secondary care. 

 

This target is designed to prompt providers to routinely ask about smoking status as a 

clinical ‘vital sign’ and then to provide brief advice and offer quit support to current 

smokers. There is strong evidence that brief advice is effective at prompting quit 

attempts and long term quit success. The quit rate is improved further by the provision 

of effective cessation therapies: pharmaceuticals (in particular nicotine replacement 

therapy); and telephone or face-to-face support. 

 

Figure 8: Percentage of smokers in hospital who are offered help to quit 
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There has been good progress in the ‘better help for smokers to quit’ hospital target. 

The national result increased from 84.6 percent of smokers in hospital being offered 

help and advice to quit at 30 June 2011 to 93.6 percent by 30 June 2012. This is very 

close to the target of 95 percent. 

 

Progress is slower with the general practice target, with a provisional figure of 

34 percent of enrolled patients provided with advice and help to quit. 

 

The assistance provided is helping smokers to quit. Smoking rates among adults in 

New Zealand decreased from 30.0 percent in 1985 to 18.1 percent in 2007,7 a rate lower 

than the OECD average of 21.1 percent, and seventh lowest among OECD countries. 

 

 

7 According to the latest comparative data available from the OECD. 
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Outcomes framework 
The Ministry’s outcomes framework is consistent with Government goals and is 

designed to steer Ministry activity to ensure we deliver on these and wider system 

outcomes as part of our stewardship role. The outcomes framework (see Figure 9) 

shows the connections between the Ministry’s inputs (people and resources), its 

outputs as an organisation and the outcomes sought from its work. 

 

Health and disability system outcomes 

The Ministry identified two system-level outcomes in its 2011/12 Statement of Intent 

(as shown in Figure 9): 

 New Zealanders living longer, healthier and more independent lives 

 New Zealand’s economic growth is supported. 

 

Achievement of these goals is assessed through the following measures: 

 healthy life expectancy 

 life expectancy 

 disability prevalence 

 labour force participation 

 labour force productivity. 

 

Overall, our health and disability system is performing well. We are continuing to make 

gains against each of these measures. 

 



 

32 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 

including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Figure 9: The Ministry’s outcomes framework 
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Healthy life expectancy has increased 

Figure 10: Healthy life expectancy, 1996, 2001 and 2006 
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The success of New Zealand’s health system can be measured by the health and 

independence of its citizens. The number of years the average New Zealander can 

expect to live in full health is now 67 years for males and 69 years for females. 

 

Health expectancy (also described as independent life expectancy) refers to the number 

of years a person could expect to live independently, that is, without any functional 

limitation requiring the assistance of another person or complex assistive device. The 

measure uses information from the 1996, 2001 and 2006 Disability Surveys to 

calculate disability-adjusted life expectancy estimates. Due to the delay of the 2011 

Census, this measure cannot be updated at the present time. 

 

In 2006, males and females had an independent life expectancy at birth of 67.4 years 

and 69.2 years respectively. The gap between males and females in independent life 

expectancy at birth was 1.8 years in 2006, a decrease of two years since 2001. For the 

total population, independent life expectancy at birth has improved since 1996 (an 

increase of 2.7 years for males and 1.7 years for females).  Differences in healthy life 

expectancy between non-Māori and Māori in 2006, by gender, are shown in Table 1. 
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Table 1: Healthy life expectancy, by ethnicity and gender, 2006 

 Non-Māori Māori Difference 

Males 71.5 64.2 7.3 

Females 74.6 67.6 7.0 

Source: Ministry of Health, Statistics New Zealand 

 

Life expectancy has increased 

Figure 11: Life expectancy 1960–2010 
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Source: Life expectancy at birth, 2009, OECD Health Data 2011, OECD; World Health Organization, 

Statistics New Zealand 

 

For the period 2007 to 2009, life expectancy at birth was 78.4 years for males and 

82.4 years for females. Since the mid-1980s, gains in longevity have been greater for 

males than for females. Between 1985–1987 and 2007–2009 life expectancy at birth 

increased by 7.3 years for males and 5.3 years for females. As a result, the gap between 

males and females in life expectancy narrowed from 6.0 years to 4.0 years over this 

period. 
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The gains in life expectancy at birth since the mid-1980s can be attributed mainly to 

reductions in death rates for people in the late-working and retirement age groups 

(55–84 years). However, reduced death rates for infants (from 11.2 deaths per 1000 

live births in 1986 to 4.9 per 1000 in 2009), for people aged 45–54 years, and for 

women aged 85 years and over were also significant. 

 

Our life expectancy compares well with other countries. Overall life expectancy in New 

Zealand is now 80.8 years. This means we currently rank 11th in the OECD, above the 

OECD average of 79.5. 

 

Life expectancy for Māori has increased significantly, but there are still significant 

disparities relative to non-Māori. Over the decade to 2007 Māori life expectancy 

increased by 3.8 years for both males and females, up from 66.6 and 71.3 years, 

respectively, in 1995–1997. 

 

Statistics New Zealand’s 2005–2007 life tables show that a newborn Māori boy could 

expect to live 70.4 years and a newborn Māori girl 75.1 years. This was an increase of 

1.4 years for males and 1.9 years for females over the 2000–2002 figures of 69.0 years 

for males and 73.2 years for females. For non-Māori in 2005–2007, a newborn boy 

could expect to live 79.0 years and a newborn girl 83.0 years. This was an increase of 

1.8 years for males and 1.0 year for females over the 2000–02 figures of 77.2 years for 

males and 81.9 years for females. 

 

Disability prevalence 

The most recent data on disability are from the disability survey undertaken in 2006. 

In 2006 an estimated 660,300 New Zealanders reported a disability, representing 

17 percent of the total population. This figure was significantly lower than the rates 

reported in the two previous surveys in 1996 and 2001 (20 percent). The apparent 

decline is evident across all age groups, but is more marked in the older age groups. 

Statistics NZ states that the apparent decline in the disability rate is likely to be due to a 

combination of factors relating to the way the 2006 survey was conducted and people’s 

perceptions of disability, as well as possible real-world change. Statistics NZ has 

advised caution when comparing the results of the 2006 disability survey with those 

from previous surveys. 

 

The 2006 survey found that an estimated 95,700 Māori living in New Zealand 

households (17 percent) were disabled and 16 percent of non-Māori were disabled. 

Adjusting for the different age structures of the two populations, the age-standardised 

disability rate for Māori was 19 percent and the disability rate for non-Māori was 

13 percent. 

 

The next disability survey will be carried out shortly after the 2013 Census. 
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Labour force participation is trending upwards 

Figure 12: Labour force participation rate 
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Source: Household Labour Force Survey, Statistics New Zealand 

 

The overall health of the population contributes to labour force participation – healthy 

people are more likely to be in work – but many other factors also have an impact on 

this measure, including the availability of jobs and the number of people in full time 

study. Labour force participation measures the proportion of adults who are either 

employed or available for employment. 

 

The most recent data available is from the March 2012 quarter. In that quarter, relative 

to the December 2011 quarter, the employment rate rose 0.3 percentage points to 

64.2 percent; the unemployment rate rose 0.3 percentage points, to 6.7 percent; and 

the labour force participation rate rose to its second-highest rate ever, 68.8 percent. 
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Labour force productivity is trending upwards 

Figure 13: New Zealand labour productivity 
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New Zealand labour productivity has been trending upwards over time. 

 

Intermediate outcomes 

The following Ministry of Health intermediate outcomes are identified in the 2011/12 

Statement of Intent: 

 a more unified and improved health and disability system 

 people receive better health and disability services 

 good health and independence are protected and promoted 

 the health and disability system and services are trusted and can be used with 

confidence. 

 

Progress against these intermediate outcomes is discussed below. 

 

A more unified and improved health and disability system 

Integration of services to better focus on the patient and greater regional collaboration 

by DHBs to enable consistent, integrated care and greater efficiencies, have been a 

particular focus during the year. Workforce development (see ‘Strengthening the health 

workforce on page 17), greater clinical engagement and the regionalisation of IT 

services also contribute to this intermediate outcome. 
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Establishment of integrated family health centres 

Integrated family health centres (IFHCs) provide a ‘one-stop shop’ for health services 

in a way that is more convenient and more accessible for patients and their families. 

IFHCs are designed around the needs of the patient, providing a range of primary care 

services in one location, and addressing the barriers to care. Services can include 

specialist clinics, facilities for minor surgery, walk-in nurse services, radiology, 

physiotherapy, laboratory services, dental clinics and pharmacies. These may be 

complemented by a range of community outreach services. 

 

The Ministry continues to support the development of IFHCs and integrated service 

delivery across eight DHBs. This equates to 28 specific sites in development, with 

resources allocated through Implementation Support Groups. These sites include new 

models of care and clinical pathways, along with greater integration of IT and clinical 

service delivery. Another 16 sites are in the planning stages. 

 

Stronger regional collaboration among DHBs, including regional planning 

and hospital networks 

DHBs have completed the first year of formal regional collaboration, which resulted 

from the passing of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Amendment Act 

2010. The 2011/12 year has seen regional governance arrangements reviewed, the 

establishment of regional clinical networks to strengthen identified vulnerable services, 

and a range of practical actions undertaken to better integrate services and the health 

system. 

 

The following are some examples of stronger regional collaboration. 

 

Northern region 

 The launch of the ‘First, Do No Harm’ website and regional adoption of the Global 

Trigger Tool to improve patient safety. 

 The development of clinical guidelines for diabetes in primary care, cardiovascular 

disease and lung cancer. 

 Diabetes nurse prescribing to provide proactive care for diabetes patients. 

 Consistent processes and approaches to capital planning being applied across the 

region. 

 

Midland region 

 Regional alignment of the implementation of the Maternity Quality and Safety 

Programme. 

 The Acute Coronary Syndrome (ACS) project on track to achieve the target of 

70 percent of patients admitted with acute coronary syndrome will go from ‘door to 

catheter laboratory’ within 72 hours. 
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 A specialist regional outreach model as a focus for renal services, including clinical 

pathways and regional capacity. 

 Mapping of rural communities and their access to GP services and specialist 

maternity services. 

 

Central region 

 Collaboration across Capital and Coast, Hutt Valley, and Wairarapa DHBs resulting 

in a reduction in ultrasound wait times for people in Wairarapa DHB and improved 

access to magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for Capital and Coast DHB patients (a 

joint workforce appointment and an innovative funding approach have been key 

enablers for success). 

 The launch of a Dementia Behavioural Support Advisory Service e-learning 

resource. 

 

South Island region 

 All South Island DHBs using standardised assessment criteria for access to health of 

older people services. 

 Using a common approach to restorative care through home-based support services. 

 A paediatric early warning observation chart for children aged 1–14 years 

implemented across paediatric hospital-based services. 

 $20 million of savings forecast at the end of the 2011/12 financial year, of which 

$13 million is direct procurement savings. 

 

In addition, Health Workforce New Zealand has strengthened regional collaboration 

through establishing regional training hubs and the appointment of regional training 

directors. DHBs, as regions, and in partnership with the National Health IT Board have 

also made significant progress in joining up information systems. This has been 

supported by the establishment of regional information systems leadership and 

governance, and the development of investment plans. Recent examples include the 

Midland Region ePharmacy and Central Region Information Systems Plan (CRISP) 

business cases. 

 

Information technology 

The National Health IT Plan aims to deliver information technology that is designed in 

cooperation with stakeholders (clinicians, consumers and health IT professionals) to 

support the delivery of person-centred integrated care. A National Information Clinical 

Leadership Group of over 35 clinicians and a panel of 20 consumers has been 

established to ensure their engagement in delivering national or regional solutions. The 

National Health IT Plan has clear accountabilities and has been accepted by the DHBs 

which are establishing regional leadership and governance, along with regional shared 

services organisations to progress regional IT platforms and investment with a focus on 

building strong IT capacity and capability. 
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The National Health Information Technology Board (NHITB) is building relationships 

with health executives, health IT suppliers and other key organisations to promote a 

partnership approach towards delivering the plan and achieving results. Among these 

groups are the Health IT Cluster, Health Quality and Safety Commission, and Patients 

First. 

 

The NHITB is encouraging a move from local investment to a national and regional 

approach and is developing a consolidated view of the demand for DHB IT investment 

to support prioritisation and investment decisions. It engages with groups such as the 

DHB CEO Information Group, Pharmac, Health Benefits Ltd and vendors to agree on 

work that is achievable, affordable and sustainable. 

eMedicines programme 

The eMedicines programme is introducing electronic systems to support the safe, 

effective and appropriate use of medicines. A universal list of Medicines and a New 

Zealand Medicines Formulary were launched during the year, and other eMedicines 

systems have been tested and are ready for further rollout. An assessment of DHB 

readiness shows widespread enthusiasm for eMedicines systems, as well as a need for 

prioritisation with other work and resources. 

 

Regional information platforms (DHBs) 

The regions are progressing towards regional IT governance and leadership. Regional 

IT investment plans are in development and a monitoring and reporting framework 

has been established by NHITB. Consistent standardised platforms support sharing 

clinical and business information to support service delivery and patient care. Regional 

systems implementation is under way, including the introduction of clinical 

workstations and clinical data repositories in some DHBs which mean patients’ test 

results and reports can be viewed in one place. Some emergency departments now have 

access to GP records and some GPs can access hospital information. 

 

National solutions 

One of the priorities for eHealth is to develop national solutions for services that are 

highly specialised but have relatively low volumes of patients, particularly where strong 

national clinical governance is already in evidence and where information needs to be 

available for clinicians wherever they are practising, and for patients wherever they are 

living. 

 

The Health Identity Programme is on track. A new Health Practitioner Index has been 

rolled out and testing of the new National Health Index has commenced. A national 

Maternity Information system has been selected, and work is under way to develop a 

system to integrate all major sources of cancer data to create a national view. InterRAI 

(the needs assessment framework for older people) has been implemented in all DHBs 

and is now available to rest homes. A cardiac system is also being implemented. 
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Integrated care initiatives 

Shared care is about providing tools to enable a more integrated form of health 

planning to happen more easily and effectively. Shared care for long term conditions is 

expanding in Auckland and the eShared Care Record View is live in Christchurch, 

allowing a more diverse clinical group to share clinical information and plan for better 

patient care closer to home. GP2GP is in use across the country with over 

1000 transfers last month. The NHITB is overseeing the uptake of eReferrals which has 

now been implemented in 13 DHBs, up from one DHB in 2010. Some GPs are triaging 

over the phone, and some patients are able to access health advice over the phone or 

view a summary of their GP information in online portals. 

 

Health Information Standards and the Health IT Sector Architects are making good 

progress with standards that support the sharing of information and systems 

interoperability. 

 

Health Improvement and Innovation Resource Centre 

The Health Improvement and Innovation Resource Centre (HIIRC) is a web-based 

platform for the health sector (see www.hiirc.org.nz), enabling ready access to 

information and resources from research projects and initiatives in key areas of health. 

Information on the site is arranged around the national health targets and the more 

general topics of primary care, quality improvement and hospital productivity. HIIRC 

is constructed using a set range of ‘building block’ templates which can be added to and 

rearranged over time as content grows and modifies. 

 

As well as the main site, HIIRC has the capacity to create any number of affiliated 

websites (‘microsites’) using the set templates. These can be open to the public or 

private sites with a log-in access. They are often used for short term projects or for 

clinical networks to have confidential discussions. 

 

Site use has been positive throughout 2011/12, with the number of registered users 

increasing monthly. The platform receives between 12,000 and 14,000 visits per month 

and has more than 6000 registered users. A fortnightly content digest goes out to 

approximately 3000 subscribers. 

 

People receive better health and disability services 

This intermediate outcome encompasses timely patient access to important services, 

improvements in frontline services and sustainable financial management. Particular 

areas of achievement in 2011/12 include faster cancer treatment, the maternity quality 

initiative and disability support services. 
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Faster cancer treatment 

During 2011/12 the Ministry commenced the faster cancer treatment project, which 

focuses on improving quality and timeliness of care. Faster cancer treatment is a 

patient pathway approach to cancer care covering diagnostic, surgical and non-surgical 

cancer treatment. Three new indicators have been finalised, which DHBs will report 

against from 1 July 2012. This is the first time there will be national reporting of wait 

times from urgent referral with suspected cancer to when a patient starts their first 

cancer treatment. 

 

The faster cancer treatment project also includes a number of quality improvement 

initiatives. The following are brief descriptions of three key initiatives under way. 

 Up to 40 new cancer nurse coordinator roles are being implemented with new 

funding from Budget 2012. These nurses will coordinate care and support for 

individual patients throughout the course of their cancer treatment. 

 Type-specific tumour standards are being developed based on best practice and a 

nationally consistent approach is being promoted to service provision for the 

tumour type. Eight expert clinical work groups will be developing type-specific 

tumour standards. Interim clinical chairs have been confirmed for all the tumour 

streams. 

 The coverage of multidisciplinary meetings is being increased. The Ministry has 

developed guidance on what constitutes a high-quality multidisciplinary meeting to 

support DHBs holding these meetings. 

 

Maternity Quality Initiative 

The Ministry made significant progress on the Maternity Quality Initiative in 2011/12. 

From December, the Ministry supported all DHBs to establish local Quality and Safety 

Programmes, using the national quality tools as a guide. The programme is now under 

way in all DHBs and is funded for four years. The Ministry has received and reviewed 

Maternity Quality and Safety Draft Strategic Plans for all DHBs and these will be 

implemented in 2012/13. 

 

The Ministry supported the launch of the programme through one national and 15 local 

and regional workshops around the country, run in partnership with the relevant 

professional colleges. The Ministry also published a range of national quality tools over 

the year, including: 

 New Zealand Maternity Standards 

 the revised tier one and tier two DHB maternity service specifications 

 Maternity Factsheet (the first publication of data from the recently rebuilt National 

Maternity Collection) 

 Guidelines for Consultation with Obstetric and Related Medical Services (referral 

guidelines) 

 the New Zealand Maternity Clinical Indicators 
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 the Maternity Consumer Survey – including a survey of bereaved women for the 

first time 

 Consensus Guidance on the Observation of Mother and Baby in the Immediate 

Postpartum Period. 

 

In June 2012, the Ministry established the National Maternity Monitoring Group 

(NMMG) as an independent group to provide advice to the Ministry, DHBs and 

colleges on priorities for national and local improvement. The group is made up of a 

wide range of sector experts representing the professional colleges, DHBs and other 

key stakeholders. The NMMG will hold its inaugural meeting in Auckland on 31 July 

2012. 

 

The Ministry has initiated a number of work streams to improve the scope and 

availability of high-quality maternity data and information. An 18-month project to 

completely rebuild the Ministry’s maternity datamart and develop the new National 

Maternity Collection was completed in August 2011. Work is now under way via two 

parallel projects to collect and integrate DHB funded primary maternity services data 

into the National Maternity Collection. Work on these two projects will continue during 

2012/13. Work on restarting the Annual Report on Maternity series (discontinued in 

2007 due to data issues) has been under way in 2011/12 and publication of that report 

is expected in the coming months. The Ministry is also developing a nationally 

consistent DHB Maternity Clinical Information System (MCIS) and supporting work 

on the Shared Maternity Record of Care. 

 

Disability support services 

New model for supporting disabled people 

The Ministry has taken significant steps towards transitioning to a disability support 

system that increases a disabled person’s choice, control and flexibility over the 

support they receive, and the lives they lead, through the implementation of the new 

model. The aspects of change have been co-developed with disabled people and their 

families and whānau, and are being demonstrated and evaluated in the Western and 

Eastern Bay of Plenty, Waikato and Auckland. 

 

Local area coordination was launched in the Western Bay of Plenty in August 2011 by 

the Minister of Health. Local area coordinators have set up community bases, built 

relationships with disabled people and their families and whānau and built networks 

with key people in the community who might refer disabled people to them, or be able 

to offer support to the disabled people they are working with. 

 

The number of disabled people and their families and whānau who are receiving 

individualised funding for greater control over managing their supports has increased 

significantly, with over 1376 people in the individualised funding scheme at 30 June 

2012. An enhanced version of individualised funding, which will be available to most 

people for most supports, and which includes principle-based flexible guidelines 

developed to govern what funding can be used for, will start to be demonstrated in 

Western and Eastern Bay of Plenty in 2012. 
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Providers have now been selected for a demonstration of ‘choice in community living’ 

in Waikato and Auckland which will provide alternatives to residential support 

services. 

 

The Ministry is strongly supportive of and focussed on the shared outcomes approach 

that the Chief Executives Group has proposed for the Disability Action Plan 

2012–2014. This approach is expected to speed up progress towards achieving 

substantially better outcomes for disabled people and their families, with agencies 

working together in a more joined up approach. 

 

Environmental support services 

The Ministry is actively working to manage significant short- and medium-term 

pressures on the National Disability Support Services appropriation. Preparation is 

currently under way for the introduction of a prioritisation tool to better target and 

allocate equipment and modification services, and continuing steps are being made to 

purchase them more cost-effectively. 

 

Disability support services provide either hearing aids, or a subsidy towards their 

purchase, to more than 15,000 hearing-impaired children and adults each year. 

Significant changes to the way the Ministry provides and purchases hearing aids were 

introduced in early 2011/12. These changes have had an extremely positive outcome, 

resulting in savings of $2.8 million in expenditure on hearing aids and a marked 

reduction in the waiting times for hearing aids for more than 700 adults with hearing 

loss. 

 

Disability action plans 

A Strategic Māori Disability Action Plan (Whaia Te Ao Marama) was developed in 

consultation with the Māori Leadership Group and subsequently approved by Cabinet 

in July 2012. Minister Turia officially launched the Plan in August 2012 and 

implementation is expected to commence during 2012. 

 

The Implementation of the Faiva Ora National Pasifika Disability Plan 2010–2013 is 

under way, including the development and delivery of Pasifika cultural training to 

upskill frontline staff. 

 

More disability workers have received training and development using the available 

disability workforce grants. 
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Sleepover Wages (Settlement) Act 2011 Implementation 

The Sleepover Wages (Settlement) Act 2011 was passed in October 2011 to enable the 

implementation of provider settlements for sleepovers. This followed the Court of 

Appeal’s decision in the ‘Sleepovers court case’ that sleepovers constituted work for the 

purposes of the Minimum Wage Act 1983, and that at least the minimum wage must be 

paid for every hour a person employed in residential disability care works. The 

Ministry has made good progress in establishing the documentation and 

communications processes to support this work, and is working closely with providers 

and unions. A large number of providers are expected to ratify their agreements early 

in the 2012/13 year. 

 

Paid family carers case in Court of Appeal 

Over the past 12 months the Ministry has been extensively engaged in supporting 

Crown Law’s appeal of the paid family carers case in the Court of Appeal and the 

subsequent decision not to appeal further. The Ministry is currently developing advice 

on payments to family carers for consideration by Cabinet. 

 

Good health and independence are protected and promoted 

Key projects to protect and promote good health have included the Rheumatic Fever 

Prevention Programme, free after-hours services for children under six, reducing 

tobacco-related harm, the bowel screening pilot and the Prime Minister’s Youth Mental 

Health Project. 

 

Rheumatic Fever Prevention Programme 

The development and implementation of the $24 million Rheumatic Fever Prevention 

Programme (RFPP) is a significant step in supporting improved child health in New 

Zealand and contributes to the Government’s key result of ‘A substantial reduction in 

rheumatic fever cases among children’. The programme aims to reduce rates of 

rheumatic fever through a series of interventions targeting vulnerable communities. 

The Ministry funds throat-swabbing services to identify and treat Group A 

streptococcal (GAS) throat infection before it develops into rheumatic fever. These 

services target children aged 5–14 years and eligible families/whānau in high-risk areas 

in Northland, South Auckland, Waikato, Bay of Plenty, Lakes District, Tairawhiti, 

Hawke’s Bay, and East Porirua. By 2016 around 35,000 eligible children will be 

covered by the programme. 

 

Additional interventions are being implemented to raise community awareness of the 

importance of having medical checks of sore throats, and to train health professionals 

to recognise and respond appropriately to the signs and symptoms of GAS throat 

infection and rheumatic fever. The Ministry is also undertaking rheumatic fever 

research and an evaluation of the RFPP is under way. 
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The RFPP is part of the Government’s Better Public Services programme. Government 

agencies are working together towards reducing the incidence of rheumatic fever by 

two-thirds to 1.4 cases per 100,000 people by June 2017. The Ministry will be working 

with DHBs to step up their interventions for all at-risk groups in their districts, and is 

engaging other government agencies to support their efforts to reduce the risk factors 

for rheumatic fever. 

 

Implementation of free after-hours services for under-sixes 

Very good progress has been made by DHBs towards preparing for the 1 July 2012 

implementation date of this initiative. Fourteen DHBs have achieved coverage of 

95 percent or greater within 60 minutes travel time. From 1 July 2012 approximately 

91 percent of children aged under six years will be able to access free after-hours 

primary care and as further contracts are finalised during July, coverage is expected to 

increase to 95 percent. 

 

Reducing tobacco-related harm 

The Ministry has made significant progress in its aims to reduce tobacco-related harm, 

with resulting declines in the number of smokers in New Zealand. New legislation and 

regulations were introduced during the year to build on this work. The Smoke-free 

Environments (Controls and Enforcement) Amendment Act 2011 came into force on 

23 July 2012. The main provisions contained in the Act are: 

 prohibiting the display of tobacco products by sellers – except to the extent 

necessary to deliver products to customers 

 the establishment of an infringement notice regime providing for a fixed fee to be 

paid for breaches of certain sections of the Act (including sales to people under the 

age of 18) 

 providing for the display of signs advising that tobacco is available for sale 

 prohibiting the display of smoking health warnings unless provided for in 

Regulations 

 allowing price lists to be provided to customers on request 

 ensuring the requirements apply to vending machines and internet sales as well as 

in shops 

 not allowing a retailer’s name to be displayed if it includes words suggestive of 

tobacco, (eg, Jarvis Discount Tobacco) 

 not allowing tobacco companies to pay for exclusive selling rights at events or 

arranging for any branding element to be displayed at any organised activity. 
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The Smoke-free Environments Amendment Regulations 2012, which prescribe 

allowable signage and associated health warnings and price lists, and set fees for the 

new infringement notice regime for a number of offences under the Smoke-free 

Environments Act 1990, were approved by the Cabinet Legislation Committee on 

28 June 2012. The majority of the Regulations came into force on 23 July 2012. The 

Regulations that prescribe the price list requirements will come into force on 

23 January 2013. 

 

The Customs and Excise (Tobacco Products) Amendment Bill had its first reading on 

25 May 2012 and was referred to the Finance and Expenditure Committee. The 

Ministry of Health is advising the Committee, together with Customs, Treasury and the 

Inland Revenue Department. 

 

Bowel screening pilot 

Bowel cancer is the second most common cancer in both men and women in New 

Zealand. A bowel screening pilot commenced in the Waitemata DHB region in October 

2011 for residents aged 50 to 74 who are eligible for publicly funded health care. People 

eligible to take part in the pilot are sent a free bowel screening test kit. The test can be 

completed at home, and the sample sent to a designated laboratory for testing. If blood 

is found in the sample, people are offered a diagnostic colonoscopy; if no blood is 

detected, people are invited to repeat the test in two years. 

 

The pilot is the first screening programme in New Zealand to utilise a population 

register for the identification of eligible participants. The pilot has also been developed 

to involve primary care across the screening pathway. 

 

Uptake to the end of February (provisional) was 52.8 percent. This result is pleasing 

given the early stage the pilot is at and it compares favourably internationally. The 

target uptake for the end of the pilot is 60 percent. 

 

As at 20 June 2012, the pilot has generated the following results: 

 12,086 samples analysed 

 709 positive results 

 420 colonoscopies performed 

 8 cancers detected 

 5 malignant polyps detected. 

 

In addition, the pilot is sending out more than 1400 test kits to eligible people every 

week, and receiving an average of 100 calls per day. 

 

The pilot is being independently evaluated which includes a cost-effectiveness study. 

The findings from the evaluation will provide essential information that will help 

determine whether a bowel screening programme is rolled out nationally. 
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The Prime Minister’s Youth Mental Health project 

On 4 April 2012 the Prime Minister announced a new priority cross-government Youth 

Mental Health project. The project comprises a suite of initiatives designed to improve 

services for young people aged 12 to 19 years with, or at risk of, mild to moderate 

mental health issues. The 22 initiatives have been designed to build on strengths in 

current service provision and address areas where there are gaps. The aim of the 

project is to achieve better mental health and wellbeing for young people. It 

particularly focuses on those vulnerable groups known to be at comparatively higher 

risk of mental health issues, such as young Māori and Pacific people. The various 

settings for the delivery of these initiatives include schools, family and communities, 

online and the health sector. Expected outcomes include, better mental health and 

wellbeing for young people, increased resilience, better access to information, earlier 

identification of mild to moderate mental health issues, improved access to support 

and treatment options, effective assessment and referral pathways and connected and 

informed young people. 

 

The project approach has been informed by the report from the Prime Minister’s Chief 

Science Advisor Sir Peter Gluckman’s Improving the Transition: Reducing social and 

psychological morbidity during adolescence (May 2011). Where possible, the 

initiatives are evidence based. However, as the research is limited in some areas, 

detailed programme monitoring and evaluations will be undertaken after two and four 

years to measure their effectiveness. 

 

The project will adopt a collaborative way of working, to remove barriers and better 

respond to the needs of young people. The key agencies involved are the Ministries of 

Health, Social Development, Education, Te Puni Kōkiri, the Department of Prime 

Minister and Cabinet (DPMC) and the Treasury. 

 

The Ministry of Health has played a major role in the early project design and 

development, and from July 2012, will take the role of lead agency. Implementation 

will include: 

 expanding the use of HEEADSSS8 Wellness checks in schools and primary care 

 implementing an internet based e-therapy for young people 

 ‘drop-in’ services and ‘Youth One Stop Shops’ 

 better access to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and youth 

Alcohol and Drug treatment services 

 improved follow-up care. 

 

 

8 HEEADSSS is a holistic screening assessment covering questions about Home, 

Education/Employment, Eating, Activities, Drugs, Sex, Suicidality and Safety. 
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Response to measles outbreak 

During 2011, a large measles outbreak occurred around the country. The 597 cases of 

measles (78.5 percent of them in the Auckland region) was the highest number since 

1997, and 101 people were hospitalised. 

 

DHBs and public health units managed the responses to these outbreaks locally. The 

Ministry provided support to the local response through a range of services including 

national coordination, analysis, reporting, clinical advice, international liaison, vaccine 

supply, uptake monitoring and some of the national communications. 

 

Increasing access to flu vaccine 

The 2012 subsidised influenza immunisation programme was extended to 31 August 

2012. Over 1 million doses of the flu vaccine were distributed to clinical practices. The 

Ministry consulted with primary care and pharmacy representatives to agree national 

guidelines for pharmacists administering immunisations during the 2012 influenza 

season. Approximately 80 pharmacists have been authorised to administer influenza 

immunisations in their pharmacies. 

 

B4 school checks 

The B4 school check aims to promote health and wellbeing in preschool children (four-

year-olds) and to identify behavioural, developmental or other health concerns that 

may adversely affect a child’s ability to learn in the school environment. Timely 

referrals are made to appropriate services when problems are identified. The B4 school 

check ensures that children start school able to participate to the best of their ability. 

More than just a physical health check, it covers a child’s ability to learn and 

communicate, their social development, and their family/whānau circumstances. 

 

DHBs achieved 79 percent coverage for B4 school checks for the 2011/12 year. This is 

an increase of 7 percent from last year, meaning that an additional 5606 children have 

been checked from last year, totalling 51,461 checks over the 2011/12 year. DHBs have 

also achieved 82 percent coverage for B4 school checks for children in areas of high 

deprivation. 

 

Oral health 

By 30 June 2012, DHBs had almost completed their implementation of the 

Government’s reinvestment programme in child and adolescent oral health services. Of 

the 135 new fixed-site community oral health clinics and 109 mobile dental units 

funded by the reinvestment programme, 117 fixed-site clinics are now in service, a 

further 14 fixed-site clinics are under construction, and 95 new mobile dental units 

have been delivered to DHBs. Additional frontline clinical staff have also been 

employed by DHBs to support the provision of modern four-handed dentistry practice. 

Upon full implementation, it is expected that the service will have 177 fixed-site 

community oral health clinics supported by a fleet of 143 mobile dental units. 
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The Ministry estimates about 38,300 more pre-school and primary school children and 

nearly 3000 more adolescents have accessed DHB-funded oral health services 

(compared to the previous year). DHB-funded oral health services have now reached 

63 percent of all pre-school children (under five years of age), nearly all primary school 

children, and 71 percent of all adolescents (under 18 years of age).9 

 

The Ministry also estimates that oral health outcomes for children have continued to 

improve (compared to the previous year), with 60 percent of five-year-olds having no 

history of decay in their primary teeth (up from 57 percent in 2010) and 54 percent of 

children at the end of their primary school years having no history of decay in their 

permanent teeth (up from 53 percent in 2010). Similarly, the severity of dental decay 

(ie, the average number of decayed, missing and filled teeth per child) has continued to 

reduce. 

 

During the year, the Ministry commissioned a nationally representative study into 

older people’s oral health issues, and several research projects into enablers and 

barriers for better self-care for at-risk populations. The results of these studies will 

become available in 2013/14. In addition, the Ministry has facilitated a sector-wide 

clinical network to support clinical leadership to ensure national consistency in the 

provision and coverage of publicly-funded oral health services. Twenty free oral health 

training workshops were also provided for caregivers of older people to improve the 

daily oral health care that dependent older people receive. These workshops will 

continue to be available for the aged-care sector for a further two years. A joint sector-

led and National Health IT initiative to implement a national electronic oral health 

system has been initiated and the Ministry expects that this will, in time, enable greater 

integration of services through reliable sharing of patient data between publicly funded 

oral health providers. 

 

Drinking-water 

Large water supplies (serving over 10,000 people) are required to comply with the 

drinking-water provisions of the Health Act 1956 by 1 June 2012. Provided the water 

supplier is taking all practicable steps to comply with the drinking-water standards or 

is implementing an approved risk management plan, the water supplier will be 

complying with the requirements of the Act (along with other less significant 

requirements such as record keeping, complaint investigation, source protection, etc). 

Based on the 2010/11 annual report, all large supplies were expected to be compliant by 

1 July 2012. Medium-sized water supplies are required to be compliant by 1 June 2013 

and, based on the same data, appear to be on track. As at 30 June 2011 (ie, with two 

years to go) there were 36 medium water suppliers, and their status was as follows. 

 

9 Based on provisional figures for the 2011 calendar year, which will be finalised in August 

2012. Oral health statistics for children and adolescents are monitored on a school-year basis 

(ie, calendar year). 
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 Ninety-four percent complied with bacteriological standards, 47 percent complied 

with protozoa standards and 92 percent complied with chemical standards. 

 Eight water suppliers were drafting their plans, seven suppliers had submitted their 

plans for approval, seven had their plans approved and 12 had started implementing 

their plans (only two had not yet started). 

 Twenty-three drinking water subsidy applications were received for the 2011/12 

funding round. Nineteen projects were approved, with a value of $9.7 million (out of 

an annual appropriation of $10 million). Successful completion of these projects will 

result in safer drinking-water for an estimated 20,208 people. The total value of 

drinking-water subsidies approved to date is $67 million (excluding GST) out of 

$117 million available for the duration of the programme. 

 

Border health protection 

The Ministry and DHB public health units have worked very closely with airport 

operators to ensure they have necessary capacities to detect and respond to potential 

public health threats. As a result of this work, all New Zealand international airports 

have now been designated as points of entry under the International Health 

Regulations 2005. 

 

Annual reviews of the airports and public health units will be undertaken by Health 

officials, to ensure these agencies continue to maintain the core capacities required 

under the Regulations. Maritime ports are also considered to meet the core capacities 

required, although formal assessments will not be undertaken until the completion of a 

pilot assessment which was requested by the Ports Group and port Chief Executives, 

and is being undertaken at the Port of Otago. Health officials have revised the training 

provided to border health protection staff to reflect the WHO’s technical advice on the 

training required for Ship Sanitation Certificate inspections. Public health units will be 

sending experienced staff to the pilot course and these staff will then mentor their 

colleagues to ensure ship sanitation inspection and certification meets international 

best practice. 

 

Hazardous substances 

Hazardous substances injury surveillance involves using datasets such as coronial data, 

New Zealand Health Information Service hospital admission data, calls to the National 

Poisons Centre, data from some DHB emergency departments and the national 

notifiable disease surveillance database. In 2011, there were 1342 hospital admissions 

due to exposures to hazardous substances. Of these, 62 percent of people were male. 

Over half of the poisoning-related hospitalisations were unintentional (52 percent), 

24 percent were intentional, and 24 percent were of undetermined intent. The four 

most common types of chemicals were solvents, hydrocarbons, corrosive substances 

and carbon monoxide. In 2011, Medical Officers of Health were notified of three cases 

of ‘chemical poisoning from the environment’ (the same number as in 2010) and three 

cases of toxic shellfish poisoning (compared with 9 in 2010). Medical Officers of Health 

were also notified of 230 cases of lead absorption (compared with 232 cases in 2010). 

During 2011/12, the Ministry was involved in: a voluntary recall of baby wipes; a survey 

of lipsticks and hair dyes; approving PCB (polychlorinated biphenyls) management 
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plans; assessing the public health risks of hazardous substances and consumer 

products; and providing advice on managing potential health risks from exposures to 

hazardous substances. 

 

Preventing and minimising gambling harm 

2011/12 was the second year of the implementation of the Preventing and Minimising 

Gambling Harm Service Plan. During 2010/11, over 6100 people sought help from the 

treatment services funded by the Ministry for problems due to their own or someone 

else’s gambling. Most of these people were in crisis. 

 

The face-to-face services assisted a total of over 12,000 people in the 2010/11. In 

addition the Gambling Helpline received around 165 calls per month from new clients. 

Service statistics typically report substantial improvements on measures of problem 

gambling, dollars lost and control over gambling, when clients are reassessed after 

treatment. 

 

Health literacy 

The Ministry has a health literacy work programme that aims to build understanding of 

health literacy; ensure that existing (and future) health programmes work for people 

with lower levels of health literacy; and raise the awareness of health literacy within, 

and strengthen the practice of, our health workforce. 

 

Activities in 2011/12 included research into health literacy and gout medication, the 

release of an online cultural competency tool with a health literacy module (for the 

health workforce) and an update on the Ministry of Health’s health education resource 

guidelines so that they provide more advice on making resources appropriate for 

people with different levels of health literacy. 

 

Green Prescription (GRx) 

The Green Prescription (GRx) initiative is a health professional’s written advice to a 

patient or their family to encourage and support them becoming more physically active 

as part of a total health plan. The initiative consists of two components: GRx (for 

adults) and the GRx Active Families programme which aims to increase physical 

activity for children, young people and their families. The GRx initiative was 

successfully devolved to DHBs on 1 July 2012. This will enable better coordination of 

initiatives at a local level, take funding of services closer to patients and fit with larger 

plans for better integration of health services. 

 

The new booklet, A Prescription for Good Health, published in June 2012, showcased 

the success stories of nine GRx patients who improved their health outcomes through 

GRx. The booklet also includes a strong endorsement of GRx from Sir Peter Snell. 
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Consensus statement on vitamin D and sun exposure 

The Ministry worked closely with the Cancer Society of New Zealand, and with the 

support of the Accident Compensation Commission, to develop a consensus statement 

on vitamin D and sun exposure. The consensus statement is evidence-based and was 

developed for use by health practitioners for the general population of New Zealand. It 

excludes pregnant women and young children, for whom separate advice is currently in 

preparation. Advice to inform the consensus statement and review of it were provided 

by a range of experts in bone health, nutrition and vitamin D and dermatology, as well 

as scientists, researchers, and those working on cancer and melanoma. It was launched 

with a joint media release in March 2012 and is available online. 

 

The consensus statement updates the 2008 position statement of the Cancer Society. 

The statement: 

 clarifies and ensures consistent messages on vitamin D and sun exposure 

 updates sun protection advice 

 identifies those most at risk of vitamin D deficiency 

 recommends treatment based on risk profile rather than blood test results 

 establishes new definitions of acceptable vitamin D levels in blood. 

 

Independent evaluation of the Food and Nutrition Guidelines series 

The Guidelines series is used by a wide range of health practitioners including 

nutritionists and dieticians, nurses, midwives, health promoters, midwives, doctors 

and pharmacists as well as those working in educational settings. 

 

An independent evaluation of the series was undertaken including a literature review, 

key informant/stakeholder interviews and an e-survey involving qualitative and 

quantitative data. While there were a number of suggestions for improvements, the 

Guidelines were described as authoritative standards for health practitioners; user 

friendly; responsible for improving the nutrition knowledge of health practitioners; 

increasing staff training in nutrition in PHOs and providing consistent nutrition 

messages. The evaluation stated that ‘the Guidelines are highly valued by the broad 

range of health practitioners who use them [and] are seen by many as essential to safe 

practice for all health practitioners who provide advice and education in nutrition’. 

 

Improving mental health data 

The Programme for the Integration of Mental Health Data (PRIMHD), is a Ministry of 

Health single, national mental health and addiction information collection recording 

service activity and outcomes data for health consumers. The data are collected from 

DHBs and non-governmental organisations (NGOs). All 20 DHBs report to PRIMHD. 

The number of NGOs reporting to PRIMHD has increased from 35 in 2009 to 238 

(90 percent of the planned 265 NGOs) in 2011/12. This level of NGO reporting creates 

a much more complete picture of services provided to mental health and addiction 

consumers. 
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PRIMHD data are used to report on the services being provided, who is providing the 

services, and the outcomes are being achieved for health consumers across New 

Zealand’s mental health and addictions sector. These reports enable better quality 

service planning and decision-making by mental health and addiction service 

providers, at the local, regional and national levels. 

 

Health and disability system and services are trusted and can be 

used with confidence 

Legislation and regulations underpin the health sector’s ability to deliver trusted 

services. 

 

Health Crown Entity Change Project 

The Health Crown Entity Change Project was agreed to by Cabinet in August 2011 as 

part of government’s ongoing programme to improve value for money, encourage 

innovation and provide high-quality service across the state sector. The project 

included the disestablishment of four Crown health entities – the Alcohol Advisory 

Council of New Zealand (ALAC), the Crown Health Financing Agency, the Health 

Sponsorship Council and the Mental Health Commission – and the establishment of 

the new Health Promotion Agency. The objective of the changes was to improve 

coordination, reduce fragmentation and ensure more effective and efficient delivery of 

services. 

 

The Health Crown Entity Change Project was successfully delivered, on time and on 

budget. The substantive part of the Project drew to a close on 30 June 2012, with the 

wind-up of the four entities. The new Health Promotion Agency, which takes over the 

work of ALAC and the Health Sponsorship Council (as well as the delivery of some 

Ministry health promotion programmes), began its work on 1 July 2012. 

 

Regulatory functions 

The Ministry is responsible for a range of core regulatory functions within the health 

system, including: 

 the New Zealand Medicines and Medical Devices Safety Authority (Medsafe), which 

is responsible for the regulation of therapeutic products 

 the Office of Radiation Safety, which is responsible for the regulation of ionising 

radiation 

 HealthCERT, which is responsible for ensuring hospitals, aged residential care 

providers (including rest homes), residential disability care providers and fertility 

service providers provide safe and reasonable levels of service for consumers 

 Medicines Control, which is responsible for the regulation of the local distribution 

chain of medicines and controlled drugs within New Zealand. 
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On 1 December 2011 the scientific aspects of the National Radiation Laboratory were 

sold to the Institute of Environmental Science and Research Limited (ESR). The 

Ministry retained the regulatory functions of the Office of Radiation Safety. ESR 

contracts with the Ministry to provide scientific advice and inspection services for 

ionising radiation. 

 

In addition, the Ministry carries out several key statutory functions related to health 

protection. This includes the roles of the Directors of Public Health and Mental Health, 

which both carry important leadership and decision-making responsibilities, including 

interpretation and administration of the relevant legislation. 

 

The Director of Mental Health is the chief statutory officer appointed under the Mental 

Health (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 1992. The Office of the Director 

oversees the activities of Directors of Area Mental Health Services, District Inspectors 

of mental health, and supports the Mental Health Review Tribunal. The Office also 

receives leave applications from mental health services for special patients and 

restricted patients, and makes recommendations to the Minister of Health regarding 

those applications. 

 

The Director of Intellectual Disability Compulsory Care and Rehabilitation oversees the 

administration of the Intellectual Disability (Compulsory Care and Rehabilitation) Act 

2003 which provides specialist forensic services for people with an intellectual 

disability who have committed criminal offences. 

 

Medsafe 

Medsafe is a business unit of the Ministry of Health and is the authority responsible for 

the regulation of therapeutic products in New Zealand. Medsafe’s mission is to improve 

the health of New Zealanders by regulating medicines and medical devices (eg, 

pacemakers, insulin pens) to maximise their safety and benefit to patients. Medsafe 

does this by evaluating and monitoring the quality, safety and efficacy of medicines and 

medical devices; and by providing advice to consumers and health professionals. 

 

A significant achievement for Medsafe this year has been the creation of a linked set of 

databases which hold all the information it requires to undertake lifecycle monitoring 

of the safety, quality and efficacy of a medicine or medical device. 

 

International health regulations 

New Zealand has met a key milestone for implementing the International Health 

Regulations (IHR) 2005. The IHR 2005 is a binding international agreement 

mandated by the WHO constitution. Under the IHR 2005, all 193 WHO member states 

were required to review, strengthen and maintain a range of specified ‘core capacities’. 

The capacities include surveillance systems (eg, to detect notifiable diseases), risk 

assessment, public health response and reporting requirements. These essential public 

health functional capabilities must be operational locally (in New Zealand, via DHB-

based public health units), nationally (via the Ministry’s Public Health Group) and at 

the border. After more than seven years of preparation, the deadline for these core 

capacities passed on 15 June 2012. 
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Although public health units are the frontline providers for most of the core capacities, 

because of the all-hazards scope of the IHR 2005, ensuring their ongoing 

implementation could only be achieved through sustained and active coordination with 

other agencies. In particular, this has required the Ministry to collaborate closely with 

the New Zealand Customs Service, Ministry of Transport, Ministry for Primary 

Industries (and its predecessors the New Zealand Food Safety Authority and Ministry 

of Agriculture and Forestry), the Ministry for the Environment (on policy for the 

management of hazardous substances), NZ Customs Service, Ministry of Foreign 

Affairs and Trade, airport and port operators and a number of others. 

 

The outcome of this cross-agency cooperation, and continued support to public health 

units, is that New Zealand is now better prepared than ever to protect the population 

from international disease threats and we were able to report to the WHO that we had 

met the global deadline for implementation of the core capacities. Many other 

countries had been unable to meet this deadline. 

 

Legislation 

Legislative work over the year has included: 

 resolution of claims for sleepover payments for carers, including negotiation of a 

settlement and the passage of legislation 

 passage of some key legislation including the Misuse of Drugs Amendment Act, the 

Smokefree (Controls and Enforcement) Amendment Act and the Social Security 

(Long Term, Residential Care – Asset Thresholds) Amendment Bill 

 working with the Crown Health Financing Agency and Crown Law on the settlement 

of most of the claims relating to historical abuse in psychiatric hospitals 

 supporting the implementation of new smoke-free enforcement procedures 

 obtaining high levels of compliance from our investigations into unregistered or 

unauthorised health practitioners 

 revocation of unnecessary and outdated regulations such as the Anthrax Prevention 

Regulations 

 participation in the Law Commission’s review of the Burial and Cremation Act 1964 

 cross-agency Budget 2012 work on asset threshold changes for aged residential care, 

which required a change to the Social Security Act 1964 to allow the asset threshold 

to be increased by the Consumer Price Index each year rather than by flat $10,000 

increments, and involved working with the Ministry of Social Development, 

Treasury and Crown Law. 
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Reducing harm from falls and pressure injuries 

The Office of the Chief Nurse and the DHB lead Directors of Nursing have worked with 

the sector to develop two quality outcome indicators for measuring harm from falls and 

pressure injuries. Falls and pressure injuries cause considerable harm to people 

receiving health care and they are costly. Some of that harm is preventable. These 

indicators will lay a foundation for the development of nationally consistent reporting 

and assist DHBs to evaluate the impact of their quality improvement activities in 

reducing the harm from falls and pressure injuries. 

 

New Zealand Health Survey 

The New Zealand Health Survey (NZHS) is an important data collection tool for 

monitoring the health of the population. The data collected is an invaluable source of 

evidence for health service planning, and policy and strategy development. The NZHS 

collects information on a wide range of topics covering health behaviours and risk 

factors, health conditions, health status and health service use. Data are collected face-

to-face via trained interviewers in the participants’ homes. Best-practice survey 

techniques are employed throughout the survey and numerous steps are taken to 

ensure that the data collected are as high-quality and robust as possible. 

 

In the past, the NZHS was repeated at regular intervals, but from April 2011, the NZHS 

and the various other surveys (including the Adult and Child Nutrition Surveys, 

Tobacco, Alcohol and Drug Use Surveys, Te Rau Hinengaro – the New Zealand Mental 

Health Survey, and the Oral Health Survey) were integrated into a single survey, which 

is now in continuous operation. 

 

The first year of operation as a continuous survey has now been successfully 

completed. The response rates are higher than those achieved in previous health 

surveys, indicating that the new survey is well received by the public. Over 80 percent 

of people invited to participate in the New Zealand Health Survey agreed to take part, 

with approximately 17,000 adults and children completing interviews. The key findings 

from the first year of the NZHS will be released in November 2012. 
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Impact measures 

Impact 1: The balance of services across the system meets patient 

needs and is affordable 

Measures – targets and 
benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: PHO enrolment 
rate continues to improve. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The 2010 
estimated rate for PHO 
enrolment was 96 percent. 
As at 31 December 2010 
4,223,166 people were 
registered with PHOs.  The 
estimated population of New 
Zealand at 31 December 
2010 was 4,393,500. 

The estimated PHO enrolment rate has remained relatively steady over the 
past few years, with an overall increase from 93.6 percent at 1 July 2006, 
to 95.9 percent at 1 July 2012. 

Table 2: PHO enrolment rate 

Year PHO enrolment rate 

2005/06 93.6% 

2006/07 93.7% 

2007/08 94.5% 

2008/09 95.7% 

2009/10 96.2% 

2010/11 96.1% 

2011/12 95.9% 

Source: Ministry of Health, Statistics NZ 

Measure: Progress report 
on Better, Sooner, More 
Convenient primary care. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In May 
2011, there were nine 
Better, Sooner, More 
Convenient business case 
health alliances. 

Better, Sooner, More Convenient has focused on providing better 
coordinated services closer to people’s homes. 

The initial phase of this work has focused on strengthening relationships 
across primary and secondary care settings, and establishing appropriate 
platforms for bringing together health managers and clinicians to undertake 
system-wide approaches to service planning. 

This is beginning to flow through into the way services are being delivered. 
Some patients can now access advice via a phone call to their general 
practice, reducing the need for face-to-face consultations. Alternatively, 
patients can interact with their GP electronically or via portals which 
contain their personal health information as well as providing access to 
more general health information. 

In many areas there is increased access to a range of diagnostic 
procedures and treatments in communities. For example, intravenous 
antibiotic treatments for cellulitis are now being delivered in community 
settings where previously they were administered only in hospital settings. 
This is reducing emergency department presentations and hospital 
admissions. In addition DHBs are providing more specialist clinics in 
communities, such as access to musculoskeletal and respiratory services, 
reducing the need for patients to travel to hospital. 

Measure: Rates of acute 
readmissions to hospital 
continue to decrease. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In the 
12 months to September 
2010, the national acute 
readmission rate was 
9.05 percent. 

The rate of acute readmission for the 2011 calendar year was 
9.17 percent, slightly higher than the previous year (9.05 percent). 
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Impact 2: Sector planning and service delivery are well coordinated 

across organisations 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Progress report 
on regional service plans. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The first 
regional plans were 
submitted for 2011/12. 

The first regional service plans have been received and endorsed by the 
Minister. DHB regions have made good progress in achieving the agreed 
actions set out in regional service plans. 

Progress reports are provided to the Ministry as part of quarterly DHB 
performance reporting. 

Measure: Progress report 
on the coordinated strategic 
work programme. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The chairs 
of health sector agencies 
meet regularly, and 
continuing work will be 
reported. 

The Health Sector Forum met seven times over the course of the year, to 
discuss matters of strategic importance to the health and disability sector. 
The Forum is chaired by the Director-General of Health and comprises the 
governance and management leads of the Capital Investment Committee, 
DHBs, Health Benefits Ltd, the Health Quality and Safety Commission, 
Health Workforce New Zealand, the National Health Board, the National 
Health Committee, the National Health IT Board and Pharmac. 

Items discussed by the Forum included: practical service integration 
innovations; determining key project interdependencies; various elements 
of the primary care sector (eg, GPs, pharmacy); leadership and talent 
management; and aligning members’ Statements of Intent and Business 
Plans with strategic priorities. Work was also undertaken with Forum 
members to determine their goals for the Forum, and improvements have 
been made to Forum meetings as a result of this. 

 

Impact 3: The system is supported by suitable infrastructure and 

workforce 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: The number of 
clinicians involved in the 
voluntary bonding scheme is 
in line with plan. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: 
1395 graduates have been 
confirmed for the scheme: 

 893 in 2009 (from 
2005−2008 graduates) 

 502 in 2010 (from 2009 
graduates). 

We expect around 420–470 clinicians to be involved each year. The total 
for 2012 is 510. 

The numbers below are the total number of registration of interest forms 
received, by profession, during the registration period for each of the 
respective intake years. These may be different to the total number 
confirmed on the scheme. 

Table 3: Numbers of clinicians involved in the voluntary 

bonding scheme 

 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total2 

Doctors 114 64 41 43 262 

Midwives 91 46 39 42 218 

Nurses 657 392 349 411 1809 

Medical physicists1    1 1 

Radiation therapists1    13 13 

Total 862 502 429 510 2309 

1. Introduced in 2012. 

2. Combined registrations of interest received from 2009 to 2012. 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: The number of 
post-entry clinical trainees 
trained is in line with 
planning. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: About 
5700 trainee places are 
planned for 2010/11.  
Please note that training 
numbers may be affected by 
the Canterbury earthquake 
as Christchurch is a major 
training centre. 

This is in line with planning. The number of post-entry clinical trainees 
trained in 2011/12 was 5777, compared with 5690 in 2010/11. 

Measure: Progress report 
on the establishment of the 
Capital Investment 
Committee (CIC). 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The CIC 
was reconstituted in 2010. 

The Capital Investment Committee (CIC) has been established and met 
regularly during the 2011/12 year. The CIC’s main focus was the 
Canterbury earthquake recovery and the Canterbury facility 
redevelopment. Advice was provided to Ministers to fast-track short-term 
replacement facilities for Canterbury (an outpatient centre) and to upgrade 
and expand the Acute Medical Assessment Unit. Advice went to Cabinet 
to progress the Canterbury facilities redevelopment to an indicative 
business case. 

In addition to supporting Canterbury, the CIC has reviewed strategic 
assessments from Hawke’s Bay DHB, Waitemata DHB and West Coast 
DHB and approved each of these moving onto the next business case 
stage. The CIC has commenced working with Counties Manukau DHB on 
a major redevelopment and so far has reviewed preliminary material for 
their strategic approach to the development. 

The CIC has also overseen the development of a quarterly report on 
DHBs’ seismic issues and the annual update to the National Asset 
Management Plan. 

Measure: Progress report 
on the work of the National 
Health Information 
Technology Board (NHIT). 

Targets and 

benchmarking: NHIT 
reconstituted in 2010. 

The National Health Information Technology Board published the National 
Health IT Plan in September 2010 and agreed on four priority programmes 
for 2011/12: eMedicines Programme; Regional Information Platforms 
(DHBs); National Solutions; and Integrated Care Initiatives. Progress is 
being made in all of these programmes. 

The Board promotes clinical leadership and engagement with consumers, 
health executives, suppliers and other key organisations to support the 
delivery of the plan. Among these groups are: the National Information 
Clinical Leadership Group; the Consumer Panel and the Health IT Cluster; 
the DHB CEO Information Group and Patients First. 

The Board is encouraging a move from local investment to a national and 
regional approach and is engaging with groups such as PHARMAC, DHBs 
and Health Benefits Ltd to align priorities and agree on work that is 
achievable, affordable and sustainable. 

In support of the National Health IT Plan DHBs are establishing regional 
leadership and governance, along with regional shared services 
organisations to progress regional IT platforms and investment. 
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Impact 4: Clinicians and service users are involved in deciding the 

future 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Progress update 
on efforts to strengthen 
clinical leadership. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: HWNZ is 
supporting the 
establishment of an Institute 
of Health Leadership. 

Work was undertaken by the University of Auckland to develop a business 
case for the establishment of a New Zealand Centre of Excellence in 
Health Care Leadership. The concept of the centre was based on the 
need to improve leadership at all levels and better align the various 
leadership development activities that are occurring across the sector. As 
a result of feedback from DHBs, and in recognition of the new structures 
and processes that have been put in place in the last year (ie, regional 
training hubs and stronger requirements around career planning 
processes), it has been decided that a Leadership Academy will be 
established. The Leadership Academy will draw on the University of 
Auckland’s business case recommendations and the work already in place 
through DHB competency-based programmes. 

Measure: Increased usage 
of the Health Improvement 
and Innovation Resource 
Centre (HIIRC) website. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The 
2011/12 Statement of Intent 
estimated that for 2010/11, 
there was an average of 
3500 visits to the HIIRC 
website each month. The 
actual figures for 2010/11 
show that there was an 
average of 4659 visits to the 
HIIRC site each month. 
These figures do not include 
visits to other sites on the 
HIIRC platform. 

In 2011/12, there were 6871 visits, on average, each month to the Health 
Improvement and Innovation Resource Centre (HIIRC) website 
(www.hiirc.org.nz). The site is part of a wider platform that includes nine 
public websites affiliated to the main site (such as Disability Services, 
Primary Mental Health and the National Dementia Cooperative) and 
40 member-only sites. The HIIRC platform received an average of 14,600 
visits per month during 2011/12 compared with 11,177 in 2010/11. 

The platform has more than 6000 registered users. A fortnightly content 
digest goes out to approximately 2500 subscribers. In February 2012 the 
Health Quality and Safety Commission (HQSC) developed its own website 
and the HQSC microsite was decommissioned. This caused a drop of 
between 3000 and 4000 in visitors to the HIIRC platform in the months 
following. 

The upward trend in visitors has been driven by having a dedicated project 
manager and communications support, along with new branding. In May 
2012 a new layout was introduced to the platform which led to a significant 
increase in the numbers of visits to the main site. 
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Impact 5: Efficiency and financial sustainability of service providers 

are enhanced 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Reduced DHB 
forecast deficits. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: Over the 
last three years, DHB sector 
financial performance has 
tracked as follows: 2008/09 
year, $154.8 million deficit 
(actual audited result); 
2009/10 year, $101.9 million 
deficit (actual audited 
result); 2010/11 year 
$76.5 million planned deficit 
(actual performance 
tracking to plan as at March 
2011 result). 

The Ministry has worked intensively with DHBs to reduce budget deficits, 
with the result that DHB deficits for 2010/11 and 2011/12 have been 
significantly lower than in the two preceding years. The actual audited 
result for 2011/12 is $22.1 million against a planned deficit of 
$55.0 million. 

Figure 14: DHB net results 
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* To be audited. 

Measure: Moderate the rate 
of funding growth. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In the 
short- to medium-term this 
is expected to remain at or 
below 5.7 percent per year. 

The growth in Vote Health operational funding has decreased over the 
past five years, from 7.3 percent in 2007/08 to 3.2 percent in 2011/12. 

Figure 15: Vote Health operational funding 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Labour 
productivity (outputs per full 
time equivalent, as reported 
in the Annual Report on the 
State of Public Health) will 
at least maintain the level of 
the previous period. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: Labour 
productivity has not 
changed between 2006/07 
and 2007/08. 

The Ministry of Health measures doctor and nurse labour productivity on 
DHB-provided medical and surgical health service activity. This subset of 
health service activity covers approximately 70 percent of total DHB 
provider arm personal health services, and 56 percent of total DHB 
provider arm health service activity. Doctor and nurse labour costs 
account for 65 percent of total employed and outsourced DHB provider 
arm labour costs, and 44 percent of total DHB provider arm operating 
expenses for the year ending June 2011. 

Figure 16: Labour productivity in hospitals 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

Medical and surgical outputs

Doctor and nurse labour inputs (FTEs)

Productivity (outputs per FTE)

 
Indexed in 2003/04 =100. 

Analysis of labour productivity shows a 7 percent decline from 2003/04 to 
2009/10, equivalent to an average annual decline of 1.2 percent, followed 
by a slight (0.7 percent) increase between 2009/10 and 2010/11. Labour 
productivity change is likely to be significantly affected by the 
Government’s priority to increase the number of doctors and nurses in the 
New Zealand health system in order to respond to increasing demand for 
services and improve access to and the quality of publicly funded health 
services. Also, changes in labour productivity, average length of stay and 
rate of day case surgical procedures all point to changes in DHB provider 
arm models of care and resource use, and are indicative of productivity 
gains. 

Between 2001 and 2010: 

 the average length of stay decreased at a rate of 0.9 percent per 
annum 

 the average rate of DHB-provided day-case surgical procedures 
increased from 53 to 57 percent. 

Beyond the DHB provider arm measures, understanding sector-wide 
productivity improvement and its relationship to the quality of services 
remains complex. System productivity is affected by wider choices about 
resource allocation, how services are configured, the models of care used, 
the training and distribution of the workforce, and investment in quality 
improvement (eg, to reduce waste). Extending our metrics to the broadest 
possible range of activity funded from Vote Health is one of the Ministry’s 
priorities. 

Note that measuring productivity is complex and any measure treated with 
a degree of caution. 
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Impact 6: Quality of care delivered by service providers is improved 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Amenable 
mortality rates continue to 
decrease. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: A 
downward trend over time is 
desirable. The male 2006 
rate was: 132.3 The female 
2006 rate was 75.5. This 
data will be updated 
following the next census. 

Amenable mortality rates are showing a downward trend over time. 
However the difference between Māori and non-Māori rates remains high. 
For 2009, the amenable mortality rate for Māori men was 3.123 per 1000 
population, compared with 1.206 for non-Māori men. For Māori women, 
the rate was 2.092 per 1000 population compared with 0.699 for non-
Māori. 

Figure 17: Amenable mortality rate per 1000 population, 

Māori and non-Māori, 2001–2009 
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Source: Ministry of Health. 2010. Saving Lives: Amenable Mortality in New 
Zealand 1996–2006. 

Measure: Shorter stays in 
emergency departments. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: 95 percent. 
The result for the quarter 
ending in December 2010 
was 88 percent, an 
improvement from 
84 percent for the quarter 
ending December 2009. 

See health targets section on pages 22–30. 

Measure: Improved access 
to elective surgery. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: 
100 percent of all planned 
volumes. The result for the 
quarter ending in December 
2010 was 101 percent, 
compared to 103 percent for 
the quarter ending 
December 2009. 

See health targets section on pages 22–30. 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Shorter waits for 
cancer treatment. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: 
100 percent of patients seen 
in four weeks. The result for 
the quarter ending in 
December 2010 was 
100 percent of patients seen 
in six weeks, an 
improvement from 
97 percent for the quarter 
ending in December 2009. 

See health targets section on pages 22–30. 

Measure: Improved 
immunisation. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: 95 percent. 
The result for the quarter 
ending in December 2010 
was 88 percent, an 
improvement from 
83 percent for the quarter 
ending in December 2009. 

See health targets section on pages 22–30. 

Measure: Better help for 
smokers to quit. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: 95 percent. 
The rate for the quarter 
ending in December 2010 
was 70 percent, an 
improvement from 
25 percent for the quarter 
ending in December 2009. 

See health targets section on pages 22–30. 

Measure: Better diabetes 
and cardiovascular services. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The target 
was an improvement from 
baseline. The rate for the 
quarter ending in December 
2010 was 73 percent, an 
improvement from 
70 percent in March 2010 
(recalculated using updated 
diabetes prevalence 
figures). 

See health targets section on pages 22–30. 

A new health target for cardiovascular and diabetes services came into 
effect on 1 January 2012. The new target is that 90 percent of the eligible 
population will have had their cardiovascular risk assessed in the last five 
years, to be achieved in stages by 1 July 2014. The first stage is to 
achieve 60 percent by July 2012, then 75 percent by July 2012. 

The eligible population comprises those who are at greater risk of 
cardiovascular disease and diabetes. It includes: 

 Māori, Pacific and South Asian males aged 35–74 years 

 Māori, Pacific and South Asian females and all other ethnic group 
males aged 45–74 years 

 all other ethnic group females aged 55–74 years. 

The new target was introduced to set a clearer goal for DHBs and the 
primary sector to work together to support best practice in the detection 
and management of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. The new health 
target is a single measure – the number of completed cardiovascular risk 
assessments for all eligible persons within the last five years. This 
includes a test for diabetes. 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Improved 
reporting of serious and 
sentinel events. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In 2009/10 
DHBs reported that 
318 people were involved in 
a serious or sentinel event 
that was preventable 
(excluding outpatient 
suicides). 

Reporting of serious and sentinel events has improved. This improvement 
resulted in a total of 377 serious and sentinel events (excluding outpatient 
suicides) being reported in New Zealand’s public hospitals in 2010/11, 
compared with 318 reported by DHBs in 2009/10. 

A serious event in hospital care is one that has led to significant additional 
treatment; a sentinel event is life-threatening or has led to an unexpected 
death or major loss of function. The most common type of event is falling 
while in hospital (52 percent of all serious and sentinel events in 2010/11). 
Of the 377 events reported, 86 patients died, although not necessarily as 
a result of the adverse event that occurred. 

Work under way or planned, in order to improve the reporting of serious 
and sentinel events, includes engaging with DHBs to develop consistent 
reporting, a national reportable events policy and education and training to 
support serious incident review and open disclosure. 

More than 2.7 million people are treated in public hospitals or as 
outpatients each year, and serious harm to patients is rare. The Health 
Quality and Safety Commission is focusing on a number of projects to 
reduce preventable harm, including fall prevention, improved medication 
safety, reducing infections associated with health care and implementing 
the WHO Safe Surgery Checklist. 

Figures and further information for 2011/12 will be available in the Health 
Quality and Safety Commission’s 2011/12 Serious and Sentinel Events 
Report, due to be published in November 2012. 

The graph below shows how the number of serious and sentinel events 
reported has increased each year since reporting started in 2006/07. As 
noted above, the increase is thought to be due to improving reporting 
processes, rather than an increase in events per se. 

Figure 18: Number of serious and sentinel events, 

2006/07–2010/11 
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Source: Health Quality and Safety Commission 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Kiwis Count 
survey – the overall service 
quality score in the health 
group continues to improve. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In 2009 the 
overall service quality score 
for the health group was 69, 
up from 68 in 2007. 

The Ministry’s overall service quality score increased to 72 (as at June 
2012) from 69 in 2009. 

Table 4: Service quality scores 

Service Service quality scores 

 2007 2009 2012* 

Received outpatient services from 
a public hospital 

69 68 72 

Stayed in a public hospital 68 71 74 

Obtained family services or 
counselling 

68 65 65 

Used an 0800 number for health 
information 

67 70 70 

Overall 68 69 72 

 indicates a statistically significant increase. 

* As at 30 June 2012 

Source: State Services Commission. Kiwis Count 2012: New Zealanders’ 

satisfaction with public services. 
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Impact 7: Public has access to services that maintain good health and 

independence 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Infant mortality 
rates continue to decrease. 

Infant death rates have been declining over time, although there was a 
slight rise between 2008 and 2009. The data for 2009 is the most recently 
available for infant mortality. Work on the 2010 data will begin when the 
mortality data for 2010 is sufficiently complete later in 2012. The delay is 
because infant deaths are a subset of the overall mortality dataset which 
includes cause of death for every death in New Zealand. Cause-of-death 
information can take a long time to become available because a 
proportion of deaths are referred to coroners and have lengthy 
investigation times before cause is known. A further complicating factor for 
determining the final number of infant deaths is that investigations can be 
required to determine whether a perinatal death is a foetal death (still 
birth) or an infant death, affecting the final numbers of each. Mortality rates 
are higher for Māori and Pacific infants, although rates for Māori infants 
have declined significantly over time. 

Figure 19: Infant mortality rate per 1000 births, 

1996–2009 
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Source: Ministry of Health 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Progress report 
on the initial stages of the 
bowel cancer screening pilot 
(new measure). 

A bowel screening pilot commenced in the Waitemata DHB region in 
October 2011 for residents aged 50–74 who are eligible for publicly funded 
health care. People eligible to take part in the pilot are sent a free bowel-
screening test kit. The test can be completed at home and the sample 
sent to a designated laboratory for testing. If blood is found in the sample, 
people are offered a diagnostic colonoscopy; if no blood is detected, 
people are invited to repeat the test in two years. 

The pilot is the first screening programme in New Zealand to utilise a 
population register for the identification of eligible participants. The pilot 
has also been developed to involve primary care across the screening 
pathway. Uptake to the end of February (provisional) is 52.8 percent. This 
result is pleasing given the early stage of the pilot and it compares 
favourably internationally. The target uptake by the end of the pilot is 
60 percent. 

As at 20 June 2012, the pilot has generated the following results: 

 12,086 samples analysed 

 709 positive results 

 420 colonoscopies performed 

 eight cancers detected 

 five malignant polyps detected. 

In addition, the pilot is sending out more than 1400 test kits to eligible 
people every week, and receiving an average of 100 calls per day. 

The pilot is being independently evaluated which includes a cost-
effectiveness study. The findings from the evaluation will provide essential 
information that will help determine whether a bowel-screening 
programme should be rolled out nationally. 

Measure: The number of 
women receiving breast 
screening is maintained. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: A total of 
225,000 women screened 
per annum through non-
departmental expenditure 
administered by the 
Ministry. 

The number of women receiving breast screening is increasing over time. 
Figures for the past three years are shown below. 

Table 5: Numbers of women receiving breast screening 

Year 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Number 213,911 226,299 236,145 

Coverage by ethnicity for the 24 months to April 2012 show that 
62 percent of Māori women aged 45–69 and 69 percent of Pacific women 
aged 45–69 had received breast screening, compared with 72 percent for 
other ethnic groups. 

Data from the National Cervical Screening programme show that, for 
women aged 25–69, 58 percent of Māori women, 62 percent of Pacific 
women, 56 percent of Asian women and 82 percent of women from other 
ethnic groups had received cervical screening. 

Measure: The number of 
people receiving disability 
support services is 
maintained. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: It is 
estimated that 29,000 
people will receive disability 
support services in 2010/11 
through non-departmental 
expenditure administered by 
the Ministry. 

There has been a slight increase over the past three years in the number 
of people who receive disability support services. 

Table 6: Numbers of people who receive disability support 

services 

Year 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Number 29,445 29,685 30,352 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: The percentage 
of births funded through the 
Section 88 Primary 
Maternity Notice is 
maintained at, or is higher 
than, current levels. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In the 
2010/11 SOI, it was 
estimated that in 2010/11 
73 percent of women giving 
birth during that year would 
receive primary maternity 
services through the section 
88 Primary Maternity Notice. 
The actual figure for 
2010/11 was 75 percent. 

The Section 88 Primary Maternity Services Notice 2007 involves 
enhanced quality requirements for maternity services. 

The Ministry estimates that, in 2011/12, 75.9 percent of births (46,183 of 
60,860 live births) were funded through the Notice. The estimate is based 
on actual figures to March 2012. There has been an overall increase in the 
percentage of births funded through the Notice over time. 

Table 7: Labour and birth claims under the Primary 

Maternity Services Notice 2007 

Labour 
Year 

and birth claims 
2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Live births 64,140 62,960 64,120 62,660 60,860* 

Labour and birth claims 
under the Notice 

46,824 46,195 46,076 47,008 46,183 

Percentage of births 
funded under the Notice 

73 73.4% 71.9% 75% 75.9% 

* Estimate based on births in year to March 2012. 

 

Impact 8: Environmental and disease hazards are minimised 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: The percentage 
of the New Zealand 
population accessing safe 
drinking-water increases. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: E. coli 
compliance: the percentage 
of the New Zealand 
population served by 
registered reticulated 
drinking-water supplies 
known to comply with the 
distribution zone E. coli 
requirements of the 
Drinking-Water Standards 
for New Zealand is 
83 percent. 

This is an improvement of 
3 percent since 2006/07. 

The Annual Report on Drinking-Water in New Zealand 2010/11 shows that 
compliance with all drinking-water standards has increased by 2 percent 
to 78 percent in population terms during 2010/11 (up from 76 percent 
reported in 2009/10). Approximately 97 percent of New Zealanders on 
reticulated water supplies have bacteriologically-compliant drinking-water 
(compared with 96 percent reported in 2009/10). 

Source: Annual Review of Drinking-Water Quality In New Zealand. 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Environmental 
health indicators for New 
Zealand continue to 
improve. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In 2007, 
23 of the 40 monitored 
airsheds in New Zealand 
exceeded the national 
environmental standard for 
air quality for small 
particulate matter (PM10). 

In July 2012 the Ministry for the Environment advised that generally there 
is an improvement in air quality. The three airsheds that exceeded the 
PM10 standard most in 2011 were Otago (61 exceedences), Christchurch 
(34) and Timaru (29). Christchurch’s exceedences are much higher than in 
the previous three years and this has been attributed to the Canterbury 
earthquakes and the dust from earthquake silt, etc. 

Source: Ministry of Health. 2009. Environmental Health Indicators for New 
Zealand 2008. 

Measure: Notifiable 
diseases reported through 
the National Notifiable 
Disease Database (EpiSurv) 
continue to decrease. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In 2009, 
19,856 cases of notifiable 
diseases were reported 
through EpiSurv. 

Refer to the increased 
immunisation indicator 
under Intermediate 
Outcome 2. 

In 2010, 17,294 cases of notifiable diseases were reported through 
EpiSurv. In 2011, 16,294 cases were reported. 

Source: Public Health Surveillance Report, Institute of Environmental 
Science and Research. 

The number of notifiable diseases fluctuates over time (see Figure 20 
below) and is influenced by many factors outside of the Ministry’s control, 
including disease outbreaks (eg, of measles or whooping cough), food 
handling practices and the incidence of giardia in rivers and streams. 
While overall numbers have shown a decrease over the past two years, 
the Ministry cannot be confident that this trend will continue. Different 
measures will be used for 2012/13. 

Figure 20: Number of notifiable diseases by calendar year, 

1997–2011 
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Source: Notifiable and other diseases in New Zealand – 2011 annual 
surveillance report. 

The dip in 2008 reflects a significant decrease in reported cases of 
campylobacteriosis that year. 
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Impact 9: Public are supported to manage their health 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: The proportion of 
Year 10 students identifying 
as ‘never smoked’ continues 
to increase. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: Overall, the 
proportion of New Zealand 
14 and 15 year olds who 
reported they smoked daily 
in 2009 was 5.6 percent. 

The Year 10 ASH Snapshot Survey has been used to monitor student 
smoking since 1999. This is the largest survey of youth smoking in New 
Zealand and samples around half of all Year 10 students. 

In 2011 70.4 percent of Year 10 students had never been smokers. This is 
an increase from 64.3 percent in 2010. In 2011, 4.1 percent of all Year 10 
students were daily smokers, a drop from 5.5 percent in 2010. This is the 
biggest year on year decline in youth daily smoking since 2003 to 2004. A 
total of 8.2 percent of students were regular smokers (daily, weekly or 
monthly) in 2011, a drop from 10.0 percent in 2010. 

Increased taxation on tobacco, increased access to cessation services 
and support, and continued health promotion and social marketing 
targeting young people and their parents/caregivers are thought to be 
behind this significant decrease. Higher tobacco prices and improved 
access to cessation support also reduce the role modelling of smoking 
behaviour. In 2010, eight out of ten students said that people did not 
smoke inside their home. 

While Māori and Pacific Year 10 students were less likely overall to have 
never smoked, in both groups the proportion of non-smokers has 
increased significantly. In 1999 only 17 percent of Year 10 Māori students 
had never smoked, but by 2011, this had increased to 46 percent. Of 
Pacific students, the proportion who had never smoked rose from 
34 percent in 1999 to 61 percent in 2011. Asian students are much more 
likely to have never smoked (62 percent in 1999, rising to 88 percent in 
2011). Of NZ European/Pakeha students, the proportion who had never 
smoked rose from 31 percent in 1999 to 77 percent in 2011. 

Figure 21: Year 10 students who have never smoked 
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Source: National Year 10 ASH Snapshot Survey: Trends in tobacco use 
by students aged 14–15 years. 
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Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Progress report 
on Whānau Ora. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: The 
Ministry of Health will work 
with Te Puni Kōkiri (the lead 
government agency) and 
the Ministry of Social 
Development to implement 
Government decisions on 
Whānau Ora over the 
coming years. 

Whānau Ora is a key cross-government approach to providing family-
centred health, education and social services. There are 34 Whānau Ora 
collectives across the country, comprising more than 180 providers. 

Throughout 2011/12 the Ministry continued to work with Te Puni Kōkiri and 
the Ministry of Social Development to implement Government decisions 
regarding Whānau Ora and participated in the Whānau Ora Governance 
Group. The Ministry has also continued to work with DHBs to ensure they 
are well informed on progress around Whānau Ora and are able to 
support the Whānau Ora collectives in their districts. 

Following are some notable milestones in this work. 

 With DHBs, the Programmes of Action submitted by 26 Whānau Ora 
provider collectives were assessed, along with 18 business cases. 

 Eight new collectives’ programmes of development were reviewed and 
supported. 

 An Information Systems Strategic Plan (ISSP) was developed as part 
of the transformation process for Whānau Ora collectives to describe 
common information technology infrastructure and data requirements 
to support implementation of whānau-centred service delivery. At the 
Whānau Ora Governance Group meeting in May 2012 the Ministry was 
confirmed as the lead agency for the ISSP work stream. The Ministry 
has been working with 26 collectives to develop and refine their ISSP 
for submission, and has received 15 ISSPs for assessment. 

 Eight Whānau Ora provider collectives have finalised new integrated 
contracts, which are due to start from 1 July 2012. This brings the total 
number of outcomes-focused integrated contracts signed so far by 
Whānau Ora providers to 23. Funding agencies involved in supporting 
these contracts include: the Ministry of Health; DHBs; Child, Youth and 
Family; Te Puni Kōkiri; the Ministry of Youth Development; the Ministry 
of Justice and the Department of Corrections. 
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Impact 10: Sector regulation is improved and compliance is high 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Progress report 
on the implementation of 
modernised legislation and 
regulation. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In the 
short- to medium-term this 
is likely to include work 
relating to the Radiation 
Safety Bill. 

Radiation Safety Bill: Following extended liaison with the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade, and in close collaboration with Health Legal 
and Provider Regulation, revised and consolidated drafting instructions for 
the Radiation Safety Bill were forwarded to the Parliamentary Counsel 
Office (PCO) on 1 May 2012. A subsequent request for information from 
PCO (on international inspectors) was responded to on 12 June 2012. 
This Bill will update New Zealand’s nearly 50-year-old legislative 
framework for radiation safety and contribute to compliance with 
international treaties. 

Anthrax Regulations: The Anthrax Regulations Revocation Order was 
gazetted on 6 October 2011, with effect from 3 November 2011. Revoking 
these regulations removed redundant legislation and reduced minor but 
unnecessary compliance costs for importers. 

New health district: The new Tamaki Makaurau–Auckland Health District 
was gazetted on 12 April 2012, with effect from 30 April 2012. This new 
district was required by law (to align health district boundaries with 
changes to local government boundaries). 

Health Act Schedules: A Cabinet paper proposing amendments to 
Schedules 1 and 2 of the Health Act 1956 (updating the list of notifiable 
diseases to reflect emerging scientific and clinical practice and deleting 
redundant legislative requirements respectively) was forwarded to the 
Associate Minister’s office in mid-July 2012. 

 

Impact 11: Public is informed about health system performance 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: Commonwealth 
survey: the percentage of 
the public that are confident 
they will receive the most 
effective treatment if sick is 
at least the same as the 
previous survey. 

Targets and 

benchmarking: In 2010 in 
New Zealand, 84 percent of 
those surveyed responded 
that if they became seriously 
ill they were confident/very 
confident they would get the 
most effective treatment, 
including drugs and 
diagnostic tests. 

Source: Commonwealth 
Fund International Health 
Policy Survey. 

The Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey is not a 
regular survey and has not been repeated, so no data are available for 
making a comparison. This measure has been removed for 
2012/13–14/15. 

The Ministry ensures the public is informed about health system 
performance through a range of websites, publications and newsletters 
tailored to the interests of different stakeholder groups. In December 2012 

the Ministry’s new website (www.health.govt.nz) went live, better 
positioning us to improve the way we communicate with our stakeholders. 
The new Your Health section provides health professionals, their patients, 
and the general public with easy-to-understand health information on 
common health topics. We are currently investigating how the range of 
publicly available information could be expanded further. 

Progress against the heath targets is reported to the public through our 
website each quarter. DHBs also publish their own health target results. A 
project to show progress in priority health areas resulted in a number of 
case studies being added to our website. The case studies give a public 
face to our health endeavours. Examples in the past year have included: 
Green Prescriptions; measles (including a piloted Facebook page 
encouraging immunisation over summer) and Protecting Children with 
Cancer from Measles. The case studies are now including web-based 
video clips and this feature will be used more widely in the coming year. 
Case studies are planned for rheumatic fever, whooping cough, integrated 
health services and low-cost community-based dental care. 

 

http://www.health.govt.nz/
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Impact 12: Transparent and accountable government is supported 

Measures – targets and 

benchmarking 

Update 

Measure: The Ministry 
continues to provide public 
information on health 
expenditure in the 
www.contractmapping.govt.nz 

Targets and benchmarking: 
This was a new initiative that 
started in 2010. 

The Ministry provides information monthly to the government contract 
mapping website (along with the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of 
Justice, the Ministry of Social Development and Te Puni Kōkiri). This 
information can be accessed directly by the public, enabling 
transparency into government’s health expenditure. 

Measure: The number of 
complaints to the Office of the 
Ombudsman under the 
Official Information Act 1982 
upheld by the Ombudsman is 
minimised. 

Targets and benchmarking: 
In 2009/10 there were fewer 
than 20 complaints in total. 

Source: 2009/10 Report of the 
Ombudsmen. 

In 2011/12, 13 complaints were made to the Ombudsman in relation to 
Official Information Act 1982 complaints. Of these, two were upheld, six 
were dismissed or withdrawn, four were waiting for decisions from the 
Ombudsman and one was still being processed by the Ministry of Health 
as at 30 June 2012. 

A further three complaints made in 2010/11 were still waiting for a 
decision by the Ombudsman as at 30 June 2012. 

Three complaints were made in relation to Privacy Act requests. Two of 
these were dismissed and one is awaiting a decision from the 
Ombudsman as at 30 June 2012. 
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Performance improvement 

framework 
The Ministry undertook a Performance Improvement Framework (PIF) review between 

January and March of 2012. The final report is still awaited, but the Ministry has 

commenced a programme of action to accelerate improvements in our organisation 

performance and to ensure that it is fit for purpose to meet the challenges facing the 

health and disability sector and the public sector. The Ministry’s programme of action 

is grouped around four key themes, with the Ministry as: 

 a leading public service organisation 

 an effective sector leader 

 a policy leader 

 a high-performing organisation. 

 

A leading public service organisation 

We will achieve this by being fully engaged in all levels of the Better Public Services 

work programme. We are leading delivery of the programme to achieve Better Public 

Services results for infant immunisation and rheumatic fever. In addition, the Ministry 

is an active partner in the wider work programme in the areas of ICT, procurement and 

property across the Public Service. 

 

An effective sector leader 

We will achieve this by recognising and maximising the role the Ministry has across the 

sector. We will use opportunities to build on strong functional working relationships 

with other sector leaders to collaboratively work and deliver on agreed objectives. The 

active participation shown in the Social Sector Forum led by the Chief Executives of the 

four organisations provides continuing opportunities for us to work alongside agencies 

and lead on the Better Public Service Reform key result areas. We have also refreshed 

the strategic meetings with DHB Chairs and Chief Executives to align critical sector 

projects, and enhance delivery for key result areas. Further enhancements to the 

existing Health Sector Forum meetings provide opportunities for lifting performance in 

working with other Crown entities. 
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A policy leader 

We will achieve this by building on action already under way. We are leading policy 

development through our policy work programme, which reflects Government 

priorities, and is aimed at addressing key health policy issues. We will also contribute 

to significant work led elsewhere, where this has significant health implications (for 

example, the work on welfare reform, and on the White Paper on Vulnerable Children). 

We are strengthening our policy practice, drawing on expertise and input from across 

the sector, and across government. We are growing our policy capability by clear 

performance expectations and focussed development for all policy staff. We are 

monitoring our policy performance, in a manner which feeds into continual policy 

improvement action, overseen by the Policy Advice Improvement Sub Committee of 

Ministry Executive Leadership Team (ELT). 

 

A high performing organisation 

We will achieve this by continuing to support Ministers to deliver Government 

priorities outlined in the Ministry’s Statement of Intent supported by the Four Year 

Budget Plan. We will utilise processes such as the PIF review and Better Administrative 

and Support Services (BASS) to help us determine what it is we can do better, 

differently or more of, to accelerate our rate of improvement. We will continue to 

develop our staff, through initiatives such as the ‘Growing Leaders’ programme and the 

100-day leadership transition coaching programme for all new second and third tier 

staff (see ‘Organisational Development and Capability). We will also focus on 

improving governance. Part of this process will be an audit of our existing governance 

arrangements. 
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Organisational development 

and capability 

Leading people and managing change 

During 2011/12, the Ministry has focused on the theme of continuous improvement 

through the normal challenges of an election year and the continued alignment of 

people and capability with Government priorities. 

 

Building on the foundations of the previous year, members of the ELT and other key 

people leaders from across the Ministry are working to ensure greater alignment of 

workplace initiatives with workplace performance and capability. 

 

Developing leadership across the Ministry 

Continuing the theme of continuous improvement the Ministry established an 

Organisational Development team. It is focusing on lifting staff engagement, improving 

the performance management system, improve strategic workforce planning and 

ensuring organisational performance is aligned with leadership development 

initiatives. 

 

In 2011/12 the Ministry: 

 implemented a 100-day leadership transition coaching programme for all new 

second and third tier staff – extending to those promoted or moved internally as 

well as new staff to the Ministry 

 implemented an independent ‘training audit’ to recommend improvements to the 

learning and development programme of work 

 continued the ‘growing leaders’ programme utilising the experience of managers 

who have previously participated in the programme to share their learning and 

experiences 

 standardised job descriptions within the Lominger Competency Framework 

identifying common roles across 70 percent of the Ministry’s job descriptions. 
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Improving organisational performance 

Recognising organisational performance relies on high-performing engaged staff, the 

Ministry is working to improve organisational performance through people. 

 

Staff engagement 

The Ministry’s overall engagement score has increased from 3.44 to 3.55 (out of 5) in 

2011. This is a meaningful increase since it was last assessed in 2009. 

 

The Ministry’s strengths have been identified as: 

 a commitment to doing quality work 

 a growing focus on capability improvement. 

 

While recognising that further improvement is required, the Ministry is encouraged by 

this result. The Ministry has identified the need for improvement in the following 

areas: 

 how staff see their role contributing to the Ministry’s overall mission and purpose 

 ensuring staff have the right tools to do a good job. 

 

Remuneration framework 

The Ministry continues to implement the recommendations of its remuneration review. 

This will ensure the Ministry’s pay scales are better aligned to the market, and will help 

the Ministry to attract and retain skilled staff. Work here is ongoing. 

 

Learning and development 

The Learning Management System (LMS), which is the key enabler for staff to have 

greater access to ‘blended’ learning and development, is due to be implemented from 

September 2012. The LMS will provide an infrastructure not only for Ministry staff but 

also for health professionals who educate the public by conveying the Ministry’s 

initiatives. 

 

During 2011/12, various training sessions have been held within the Ministry. After 

each training session, staff were asked to complete an evaluation form. This was to 

assess the effectiveness and usefulness of the training. On average, 495 staff rated the 

training session they attended at 3.37 out of 4. The Ministry is exploring other avenues 

to measure the effectiveness and usefulness of training. 

 

Of 1095 eligible staff, nearly 100 percent (1071) have a performance and development 

plan in place. The plan is reviewed on a six-monthly basis for mid-year assessment 

and/or to reflect the changing work environment. The Ministry believes in developing 

its staff to their full potential through having an individual performance and 

development plan in place. 
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Staff retention 

On a 12-month rolling average basis, the 2011/12 voluntary turnover rate was 

15.4 percent. This is a higher rate than the Ministry’s target of 12 percent, but this is 

0.6 percent lower than the previous year which was 16.0 percent. In all, 168 staff left 

the Ministry during 2011/12. The Ministry has taken heed of this small improvement 

and have an Organisational Development and HR work programme in place to improve 

performance management and remuneration equity in 2012/13. 

 

Redundancy 

During the year, the Ministry paid $714,163 to 13 staff who had been made redundant. 

 

Health, safety and wellness 

Thirty work-related accidents were reported during 2011/12. This is a reduction of five 

accidents or a 15 percent reduction compared to the previous year when 35 accidents 

were reported. The Ministry’s Partnership Programme Agreement with ACC has been 

extended until 31 March 2013. 

 

Flu vaccinations were available to Ministry staff between April and June. Over 550 staff 

took up the offer to be vaccinated. This is an increase of 12 percent compared to the 

previous year when 493 staff were vaccinated. 

 

Equal employment opportunities and diversity 

The Ministry recognises that equality and diversity are important for organisational 

success. The differences that all staff bring to the workplace represent benefits to the 

Ministry that need to be understood, appreciated and realised. The Ministry’s rules and 

processes relating to recruitment, selection, terms of employment performance 

management, capability development and promotion aim to promote equity and 

diversity. For further details, please see Appendix E. 

 

Governance 

Work was undertaken on establishing the four ELT sub-committees. The sub-

committees address the majority of ELT’s operational work and send 

recommendations to the ELT for ratification. 
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Stronger financial management 

The Ministry’s operating funding reduced from an actual spend of $214.8 million in 

2009/10 to $189.7 million in 2011/12. This has necessitated strong control over costs 

and improved expenditure forecasting. In particular, the stronger emphasis in cost 

control has resulted in reduced spending on consultants, contractors and travel in the 

current year. 

 

The sector has also faced reductions in funding growth and the Ministry has worked 

closely with the sector to identify opportunities to reprioritise spending. The Ministry 

continues an ongoing process of reviewing non-departmental expenditure to inform 

Budget decisions and the Four-Year Budget Plan. The strategy for managing sector 

spending on tighter funding while maintaining service levels has been successful, with 

DHBs having lower deficits against plans in the 2011/12 year. 

 

Further improvements in procurement have again been key to tight expenditure 

management. New policies and a new contract management system were implemented 

during the year. A focus on providing training for staff has been a key factor in 

obtaining culture change in the procurement area during the year. The Ministry is also 

actively engaging in the ‘all-of-government contracting’, as this rolls out across a 

number of areas. 

 

Improving the performance of assets 

The Ministry manages over $43 million of fixed assets. These include IT infrastructure 

that supports the wider health sector and land in Christchurch from which the National 

Radiation Laboratory (NRL) previously operated. 

 

A property strategy was approved in 2010 to provide direction for the impending 

expiration of many of the Ministry’s building leases. This resulted in relocation of the 

Ministry’s operation in Hamilton and Dunedin to improved but cheaper locations, and 

the development of plans for relocations in Auckland and Wellington. We have worked 

closely with the Government’s property centre of excellence to develop a whole-of-

government solution for Wellington property requirements. 

 

The ‘Better Administrative Support Services’ review has indicated that the Ministry 

performed well on most property benchmarks. The Ministry occupies 16.8 m2 of office 

space per person. 

 

The Christchurch building owned by the Ministry and formerly occupied by the NRL, 

was written off by the Ministry’s insurers following engineering assessment. Full 

settlement has been made. Part of the building is currently rented short-term by 

Environmental Science and Research (ESR) to house the operations of the NRL. The 

building is scheduled for demolition. 

 

http://www.esr.cri.nz/
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As part of the transfer of the NRL to ESR, a number of scientific assets and some motor 

vehicle and IT assets were also transferred. The financial impact of the Christchurch 

building and the transfer of other NRL assets is reflected in this year’s accounts. This 

leaves the Ministry with a smaller and more focused set of assets based around our 

office accommodation needs and our responsibility for sector IT, including payment 

systems. 

 

Further enhancements to payment systems were made during the past year to improve 

the reliability of these systems while a project business case was developed for their 

eventual replacement. This planning is expected to lead to a significant redevelopment 

during 2012/13. 

 

Project governance has continued to improve during 2011/12. The Major Projects 

Committee which oversees sector- and Ministry-focused systems enhancement 

continues to actively manage projects over $500,000 and any others deemed moderate 

risk. This comprised 24 IT projects delivered in the year, with $12.303 million of 

capital invested in systems and hardware enhancements. 
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Risk and assurance 
To support the Ministry’s strategic direction and Government priorities, the Ministry 

has developed a risk management framework, which has been reviewed this year. It 

also maintains internal controls for all its key operations. All management and staff 

bear responsibility for these. The Risk and Assurance team operates according to a 

charter which was reviewed in 2011/12 and confirmed by the Director-General of 

Health in April 2012. 

 

The Ministry also supports an Audit Finance and Risk Committee, which includes 

external members, one of whom chairs the Committee. This Committee provides 

advice to the Director-General and the ELT on a range of topics, including: 

 the quality of financial and performance reporting 

 risk management and audit functions 

 the establishment and enforcement of financial and other business policies and 

practices 

 the Ministry’s compliance with significant legal and regulatory requirements. 

 

Assurance 

The Ministry maintains an internal audit function to undertake independent, objective 

assurance and consulting activity designed to add value, including helping improve the 

organisation’s operations. This function helps the Ministry to achieve its objectives by 

using a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 

risk management, governance and control processes. 

 

Risk 

As a large organisation, with a diverse range of responsibilities and objectives, the 

Ministry faces a range of risks, from day-to-day through to longer-term strategic risks. 

The risk management system aims to ensure all risks are identified and managed 

appropriately so that business objectives and potential opportunities are realised. 

Mitigation strategies vary according to each individual risk, and can include both 

existing practices and future actions. 

 

The key objectives of the Ministry’s risk management system are to ensure: 

 the Director-General and senior management lead and promote risk management 

across the Ministry 

 the Ministry integrates risk management into all decision-making and planning 

processes 
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 the Ministry proactively manages risk to reduce the resulting consequences and 

uncertainty of achieving objectives 

 all staff are aware of risks and take responsibility for managing risk 

 all staff are encouraged and supported to notify managers of risks as required 

 the Ministry openly and constructively engages in discussions of risk at all levels 

 the Ministry maintains flexible risk management processes while ensuring that key 

elements are consistent Ministry-wide. 

 

In 2011/12 the Ministry undertook a fundamental review of its risk management 

framework to ensure that it continues to be relevant and meets the requirements of the 

risk management standard; Australia New Zealand International Standard ISO 

31000:2009. The ELT reviewed its strategic-level risks to ensure that they are aligned 

with business objectives, and agreed to new arrangements for regular reporting of 

strategic-level risks and high-rated Business Unit-level risks to the ELT and ELT 

Performance and Finance Sub-Committee. A Risk Management Steering Group was 

established, involving cross-Ministry representation to oversee the continuing 

development of risk management within Ministry each business unit. 

 

Staff awareness 

During the year, a Risk and Assurances awareness survey was completed by 

610 Ministry employees. Results showed that we have a positive culture towards 

managing the risk of fraud. The majority of employees are aware of the Ministry’s Code 

of Conduct, know where to find it and understand it. Staff also have a good 

understanding of what constitutes fraud when presented with different scenarios and 

understand the consequences of committing fraud. Several areas for improvement 

were identified, including raising awareness of the Ministry’s Fraud and Wrongdoing 

Guidelines. 
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Statement of service 

performance 

Introduction 

This section outlines the Ministry’s performance in line with the requirements of the 

Public Finance Act 1989. 

 

Service performance measures enable the measurement and reporting of the quantity, 

quality and timeliness of the Ministry’s outputs. The measures provide key information 

about the Ministry’s role and performance. 

 

The Ministry’s service performance measure results are grouped and presented by 

appropriation within Vote Health in the following pages. Each measure is marked with 

either a tick or a cross to clearly show the result of the year-end performance. 

 

Improvements in 2011/12 

The Ministry revised the service performance measures during the 2010/11 financial 

year to develop the measures reported in this section. A significant number of 

measures have been either replaced or introduced to ensure that the most relevant 

performance information is presented to the public. The language of some measures 

has also been revised to improve technical accuracy and reduce ambiguity.  

 

Performance at a glance 

The Ministry achieved 43 of the 57 performance targets that it was required to report 

against for the 2011/12 year (ie, a 75 percent achievement rate). 

 

Overall, the Ministry has performed steadily and consistently in most areas throughout 

the year. 

 

The performance targets for four of the Ministry’s six departmental expense 

appropriations were assessed as being partially achieved and two were assessed as fully 

achieved.  

 

The ‘Information and payment services’ multi-class output appropriation (MCOA) has 

been treated as two output class appropriations in this section. 
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Table 8 summarises the number of measures, the percentage of achievement and the 

expenditure for each departmental expense appropriation. 

 

Table 8: Summary of service performance by departmental expense appropriation 

 Summary of service performance Expenditure 

Achieved 

(number) 

Not achieved 

(number) 

Achievement 

(%) 

Actual 

($ million) 

Information and payment services 16 2 89% 74,899 

Health sector information systems 7 – 100% 55,016 

Payment services 9 2 82% 19,883 

Managing the purchase of services 3 4 43% 33,860 

Policy advice 7 6 66% 14,065 

Regulatory and enforcement services 10 – 100% 22,518 

Sector planning and performance* 7 2 78% 44,108 

Total 43 14 75% 189,450 

* One target was not measured. Please see page 102 for further details. 

 

Information and payment services MCOA 

These two output classes under this multi-class output appropriation (MCOA), health 

sector information systems and payment services, include the functions being 

undertaken by the National Health Board and its Business Unit. Grouping these output 

expenses recognises the alignment of these functions and provides a greater degree of 

transparency around the Government’s decision to create a National Health Board. 

 

Health sector information systems Achieved 

The Ministry of Health operates and manages IT infrastructure that underpins national 

data collections and systems used in service delivery. 

 

As part of this, the Ministry manages the national collections that provide access to 

information and coded data. This enables the sector to undertake local, regional and 

national planning of resources for current and future service demand. In addition, 

frontline health sector staff use systems such as the National Health Index to identify 

patients in real time and make sure they get appropriate services and support. 
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Table 9: Summary of output performance measures and standards for health 

sector information systems 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 National infrastructure and systems     

99.7% The percentage of time for which key sector- and 
public-facing systems are available 

98% 99.7% 2%  

66.7% The percentage of information technology hardware 
investment less than five years old 

56% 92.2% 64%  

$30.00 Cost of storage per gigabyte $30.00 $25.39 15%  

NA The number of external user logins to national 
systems 

8,950 11,051 23%  

NA The number of national systems upgrades per annum 12 22 83%  

 National collections     

20 The number of national collection reports produced 20 20 0%  

NA The percentage of data submitted by DHBs that is 
processed within two working days 

95% 99.8% 5%  

 

Output performance overview 

This output class has performed consistently well throughout the year. All the 

measures within this output class were delivered to or exceeded the targets. 

 

National infrastructure and systems 

Two key systems used widely across the health sector, the National Health Index (NHI) 

and the National Immunisation Register (NIR), were available for 99.7 percent of the 

time. The NHI holds health identification numbers that uniquely identify health care 

recipients, while the NIR holds immunisation details of New Zealanders. In 2012/13, 

this measure will be extended to cover other key technology systems. 

 

Some notable improvements have been made in the last year in updating hardware, 

resulting in the age of hardware target being exceeded by 64 percent. The contributing 

factors have been a managed programme of infrastructure replacement accompanied 

by the decommissioning of older equipment and a review of the asset record’s detail. 

 

The purchase of new storage has driven down the cost of storage to $25 per gigabyte. 

The current cost of storage for Ministry data, including national systems and 

collections, continues to decrease. This is a reduction of approximately $5 per gigabyte 

compared to 2010/11. 
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Information from national systems was available to a monthly average of 

11,051 external user accounts with log-in access to the systems. A log-on recognises 

both the access of an individual user and that of a health sector organisation, for which 

the log-on can be used by multiple parties within the organisation. 

The National Information Systems are part of an annual maintenance and 

improvement programme. Overall, 22 upgrades were made, linked to an operational 

maintenance programme and the Ministry’s capital projects. The following systems 

were among those upgraded: National Health Index; National Immunisation Register; 

National Collections; Special Authorities; Capitation Based Funding; Proclaim; Bowel 

Screening Platform and Online Pharmacy Claiming. 

 

National collections 

Information from the national collections was used to publish 20 reports which are 

available at www.health.govt.nz/publications 

 

The Ministry is also committed to efficient and accurate processing of data submitted 

by DHBs. Nearly 100 percent of the data was processed within two working days from 

receipt, relating to the National Minimum Data Set (hospital events) and the National 

Booking and Reporting System (patients waiting for elective surgery). 

 

Table 10: Financial performance for health sector information systems  

Actual 

30/06/2011 

$000 

 Actual 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Main estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Supp. estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

61,832 Crown revenue 56,939 56,637 57,378 

609 Third party revenue 347 132 283 

62,441 Total revenue 57,286 56,769 57,661 

59,992 Total expenditure 55,016 56,769 57,661 

2,449 Net surplus 2,270 0 0 

 

Payment services Partially achieved 

The Ministry is responsible for the administration of core health payment processes for 

the health sector, including administering agreements between health funding 

organisations and health providers, managing the subsequent payment of funds, and 

capturing and tracking health care users’ entitlements and usage. The Ministry runs 

telephone contact centres that handle queries and service requests from funders, 

providers and health care users in support of the payment services function. The 

Ministry also carries out audit and investigation activities on payments made across 

the sector. 

 

http://www.health.govt.nz/publications
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Table 11: Summary of output performance measures and standards for payment 

services 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Payment transactions     

>100.0 The number of payments made per annum* (million) 114.5 120.1 5%  

NA The percentage of all payment transactions 
processed within due date 

99% 99.9% 1%  

$0.07 The cost per payment transaction processed $0.07 $0.07 0%  

578,498 The number of contacts with the public* 340,000 517,081 52%  

 Contracts     

9,248 The number of agreements processed per annum* 10,000 10,718 7%  

NA The percentage of all draft agreements prepared for 
funders within target timeframes 

95% 85.8% -10%  

 Contact centres     

725,705 Number of contact centre calls per annum* 700,000 756,174 8%  

62.3% The percentage of calls to contact centres answered 
within service specifications for timeliness 
(20 seconds currently) 

>75% 72.6% -3%  

4.5% The percentage of calls abandoned by callers prior to 
being answered by the contact centre 

<7% 6.1% 13%  

 Financial audit and compliance activities     

NA The total dollar value of payments made to those 
primary health providers who have undergone 
financial audit during the year, expressed as a 
percentage of the budget for the primary health care 
providers (total dollar value primary sector payments 
is estimated to be $5.9 billion) 

70.0% 70.0% 0%  

NA The ratio of the total dollar value of averted losses 
and identified recoverable losses from audit and 
compliance activities, against the net operating cost 
for audit and compliance activities (net operating cost 
budget estimated for 2011/12 to be $2.7 million) 

7.6 12.3 62%  

* Demand driven measures. 
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Output performance overview 

All measures in this output class are on target or exceed the targets with the exception 

of two measures. A detailed explanation regarding the under-achieved measures 

follows below. 

 

Payment transactions, contracts and contact centres 

Volumes for the demand driven measures have increased compared to 2010/11 and are 

higher than forecast. 

 

Contract timeliness: The month of June is usually a busy month for the contract 

processing team because the volume increases closer to year-end. In addition, the 

Government’s policy change relating to the Pharmacy Agreement (PA) has brought 

forward PA contract processing to June. Previously these contracts were processed 

between July and August. This caused a sharp increase in volume during June, which 

was much higher than anticipated. On average, approximately 880 contracts are 

processed a month, but in June approximately 1400 contracts were processed. This is 

an increase of almost 60 percent. A combination of the two factors discussed above has 

led to the target not being met. 

 

Call timeliness: Over the course of May, June and July 2012, the Wellington based 

contact centre work was moved to the Whanganui based contact centre. Previously the 

work was carried out over the two sites (ie, there has been a reduction in resource). The 

level of knowledge and experience varies amongst staff in the Whanganui contact 

centre. Consequently, the Ministry did not meet its timeliness target of 75 percent. 

With the transition having been completed on 31 July 2012, the contact centre will 

enter a programme of training and education for its staff. This is to ensure that 

resource capacity and capability are available for all enquiry types. 

 

In addition, the contact centre team are exploring other avenues to accommodate the 

growth in enquiry volume, while meeting the timeliness standard. 

 

Financial audit and compliance activities 

The Ministry has audit activities in approximately 70 percent of the funding that makes 

up the $6.1 billion of sector service payments. During 2011/12, the Ministry has had 

activity in respect of most pharmacy claimants who claimed around $1.1 billion and a 

number of Disability Support Services (DSS) claimants who claimed more than 

$2.2 billion. 

 

As a result of the 2011/12 audit and investigation activities, the Ministry identified 

$4.2 million worth of recoverable losses and averted $29.2 million worth of losses. The 

2011/12 target was to recover 7.6 times or $20.5 million against the net operating cost 

budget of $2.7 million. The Ministry has exceeded its target by 62 percent. 
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The majority of the saving, approximately $20 million, was driven by the Ministry’s 

National Close Control Dispensing Project. The project commenced in August 2011 and 

consisted of the Ministry working with DHBs, writing to pharmacists in relation to the 

compliance requirements, organising educational presentations and increased audit 

and investigation activities. In addition, there has been increased activity by DHBs 

questioning individual pharmacists who are claiming high close control. High close 

control is a contractual condition that permits medicines to be dispensed more 

frequently than the normal 90-day intervals to assist infirm or frail patients to manage 

their medications, thus incurring additional dispensing fees. 

 

The Ministry consulted with PHARMAC, the Pharmacy Guild and other sector 

representatives, raising the concerns of misuse of close control on an ongoing basis. 

 

The Ministry is continuously working on improving compliance and preventing any 

frauds in the health sector. 

 

Table 12: Financial performance for payment services  

Actual 

30/06/2011 

$000 

 Actual 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Main estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Supp. estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

18,198 Crown revenue 18,978 22,285 18,641 

186 Third party revenue 1,196 225 1,801 

18,384 Total revenue 20,174 22,510 20,442 

16,254 Total expenditure 19,883 22,510 20,442 

2,130 Net surplus 291 0 0 

 

Managing the purchase of services Partially achieved 

The Ministry has a significant responsibility for purchasing health and disability 

services on behalf of the Crown. A total of $10.5 billion of funding was provided to 

DHBs and health-related Crown entities in 2011/12, and $2.5 billion worth of services 

was directly purchased by the Ministry through non-devolved funding. 

 

The Ministry negotiates and manages a portfolio of contracts within the Ministry’s 

purchasing and pricing frameworks to ensure consumer-focused services. This is to 

ensure that there is a consistent national approach in the provision of support services 

to people in need. 
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Table 13: Summary of output performance measures and standards for managing 

the purchase of services 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Contracting     

NA Total number of contracts held by the Ministry for 
the purpose of purchasing goods and services on 
behalf of the Crown 

20,200 19,989 -1%  

Achieved The Ministry Procurement Policy is assessed and 
confirmed to be in line with government standards 

Achieved Achieved −  

NA The percentage of new contracts issued, for the 
purpose of purchasing goods and services on 
behalf of the Crown, that are compliant with the 
Ministry Procurement Policy 

95% 71.4%* -25%  

1:86 The ratios of departmental expenditure for the 
output class against relevant non-departmental 
expenditure 

1:105 1:88 -16%  

 Contract management     

NA The percentage of monitoring reports from service 
providers, for contracts with a value over $4 million, 
that receive a formal response from the Ministry 

85% 91.5% 8%  

100.0% The percentage of Ministry feedback to Crown 
Funding Agreement Variation monitoring reports 
that is supplied to district health boards within 
agreed timeframes 

100% 94.8% -5%  

99.0% The percentage of complaints from service users 
received by the National Quality Group, National 
Services Purchasing, National Health Board, that 
receive a timely initial response from the Ministry 

95% 100.0% 5%  

* As at 31 December 2011. 

 

Output performance overview 

This is a new output class and all the measures are new to the Ministry. It has been a 

year of learning and the Ministry has identified the areas it needs to focus on. The 

Ministry is committed to improve on its current performance and a plan to improve the 

performance in this output class is already in place. The Ministry is confident that it 

will improve its performance in the future. 

 

Contracting 

Number of contracts: The number of contracts was slightly (by 1 percent) lower 

than expected. This is a demand-driven measure and also includes Crown Funding 

Agreements with the DHBs. 

 

Ministry procurement policy: The Ministry continuously reviews its own policy 

and standards to ensure that it complies with government standards. 
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Compliance with the Ministry procurement policy: A sample of 49 contracts 

that were issued between July and December 2011 was randomly taken to assess the 

compliance rate. Please note that one contract from the original sample of 50 contracts 

was excluded due to it being out of scope for the purpose of the measure. The results of 

the contracts that were issued between January and June 2012 will be available in late 

September 2012. 

 

The actual compliance rate with the Ministry’s Procurement Policy was 71 percent 

against the target of 95 percent. Most non-compliance occurred when a contract was 

completed by staff who were unaware of the compliance requirements and did not 

attend the new Procurement Business Rules and Guidelines (PBRaG) training. 

 

The Ministry has been running regular training sessions to ensure staff are fully aware 

of the compliance requirements. As of May 2012, 208 staff have been trained. The 

PBRaG training is now a compulsory part of orientation for new managers. 

 

The ELT has been informed of this performance issue specifically and all the ELT 

members have been working with their Business Units and monitoring progress 

closely. 

 

The Ministry is committed to meeting the target of 95 percent. 

 

Ratio of departmental expenditure against relevant non-departmental 

expenditure: This is a cost-effectiveness measure – the Ministry manages 

$105 worth of non-departmental expenditure for every dollar it spends. The target of 

$105 was set prior to the 2011/12 Budget being finalised. The denominator has 

changed since the target was set. Consequently this target was not met and is now 

adjusted for 2012/13 to reflect the additional resources allocated to managing the 

expenditure. 

 

Contract management 

Of 77 monitoring reports from service providers for contracts with a value over 

$4 million, 74 contracts have received a formal written response from the Ministry. 

This is an achievement of 96 percent against the target of 85 percent. Service providers 

include all organisations that have a contract with the Ministry of Health to deliver 

services funded from the non-departmental expenditure budget. 

 

Five monitoring reports were not followed up with a formal response because there 

were no issues with those reports. However, all service providers had received an 

acknowledgement upon receipt of their report. This measure will be redefined to 

include only the reports that require a formal response. 

 

Timeliness in providing feedback to DHBs in relation to Crown Funding Agreement 

Variation monitoring reports consistently achieved 95 percent against the target of 

100 percent throughout 2012/12. It was the first year this measure was introduced and 

it was an aspirational target which the Ministry strove to achieve. 
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All 85 complaints received during 2011/12 have been responded to within the agreed 

timeframe of five days. 

 

Table 14: Financial performance for managing the purchase of services  

Actual 

30/06/2011 

$000 

 Actual 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Main estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Supp. estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

0 Crown revenue 37,414 25,388 37,307 

0 Third party revenue 488 140 437 

0 Total revenue 37,902 25,528 37,744 

 Total expenditure 33,860 25,528 37,744 

0 Net surplus 4,042 0 0 

 

Policy advice Partially achieved 

The Ministry acts as the Minister of Health’s principal advisor on health policy, seeking 

to provide clear and practical advice supported by strong analysis of issues, in line with 

the Ministry’s quality standards for policy advice. 

 

Policy advice can be classified as relating to the following areas: 

 the medium- to long-term performance of the overall health and disability system, 

and the overarching health and disability strategy 

 issues that affect the health of particular demographic groups (eg, Māori health) in 

New Zealand 

 key health issues including non-communicable disease (such as cancer, 

cardiovascular disease, or unhealthy weight), lifestyles, screening, mental health, 

alcohol and drug addiction 

 issues surrounding the service settings and frameworks within which health-related 

services are delivered in the sector. 

 

Outputs from the policy function include not only written advice to the Minister, 

Cabinet, and other government departments, but also verbal briefings, secondments to 

the Minister’s office and contributions to legislative change (including the provision of 

regulatory impact statements). 
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Table 15: Summary of output performance measures and standards for policy 

advice 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Advice     

NA The percentage of Cabinet papers reviewed by the 
Internal Cabinet Papers Committee (ICPC) prior 
submission to the Minister 

90% 91.3% 1%  

78.0% The percentage of Cabinet papers meeting Cabinet 
Office requirements for summaries and length 

90% 75.3% -16%  

6.9 The average score attained by written policy advice 
as assessed by an external reviewer (out of 10) 

≥7 6.9 -1%  

NA The percentage of written advice signed off by peer 
and managerial review 

95% 97.1% 2%  

NA The average score for Minister’s overall 
satisfaction with written and verbal advice (as 
assessed on a four-monthly basis – out of 5) 

≥4 4 0%  

8 The number of advisors seconded to Ministers’ 
offices (as measured at year end) 

8 8 0%  

 Legislation     

100.0% The percentage of Regulatory Impact Statements 
that either meet or partially meet The Treasury’s 
requirements 

95% 100.0% 5%  

 Publications     

14 The number of technical and health intelligence 
publications 

13 9 -30%  

 Ministerial servicing     

NA The percentage of responses provided to the 
Minster within agreed timeframes; for written 
parliamentary questions, Ministerial letters, and 
requested briefings (out of a total expected volume 
of 5,800 responses) 

96% 98.7% 3%  

NA The percentage of responses provided to the 
Minister that undergo peer review for written 
parliamentary questions, Ministerial letters, and 
requested briefings (out of a total expected volume 
of 5,800 responses) 

95% 88.6% -6%  

NA The percentage of Ministerial letters returned for 
revision (out of total expected volume of 3,500 
letters) 

≤2% 1.4% 30%  

 Official Information Act requests     

91.1% The percentage of responses to Official Information 
Act requests, provided to the Minister or requestor 
within agreed timeframes (out of an expected 600 
requests) 

95% 86.3% -9%  

NA Percentage of responses to Official Information Act 
requests that undergo peer review 

95% 84.1% -11%  
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Output performance overview 

Advice 

Cabinet papers 

During 2011/12, the Ministry prepared and presented 73 Cabinet papers (including 

appointment papers) according to the Cabinet Office statistics. 

 

The Cabinet Office requirements for each Cabinet paper are: 

 if a paper is longer than four pages, a summary needs to be attached 

 it is recommended that a paper be kept within 10 pages. 

 

The overall compliance rate for both the above requirements was 75 percent against the 

target of 90 percent. Of the 73 papers, 58 papers were eight pages long or less 

(79 percent). Of the 34 papers that required a summary, 29 papers had a summary 

(88 percent). 

 

Although the target was not achieved, the Ministry’s performance was higher than the 

average (69 percent for length and 87 percent for summary requirements) for all public 

departments that presented Cabinet papers. 

 

Written policy advice 

Assessments of performance for 2011/12 by the external reviewer, the New Zealand 

Institute of Economic Research (NZIER), indicate there is scope for improving the 

quality of the Ministry’s policy papers. 

 

NZIER commented that the Ministry has made positive developments since it was last 

reviewed. For example, papers are shorter with much better executive summaries. 

There are higher-scoring papers at 8 plus (out of 10) and fewer papers that lacked an 

obvious point, but there has been an increase in the proportion of borderline papers. 

 

The Ministry’s Policy Advice Improvement Committee is reviewing the NZIER report 

and will implement the NZIER’s recommendations. 

 

The Ministry is committed to making continuous improvements in its Cabinet and 

policy papers. 

 

Ministerial satisfaction 

Due to the general election in November 2011, only two surveys of the Minister’s 

satisfaction were conducted, instead of three as planned. Both surveys were rated 4 out 

of 5. 
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Legislation 

All four Regulatory Impact Statements (RIS) published during the year met the 

Treasury’s requirements. This measure is now tightened for 2012/13 so that all RIS 

provided will be fully compliant with the Treasury’s requirements. The four RIS 

published during the year were: 

 Social Security (Long-term Residential Care: Budget Measures) 

 Controlling and Regulating Drugs, a review of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1975 

 Medicines Amendment Bill 

 Classification of Tapentadol under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1975. 

 

Publications 

Policy analysis is supported by intelligence- and information-gathering relating to the 

health and disability system. This underlying intelligence-gathering and analysis 

function, which includes carrying out health surveys, directly supported the provision 

of policy advice, and also led to the production of nine technical publications during 

2011/12. This was four fewer publications than the Ministry originally intended for 

2011/12. The Ministry was reliant on data from the WHO global burden of disease 

project to complete four publications. The WHO project was delayed by a year, and 

these four reports are now scheduled to be published in 2012/13. 

 

Ministerial servicing 

The Ministry provides a wide range of advice and services to Ministers. During 

2011/12, the Ministry responded to 532 parliamentary questions, 2316 ministerial 

letters, and prepared 810 briefings (ie, a total volume of 3685). Nearly 100 percent of 

responses were prepared before the due date. Where delays occurred, in the majority of 

cases Ministers and their staff were advised in advance and extensions were sought. 

 

Only very few Ministerial letters (32 out of 2316 letters) were returned to the Ministry 

for revision. Most revisions involved minor additions. 

 

Peer review aims to ensure that the Ministry provides accurate and quality responses 

and information to the requestors, who could be Ministers, Select Committee members 

or the public. Due to time pressure in responding to and preparing parliamentary 

questions, ministerial letters and briefings, it was not always possible to seek peer 

review. The Ministry is currently investigating more practical ways of ensuring the 

quality of the information it provides without compromising timeliness. 

 

Official Information Act (OIA) requests 

During 2011/12, 509 OIA requests have been responded to and 442 requests have met 

the agreed timeframe. This was an achievement of 87 percent against the 95 percent 

target. There were several reasons for this under-performance, including the 

complexity of the requests and the time-consuming nature of many OIA requests. 
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The following actions are in place in order to improve OIA timeliness performance: 

 a detailed report in relation to OIA timeliness is provided to the Ministry Executive 

Leadership Team on a monthly basis 

 there is ongoing staff training on the OIA rules to increase awareness of the 

Ministry’s obligations relating to OIA requests 

 improved systems have been introduced to track the progress of OIA requests 

 an OIA champion has been nominated in each business unit to provide the 

necessary guidance. 

 

The Ministry takes its obligations to the public seriously and will endeavour to improve 

timeliness performance in 2012/13. 

 

As noted above, the Ministry is investigating more practical ways of ensuring the 

quality of the information that it produces without compromising the timeliness. 

 

Table 16: Financial performance for policy advice  

Actual 

30/06/2011 

$000 

 Actual 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Main estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Supp. estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

0 Crown revenue 14,363 33,725 14,360 

0 Third party revenue 218 120 186 

0 Total revenue 14,581 33,845 14,546 

 Total expenditure 14,065 33,845 14,546 

0 Net surplus 516 0 0 

 

Regulatory and enforcement services Achieved 

The Ministry is responsible for a range of core regulatory functions within the health 

system. The Ministry’s scope of responsibility includes: 

 the New Zealand Medicines and Medical Devices Safety Authority (Medsafe), which 

is responsible for the regulation of therapeutic products 

 the Office of Radiation Safety, which is responsible for the regulation of ionising 

radiation 

 HealthCERT, which is responsible for ensuring hospitals, aged residential care 

providers (including rest homes), residential disability care providers and fertility 

service providers provide safe and reasonable levels of service for consumers 

 Medicines Control, which is responsible for the regulation of the local distribution 

chain of medicines and controlled drugs within New Zealand. 
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On 1 December 2011 the scientific aspects of the National Radiation Laboratory were 

sold to the Institute of Environmental Science and Research Limited (ESR). The 

Ministry retained the regulatory functions of the Office of Radiation Safety. ESR 

contracts with the Ministry to provide scientific advice and inspection services for 

ionising radiation. 

 

In addition, the Ministry carries out several key statutory functions related to health 

protection. These include the roles of the Directors of Public Health and Mental Health, 

which both carry important leadership and decision-making responsibilities, including 

interpretation and administration of the relevant legislation. 

 

The Ministry provides support to a range of ministerial committees. See Appendix C 

for further details. 

 

Table 17: Summary of output performance measures and standards for regulatory 

and enforcement services 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Compliance     

NA Number of quality audits of providers conducted or 
assessed 

710 737 4%  

NA The percentage of complaints about providers or 
products that receive an initial response from the 
Ministry within target timeframes 

90% 94.9% 6%  

 Implementation     

NA The percentage of all licences, certificates and 
authorities issued to providers within agreed 
timeframes (of an estimated total of 3050 licences, 
certificates, and authorities issued) 

90% 92.0% 2%  

100.0% The percentage of all New Medicines Applications (for 
ministerial consent to market) that receive an initial 
assessment within 200 days (of an estimated total of 
270 applications processed) 

80% 96.9% 21%  

100.0% The percentage of all Changed Medicines 
Notifications (for ministerial consent to market) 
approved within 45 days (of an estimated total of 
1400 applications processed) 

100% 100.0% 0%  

 Sector leadership and advice     

NA All statutory officers appointed by the Ministry meet 
the criteria set by the Director-General of Health and 
any statutory prerequisites for appointment 

Achieved Achieved −  

NA The percentage of standards, manuals, and 
guidelines reviewed or developed against plan 

100% 100.0% 0%  
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Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Statutory committees     

NA All recommendations for appointments meet the 
requirements of health legislation, DPMC and SSC 
requirements 

Achieved Achieved −  

NA The percentage of recommendations for appointments 
(of approximately 200 planned appointments) where 
recommendations are presented to the Minister prior 
to expiration of term for the current appointee 

95% 95.7% 1%  

NA Average rating for statutory committee satisfaction 
with secretariat services provided by the Ministry (out 
of 5) 

≥4 4.2 5%  

 

Output performance overview 

This output class has performed consistently well throughout the year. All the 

measures within this output class were delivered to or exceeded the targets. 

 

Compliance and implementation 

The actual volumes (new medicine applications, licences, certificates and authorities) 

have been in line with the forecast. This allowed the 2011/12 workload and workforce 

to be planned accordingly. 

 

During 2011/12, the Ministry: 

 conducted 737 quality audits of providers 

 received 1089 complaints in relation to providers and products, of which 95 percent 

have been answered within the target timeframe (usually seven days) 

 issued 2985 licences, certificates, and authorities, of which 92 percent have been 

issued within agreed timeframes 

 received and processed 191 New Medicines Applications and assessed 97 percent of 

the applications within 200 days 

 approved 1447 Changed Medicines Notifications (for ministerial consent to market) 

within 45 days. 

 

Sector leadership and advice 

During 2011/12, the Ministry appointed 57 statutory officers. Most statutory officers 

are designated by the Director-General of Health under the Health Act 1956. These 

officers – medical officers of health, health protection officers, and drinking water 

assessors – are accountable to, and subject to direction from, the Director-General. 

This ensures central oversight of regulatory functions. The majority of these officers 

are employed in DHB-based public health units. 
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The Director-General also appoints statutory officers under a range of other Acts, in 

particular the Smoke-free Environments Act 1990, the Tuberculosis Act 1948, and the 

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996. City and district councils also 

appoint environmental health officers under the Health Act. They assist councils to 

perform their environmental health functions under the Act. 

 

The following guidelines were completed or revised during 2011/12: 

 Environmental Health Analysis and Advice Services 

 Directory of Public Health Statutory Officers in New Zealand 

 Guidelines for public health units on fees and charges (new) 

 Hazardous substances action plan 

 Environmental Case Management of Lead-exposed Persons 

 Hazardous substances section of the Environmental Health Protection Manual 

 Legionella guidelines 

 Chemical fire guidelines (new). 

 

In addition, the revised Communicable Disease Control Manual was published on the 

Ministry website in May 2012. An email advisory was sent to all public health units, 

ESR and the Ministry for Primary Industries as well as within the Ministry of Health. 

 

Statutory committees 

The Ministry adheres to the public sector guidelines when recommending statutory 

appointments and is committed to providing the appointing Minister with quality 

advice in a timely manner. 

 

The first annual statutory committee satisfaction survey was conducted during June 

2012. In the survey, the following three questions were asked: 

 How satisfied are you with the quality of analysis, information, advice, committee 

papers and reports (ie, non-administrative support) provided over the past 

12 months? 

 How satisfied are you with the administrative support provided to you over the past 

12 months, including meeting arrangements and timeliness of papers? 

 Overall, how satisfied are you with the support provide to your committee by the 

Ministry in the past 12 months? 

 

Sixteen responses were received – with 1 being the least satisfied and 5 being the most 

satisfied. The most common rating given was 4. No questions were given a rating of 1 

or 2. The average scores for each question were 4.6, 4.4 and 4.2 respectively. The score 

for the last question has been used to report on the measure within this output class. 

 

Overall feedback from the committee members has been positive and they commended 

the Ministry’s staff for their efficiency and the quality of services in all areas. 
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Table 18: Financial performance for regulatory and enforcement services  

Actual 

30/06/2011 

$000 

 Actual 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Main estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Supp. estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

21,256 Crown revenue 11,011 22,150 11,097 

15,738 Third party revenue 12,597 16,598 12,941 

36,994 Total revenue 23,608 38,748 24,038 

36,888 Total expenditure 22,518 38,748 24,038 

106 Net surplus 1,090 0 0 

 

Sector planning and performance Partially achieved 

The Ministry works with DHBs to create accountability documents which outline what 

DHBs will deliver, as well as to improve their performance. The Ministry also monitors 

progress throughout the year against targets (both service and financial) and works 

with DHBs to address issues which may be impacting on their performance. 

 

The Ministry provides support for sector employment relations negotiations and pays 

particular attention to monitoring elective services. It is also responsible for DHB 

funding. 

 

Table 19: Summary of output performance measures and standards for sector 

planning and performance 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Planning and funding support system     

Partially 
achieved 

Planning and funding advice for the 2012/13 year is 
provided to Crown entities by 31 December 2011 (the 
general election required in 2011 may change the 
timing for issuing planning and funding advice) 

Achieved Achieved −  

NA DHB annual plans for the 2012/13 year, including the 
funding schedule are agreed between the DHBs and 
the Minister by 30 June 2012 

Achieved Not 
achieved 

-100%  

19.3% The percentage of nationwide service specifications 
that are overdue for review to maintain their currency 
within five years of their approval 

21% 11.6% 43%  

NA The percentage of DHB capital bids reviewed in line 
with the timelines and processes set by the Capital 
Investment Committee 

80% 100.0% 25%  



 

 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 103 
 including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Actual 

2010/11 

Performance measure Standard Actual 

2011/12 

Variance ! 

 Performance monitoring     

NA The percentage of monitoring feedback reports about 
performance supplied to DHBs within agreed 
timeframes (non-financial) 

90% 90.6% 1%  

100.0% The percentage of all letters to DHBs with health 
target performance tables and supporting 
information, sent within 5 working days of the date for 
publication of results agreed with the Minister 

100% 100.0% 0%  

90.9% The percentage of quarterly and monthly monitoring 
reports about Crown entities provided to the Minister 
within agreed timeframes 

100% 83.3% -17%  

 Interventions and performance improvement     

NA The percentage of Health Reports to the Minister in 
accordance with guidelines in year advising of DHB 
Monitoring and Intervention Framework status and 
actions arising 

100% See below 

 Governance     

NA The percentage of appointments to Crown entity 
boards (of an estimated 25 planned appointments) 
where advice goes to the Minister prior to expiration 
of term for the current appointee 

100% 100.0% 0%  

NA The percentage of appointments to Crown entity 
boards (of an estimated 25 appointments for the 
period) where candidate interviews are carried out in 
line with SSC guidelines 

100% 100.0% 0%  

 

Output performance overview 

Planning and funding support system 

The Ministry has met most of the agreed timeframes. All planning and funding advice 

to Crown entities was provided by the end of December 2011. By 30 June 2012, 10 DHB 

Annual Plans (out of 20) had been signed and all four Regional Service Plans had been 

endorsed by the Minister of Health. One additional Annual Plan had been signed by the 

Minister of Health but was awaiting the Minister of Finance’s additional signature. The 

other Annual Plans did not require the Minister of Finance’s signature. 

 

The capital bids were temporarily suspended as the Capital Investment Committee 

(CIC) put a hold on the reviewing processes due to the Canterbury earthquake. The CIC 

preferred to wait until information on the post-quake situation was available before 

processing any bids. The CIC resumed reviewing bids in late 2011/12. Only two cases 

for new builds in Canterbury have been referred to Ministers for approval. Both cases 

were reviewed in line with the CIC timelines and processes. 
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Performance monitoring 

The Ministry actively monitors the performance of DHBs and other Crown entities. 

Based on the monitoring reports, the Ministry provides feedback to DHBs and Crown 

entities as well as to the Minister of Health. 

 

The Ministry provides monitoring reports to the Minister in a timely manner. 

However, the Ministry was heavily involved in the Health Crown Entity Change 

Project, which disestablished four Crown entities and established the Health 

Promotion Agency. Consequently, due to resource constraints at different points in the 

project, two out of twelve monitoring reports were not sent within the expected 

timeframes. 

 

Interventions and performance improvement 

The Ministry used to send separate and detailed Monitoring and Intervention 

Framework (MIF) reports to the Minister. At the Minister’s request, only the MIF 

status indicator of DHBs is reported to the Minister as a part of the monthly financial 

report (ie, there is no detailed report to be assessed against guidelines). A detailed MIF 

report is sent to the Minister only when there is a significant change in status. This did 

not occur during 2011/12. 

 

Governance 

The Ministry adheres to State Services Commission guidelines when appointing 

members to DHB and other health Crown entity boards, and provides the appointing 

Minister with quality advice in a timely manner before the terms of members expire. 

 

The Minister is advised of all appointments to DHB and Crown entity boards. This 

advice is provided to the Minister prior to the expiration of current appointees’ terms. 

In June, one unexpected resignation was received prior to the expiration of the 

member’s term. 

 

Where the expiration date was known, the Minister was advised with 

recommendations in a timely manner. The current performance measure captures the 

timeliness of advice where the expiration date of the term is known. 

 

During 2011/12, all candidate interviews were carried out according to the State 

Services Commission guidelines and 12 new appointments were made. Reappointed 

members were not interviewed. 
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Table 20: Financial performance for sector planning and performance  

Actual 

30/06/2011 

$000 

 Actual 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Main estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

Supp. estimates 

30/06/2012 

$000 

0 Crown revenue 44,807 27,067 44,445 

0 Third party revenue 737 149 881 

0 Total revenue 45,544 27,216 45,326 

 Total expenditure 44,108 27,216 45,326 

0 Net surplus 1,436 0 0 
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Statement of Responsibility 
In terms of section 45C of the Public Finance Act 1989, I am responsible, as Director-

General of Health, for the preparation of the Ministry’s financial statements, statement 

of service performance and the judgements made in the process of producing those 

statements. I have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining, and I have 

established and maintained, a system of internal control procedures that provide 

reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. In my 

opinion, the financial statements and statement of service performance fairly reflect 

the financial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2012 and its operations for the year 

ended on that date. 

 

 

 
 

Kevin Woods 

Director-General of Health 

27 September 2012 

 
 

Richard Morris 

Chief Financial Officer 

27 September 2012 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the readers of Ministry of Health’s 

financial statements and non-financial performance information 

and schedules of non-departmental activities 

for the year ended 30 June 2012 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Ministry of Health (the Ministry). The Auditor-

General has appointed me, Andy Burns, using the staff and resources of Audit 

New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements the non-financial 

performance information and the schedules of non-departmental activities of the 

Ministry on her behalf. 

 

We have audited: 

 the financial statements of the Ministry on pages 111 to 150, that comprise the 

statement of financial position, statement of commitments, statement of contingent 

liabilities and contingent assets as at 30 June 2012, the statement of comprehensive 

income, statement of movements in taxpayers’ funds, statement of departmental 

expenses and capital expenditure against appropriations, statement of 

unappropriated departmental expenditure and capital expenditure and statement of 

cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements 

that include accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

 the non-financial performance information of the Ministry that comprises the 

statement of service performance on pages 85 to 105 and the report about outcomes 

on pages 33 to 75; and 

 the schedules of non-departmental activities of the Ministry on pages 151 to 165 that 

comprise the schedule of non-departmental assets, schedule of non-departmental 

liabilities, schedule of non-departmental commitments and schedule of contingent 

liabilities and contingent assets as at 30 June 2012, statement of non-departmental 

expenses and capital expenditure against appropriations, statement of 

unappropriated non-departmental expenditure and capital expenditure, schedule of 

non-departmental income and capital receipts, statement of trust monies, for the 

year ended on that date and the notes to the schedules that include accounting 

policies and other explanatory information. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements of the Ministry on pages 111 to 150: 

– comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

– fairly reflect the Ministry’s: 

 financial position as at 30 June 2012; 

 financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; 

 expenses and capital expenditure incurred against each appropriation 

administered by the Ministry and each class of outputs included in each 

output expense appropriation for the year ended 30 June 2012; and 

 unappropriated expenses and capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 

2012. 

 the non-financial performance information of the Ministry on pages 85 to 105 and 

33 to 75: 

– complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

– fairly reflects the Ministry’s service performance and outcomes for the year ended 

30 June 2012, including for each class of outputs: 

 its service performance compared with the forecasts in the statement of 

forecast service performance at the start of the financial year; and 

 its actual revenue and output expenses compared with the forecasts in the 

statement of forecast service performance at the start of the financial year. 

 the schedules of non-departmental activities of the Ministry on pages 151 to 165: 

– comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

– fairly reflect: 

 the assets, liabilities, contingencies, commitments and trust monies as at 

30 June 2012 managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown; and 

 the revenues, expenses, expenditure and capital expenditure against 

appropriations and unappropriated expenditure and capital expenditure for 

the year ended on that date managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown. 

 

Our audit was completed on 27 September 2012. This is the date at which our opinion 

is expressed. 

 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities 

of the Director-General of Health and our responsibilities, and we explain our 

independence. 

Basis of opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, 

which incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, the 

non-financial performance information and the schedules of non-departmental 

activities are free from material misstatement. 
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Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that 

would affect a reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements, the 

non-financial performance information and the schedules of non-departmental 

activities. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would 

have referred to them in our opinion. 

 

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements, the non-financial performance information 

and the schedules of non-departmental activities. The procedures selected depend on 

our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, the non-financial performance information and the schedules of 

non-departmental activities, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Ministry’s preparation of the 

financial statements, the non-financial performance information and the schedules of 

non-departmental activities that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate. We 

consider internal control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Ministry’s internal control. 

 

An audit also involves evaluating: 

 the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been 

consistently applied; 

 the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by 

the Director-General of Health; 

 the appropriateness of the reported non-financial performance information within 

the Ministry’s framework for reporting performance; 

 the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements, the non-financial 

performance information and the schedules of non-departmental activities; and 

 the overall presentation of the financial statements, the non-financial performance 

information and the schedules of non-departmental activities. 

 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 

financial statements, the non-financial performance information and the schedules of 

non-departmental activities. We have obtained all the information and explanations we 

have required and we believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit 

evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Director-General of Health 

The Director-General of Health is responsible for preparing: 

 financial statements and non-financial performance information that: 

– comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 

– fairly reflect the Ministry’s financial position, financial performance, cash flows, 

expenses and capital expenditure incurred against each appropriation and its 

unappropriated expenses and capital expenditure; and 
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– fairly reflect its service performance and outcomes 

 schedules of non-departmental activities, in accordance with the Treasury 

Instructions 2011 that: 

– comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

– fairly reflect those activities managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown. 

 

The Director-General of Health is also responsible for such internal control as is 

determined is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements and 

non-financial performance information and schedules of non-departmental activities 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

The Director-General of Health’s responsibilities arise from the Public Finance Act 

1989. 

Responsibilities of the auditor 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements, 

the non-financial performance information and the schedules of non-departmental 

activities and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility 

arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Public Finance Act 1989. 

Independence 

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the 

Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the 

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants. 

 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Ministry. 

 
Andy Burns, Audit New Zealand 

On behalf of the Auditor-General 

Christchurch, New Zealand 

 
Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements, non-financial performance information and schedules 

of non-departmental activities 

 

This audit report relates to the financial statements, non-financial performance information and schedules of non-departmental activities of the 

Ministry of Health for the year ended 30 June 2012 included on the Ministry of Health’s website. The Ministry of Health’s Director-General is 

responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Ministry of Health’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the 

Ministry of Health’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements, non-financial 

performance information and schedules of non-departmental activities since they were initially presented on the website.  

 

The audit report refers only to the financial statements, non-financial performance information and schedules of non-departmental activities named 

above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the financial statements, non-financial 

performance information and schedules of non-departmental activities. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 

electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial statements, non-financial performance 

information and schedules of non-departmental activities as well as the related audit report dated 27 September 2012 to confirm the information 

included in the audited financial statements, non-financial performance information and schedules of non-departmental activities presented on this 

website. 

 

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Financial statements 

Introduction to the financial reports 

The Ministry receives funding from Parliament for its own operations which is 

included in its departmental appropriations. 

 

The Ministry also receives and manages significant other appropriations to administer 

on behalf of the Crown to fund third party service providers including district health 

boards (DHBs) and non-governmental organisations (NGOs). The majority of this 

funding is for operational purposes with some being appropriated for capital 

expenditure. All the funding appropriated by Parliament and administered by the 

Ministry is known collectively as Vote Health. 

 

The Ministry receives additional funding for non-departmental operations in the 

annual budget. A major purpose of the additional health funding received each year is 

to recognise the effects of inflation and of demographic changes to the New Zealand 

population. New or reprioritised funding is also used to implement the Government’s 

new initiatives. 

 

Table 21: Departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure  

 2011/12 

$000 

2010/11 

$000 

% change 

 

Information and payment services* 74,899 39.5% 76,246 37.2% -1.8%  

Managing the purchase of services 33,860 17.8% − − − − 

Policy advice 14,065 7.4% − − − − 

Regulatory and enforcement services 22,518 11.9% − − − − 

Sector planning and performance 44,108 23.3% − − − − 

Other expenses – earthquake/storm damage 253 0.1% − − − − 

Regulatory and health emergency response* − − 36,888 18.0% − − 

Sector leadership and services* − − 51,161 24.9% − − 

Strategy, policy and systems performance* − − 40,937 19.9% − − 

Total 189,703  205,232  -7.6%  

* MCOA. 
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Table 22: Non-departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure  

 2011/12 

$000 

2010/11 

$000 

Percentage 

change 

DHB funding 10,498,886 78.7% 10,082,853 77.9% 4.1%  

Disability support – national 1,028,966 7.7% 970,784 7.5% 6.0%  

Public health service purchasing 436,751 3.3% 426,738 3.3% 2.3%  

Other non-departmental output classes 337,780 2.5% 393,455 3.0% -14.2%  

National elective services 265,056 2.0% 251,023 1.9% 5.6%  

Capital expenditure 283,956 2.1% 345,182 2.7% -17.7%  

Primary health care strategy 171,536 1.3% 174,789 1.4% -1.9%  

Health workforce training and development 155,749 1.2% 126,616 1.0% 23.0%  

National maternity services 136,408 1.0% 137,415 1.1% -0.7%  

Non-departmental expenses 31,516 0.2% 27,924 0.2% 12.9%  

Total 13,346,604  12,936,779  3.2%  

 



 

The notes set out on pages 119 to 150 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year 

ended 30 June 2012 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Income     

191,221 Revenue Crown  183,512 187,252 183,228 

17,737 Revenue other 2 15,650 17,364 16,581 

– Canterbury earthquake related income  4,668 – 4,663 

– Gain on sale of NRL 24 1,122 – – 

208,958 Total operating revenue  204,952 204,616 204,472 

 Expenditure     

109,790 Personnel costs 4 98,547 96,854 98,767 

11,948 Depreciation and amortisation expense  11,576 18,417 11,935 

2,355 Capital charge 5 2,502 2,512 2,502 

– Finance costs 6 –  – 

80,639 Other operating expenses 7 76,792 86,833 80,539 

464 Losses 3 33 – – 

36 Canterbury earthquake related expenditure 19 253 – 2,400 

205,232 Total expenditure  189,703 204,616 196,143 

3,726 Net surplus  15,249 – 8,329 

 Other comprehensive income     

1,558 Land and building revaluation reserve 15 (1,828) – – 

5,284 Total comprehensive income  13,421 – 8,329 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 25. 
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Statement of movements in taxpayers’ funds for the 

year ended 30 June 2012 

Actual 

 

2011 

$000 

 Note Actual 

 

2012 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

31,400 Balance at 1 July  31,718 43,254 30,161 

3,726 Surplus/(deficit) for the year  15,249 – 8,329 

1,558 Land and building revaluation reserve 15 (1,828) – 1,558 

5,284 Total comprehensive income  13,421 – 9,887 

– Capital injection for memorandum accounts 
opening balances 

23 4,882 – (879) 

(4,966) Operating surplus to be returned to Crown 12 (15,064) – (8,329) 

– Repayment of equity (NRL asset sales) 24 (878) 1,100 – 

31,718 Balance at 30 June 15 34,079 44,354 30,840 
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012 

Actual 

 

2011 

$000 

 Note Actual 

 

2012 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Taxpayers' funds     

29,890 General funds 15 29,012 44,084 29,012 

1,828 Land and building revaluation reserve 15 – 270 1,828 

– Memorandum accounts 15 5,067 – – 

31,718 Total taxpayers' funds  34,079 44,354 30,840 

 Represented by:     

 Assets     

 Current assets     

8,570 Cash and cash equivalents  9,848 8,000 9,500 

9,654 Debtors and other receivables 8 25,634 8,674 7,986 

2,145 Prepayments  1,867 1,015 2,686 

 Non-current assets     

21,667 Property, plant and equipment 9 15,338 18,588 18,443 

24,544 Intangible assets 10 27,838 28,776 28,916 

46,211 Total non-current assets  43,176 47,364 47,359 

66,580 Total assets  80,525 65,053 67,531 

 Liabilities     

 Current liabilities     

18,216 Creditors and other payables 11 19,195 11,527 18,932 

4,966 Operating surplus to be returned to Crown 12 13,942 – 8,329 

1,135 Provisions 13 2,904 2,187 1,731 

9,133 Employee entitlements 14 9,167 5,571 6,553 

 Non-current liabilities     

45 Provisions 13 45 – – 

1,367 Employee entitlements 14 1,193 1,414 1,146 

1,412 Total non-current liabilities  1,238 1,414 1,146 

34,862 Total liabilities  46,446 20,699 36,691 

31,718 Net assets  34,079 44,354 30,840 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 25. 
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 

2012 

Actual 

 

2011 

$000 

 Note Actual 

 

2012 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Cash was provided from:     

 Supply of outputs to:     

200,616 Crown  169,473 201,723 182,940 

2,342 Department  2,626 1,897 2,050 

11,747 Others  19,684 12,352 20,429 

(791) Net GST received/(paid)  618 – – 

213,914 Total cash provided from operating activities  192,401 215,972 205,419 

 Cash was disbursed to:     

 Produce outputs:     

(109,854) Personnel costs  (98,004) (100,067) (101,664) 

(78,199) Operating expenses  (72,758) (96,978) (84,622) 

(2,355) Capital charge  (2,502) (2,512) (2,502) 

(190,408) Total cash to operating activities  (173,264) (199,557) (188,788) 

23,506 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 

activities 

16 19,137 16,415 16,631 

 Cash flows from investing activities     

 Cash was provided from:     

13 Sale of property, plant and equipment  931 45 932 

– Gain on sale of NRL 24 1,122 – 1,122 

 Cash was disbursed to:     

(8,547) Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3,432) (5,000) (5,047) 

(7,791) Purchase of intangible assets  (9,512) (15,460) (8,907) 

(16,325) Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing 

activities 

 (10,891) (20,415) (11,900) 

 Cash was provided from:     

– Capital contribution from the Crown  – 1,100 1,167 

 Cash was disbursed to:     

(8,217) Repayment of surplus to the Crown  (4,968) – (4,968) 

– Repayment of surplus from NRL sale to the 
Crown 

24 (1,122) – – 

– Repayment of equity (NRL asset sales) 24 (878) – – 

(8,217) Total cash disbursed to financing activities  (6,968) – (4,968) 



 

The notes set out on pages 119 to 150 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Actual 

 

2011 

$000 

 Note Actual 

 

2012 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

(1,036) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents held 

 1,278 (2,900) 930 

9,606 Add cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the year 

 8,570 10,900 8,570 

8,570 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

year 

 9,848 8,000 9,500 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 25. 

 

The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid to and 

received from the Inland Revenue Department (IRD). The GST (net) component has 

been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful 

information for financial statement purposes and to be consistent with the 

presentation basis of the other primary financial statements. 

 

Statement of commitments as at 30 June 2012 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 Capital commitments  

9,356 Not later than one year 9,618 

28,180 Later than one year and not later than five years 26,643 

6,577 Later than five years 2,786 

44,113 Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 39,047 

44,113 Total commitments 39,047 

 

The Ministry has medium- to long-term leases on its premises in Auckland, 

Christchurch, Dunedin, Hamilton, Whanganui and Wellington. The annual lease 

payments are subject to regular reviews, ranging from one year to four years. The 

amounts disclosed above as future commitments are based on current rental rates. 

 

Statement of contingent liabilities and contingent 

assets as at 30 June 2012 

The Ministry had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2012 (2011: nil). 

 

The Ministry had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2012 (2011: $7.286 million). 

 



 

The notes set out on pages 119 to 150 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Statement of departmental expenses and capital 

expenditure against appropriations for the year 

ended 30 June 2012 

Expenditure after 

remeasurements 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

expenditure 

 

2012 

$000 

Voted^ 

appropriation 

 

2012 

$000 

 Vote: Health   

 Appropriations for output expenses   

76,246 Information and payment services MCOA 74,899 78,103 

36,888 Regulatory and health emergency response 
MCOA 

– – 

51,161 Sector leadership and services MCOA – – 

40,937 Strategy, policy and systems performance MCOA – – 

– Managing the purchase of services 33,860 37,744 

– Policy advice 14,065 14,546 

– Regulatory and enforcement services 22,518 24,038 

– Sector planning and performance 44,108 45,326 

– Other expenses – earthquake/storm damage 253 2,400 

205,232 Total appropriations for output expenses 189,703 202,157 

 Appropriation for capital expenditure   

16,336 Ministry of Health - permanent legislative 
authority 

12,944 13,954 

^ These amounts include adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates. 

 

Statement of unappropriated departmental 

expenditure and capital expenditure for the year 

ended 30 June 2012 

There was no unappropriated departmental expenditure for the year ended 30 June 

2012 (2011: nil). 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 

30 June 2012 

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 30 June 

2012 

Reporting entity 

The Ministry of Health (the Ministry) is a government department as defined by 

section 2 of the Public Finance Act 1989 and is domiciled in New Zealand. 

 

The primary objective of the Ministry is to act as the Government’s agent to fund, 

administer and monitor the delivery of health services to New Zealanders, rather than 

to make a financial return. Accordingly, the Ministry has designated itself as a public 

benefit entity for the purposes of New Zealand equivalents to International Financial 

Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 

 

The Ministry’s financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2012. The financial 

statements were authorised for issue by the Director-General of Health on 

27 September 2012. 

 

In addition, the Ministry has reported the activities and trust monies that it 

administers on behalf of the Crown. 

 

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Ministry have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989, which include the requirement to comply 

with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP), and Treasury 

Instructions. 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP as 

appropriate for public benefit entities and they comply with NZ IFRS. 

 

Accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods 

presented in these financial statements. 

 

Measurement base 

The measurement base applied to these financial statements is the historical cost basis 

modified by the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities as described in this 

statement of accounting policies. 
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Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars being the functional 

currency of the Ministry. Unless stated otherwise, all values are rounded to the nearest 

thousand dollars ($000). 

 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into New Zealand dollars using the 

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 

losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions are recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated at the 

rate of exchange applying at balance date. Any unrealised foreign exchange gains or 

losses resulting from such translation are recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. 

 

The accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise stated. 

 

Reporting period 

The reporting period for these financial statements is the year ended 30 June 2012. 

 

The budget forecast figures (Main Estimates) are the original figures for the financial 

year as presented in the 2011 Budget on 19 May 2011. The Supplementary Estimates 

figures are those budget figures as amended by the Supplementary Estimates (Supp. 

Estimates) as presented in the 2012 Budget on 24 May 2012 and as adjusted by any 

transfers made by Order in Council under section 26A of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

 

Judgements and estimations 

The preparation of financial statements is in conformity with NZ IFRS and requires 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 

to accounting estimates are recognised in the reporting period in which the revision is 

made and in any future periods that will be affected by those revisions. 

 

Revenue 

The Ministry derives revenue through the provision of outputs to the Crown and for 

services to third parties. Such revenue is recognised at fair value of consideration 

received. 
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Crown revenue is recognised monthly as the amount of funding required to cover the 

portion of appropriated output expenses not covered by other third party revenue. 

 

Other revenue from the supply of services is recognised by reference to the stage of 

completion of the transaction at balance date and only to the extent that the outcome of 

the transaction can be estimated reliably. 

 

Cost allocation 

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those 

costs that cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner with any one specific 

output. 

 

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs while indirect costs are allocated to outputs 

based on the level of activity associated with relevant cost drivers. 

 

Depreciation is primarily charged to business units on the basis of asset utilisation: the 

remainder is charged as indirect costs. 

 

There have been no changes in the cost allocation policy since the date of the last 

audited financial statements. 

 

Taxation 

As a government department, the Ministry is exempt from the payment of income tax 

in terms of the Income Tax Act 2007. Accordingly, no charge for income tax is 

recognised. 

 

Taxpayers’ funds 

The Crown’s net investment in the Ministry is shown as taxpayers’ funds in the 

Statement of Movements in Taxpayers’ Funds and the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

Memorandum accounts 

Memorandum accounts reflect the cumulative surplus/(deficit) on those departmental 

services provided that are intended to be fully cost recovered from third parties 

through fees, levies or charges. The balance of each memorandum account is expected 

to trend towards zero over time. 

 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, 

unless they are carried at fair value through surplus or deficit, in which case the 

transaction costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and 

other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 

less. 

 

Debtors and other receivables 

Short-term debtors and other receivables are recorded at their face value, less any 

provision for impairment. 

 

Impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the 

Ministry will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original term of the 

receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 

will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation, and default in payments are 

considered indicators that the debtor is impaired. The amount of the impairment is the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate. The carrying 

amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision for impairment account, 

and the amount of the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. Overdue receivables 

that are renegotiated are reclassified as current (that is, not past due). 

 

Property plant and equipment 

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Where an asset is 

acquired for nil or nominal consideration the asset will be recognised initially at fair 

value, where fair value can be reliably determined. The fair value of the asset received, 

less costs incurred to acquire the asset, is recognised as revenue in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. 

 

All individual assets or groups of assets are capitalised if their historical cost is $4,000 

or greater. 

 

Land is recorded at fair value less impairment losses. Buildings are recorded at fair 

value less impairment losses and less depreciation accumulated since the assets were 

last revalued. Valuations are based on either valuation undertaken in accordance with 

standards issued by the New Zealand Property Institute if available, or valuation 

conducted in accordance with the Rating Valuation Act 1998 that has been confirmed 

as appropriate by an independent valuer. 

 

Revaluations are carried out for the Ministry’s land and buildings to reflect the service 

potential or economic benefit obtained through control of the asset. Revaluation is 

based on the fair value of the asset, with changes reported by class of asset. 

 

Accumulated depreciation at revaluation date may be either restated proportionately or 

eliminated against the gross carrying amount so that the carrying amount after 

revaluation equals the revalued amount. The elimination approach is applied unless 

otherwise indicated. 
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All other asset classes are initially carried at depreciated historical cost, with a review 

of the carrying values of revalued items performed at each balance date to determine 

whether any material adjustment is required. 

 

Classes of property, plant and equipment subject to fair value review are revalued at 

least every three years or sooner where indicators suggest the carrying amount differs 

materially to fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the value of 

property, plant and equipment are recognised as at each balance date. To the extent 

that a gain reverses a loss previously charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income for the asset class, the gain is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income; otherwise gains are credited to the asset revaluation reserve for that class of 

asset. To the extent that there is a balance in the asset revaluation reserve for the asset 

class, any loss on revaluation is debited to the reserve to the extent that a balance 

remains in such reserve. All other losses on property, plant and equipment are reported 

in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

For each property, plant and equipment asset, project borrowing costs incurred during 

the period required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use are 

expensed. 

 

The carrying amounts of plant, property and equipment are reviewed at least annually 

to determine if there is any indication of impairment. Where an asset’s recoverable 

amount is less than its carrying amount, it will be reported at its recoverable amount 

and an impairment loss will be recognised. Losses resulting from impairment are 

reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income unless the asset is carried at a 

revalued amount in which case any impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease 

to the extent that the revaluation relates to the impaired asset class. 

 

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost 

or valuation of an item of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual 

value, over its estimated useful life. Typically, the estimated useful lives of different 

classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

 

 Useful life Depreciation rate 

Buildings 40 years 2.5% 

Motor vehicles 5 years 20% 

Furniture and fittings 5–10 years 10–20% 

Machinery 5 years 20% 

Leasehold improvements 5–10 years 10–20% 

IT equipment 3–5 years 20–33.3% 

Scientific equipment 5–10 years 10–20% 
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Additions 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and 

only if, it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with 

the item will flow to the Ministry and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated. 

 

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the sale proceeds with the 

carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts 

included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to 

retained earnings. 

 

Subsequent costs 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable 

that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to 

the Ministry and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an internally generated 

intangible asset represents expenditure incurred in the development phase of the asset 

only. The development phase occurs after the following can be demonstrated: technical 

feasibility; ability to complete the asset; intention and ability to sell or use; and where 

development expenditure can be reliably measured. Expenditure incurred on research 

related to an internally generated intangible asset is expensed when it is incurred. 

Where the research phase cannot be distinguished from the development phase, the 

expenditure is expensed when it is incurred. 

 

Software acquisition and development 

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred 

to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 

 

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use by 

the Ministry are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software 

development, employee costs, and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

 

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense 

when incurred. 

 

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently recorded at cost less any 

amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the Statement of 
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Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset. 

Typically, the estimated useful lives of assets are as follows: 

 

 Useful life Amortisation rate 

Software – internally generated 3–7 years 14.3–33.3% 

Software – other 3–7 years 14.3–33.3% 

Warranties 3 years 33.3% 

 

Realised gains and losses arising from disposal of intangible assets are recognised in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which the transaction occurs. 

 

Intangible assets are reviewed at least annually to determine if there is any indication 

of impairment. Where an intangible asset’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying 

amount, it will be reported at its recoverable amount and an impairment loss 

recognised. Losses resulting from impairment are recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. 

 

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets or disposal groups are separately classified where their carrying 

amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than continuing use; that is, 

where such assets are available for immediate sale and where sale is highly probable. 

These assets are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 

to sell. 

 

Creditors and other payables 

Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at their face value. 

 

Employee benefits 

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual leave, long service leave, retiring 

leave and other similar benefits are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income when they accrue to employees. Employee entitlements to be settled within 

12 months are reported at the amount expected to be paid. The liability for long-term 

employee entitlements is calculated on an actuarial basis at the present value of 

estimated future cash outflows. 

 

The Ministry’s sick leave liability has been calculated by an external independent 

actuary in accordance with The Treasury guidance note dated 11 October 2005. 

 

Termination benefits are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income only 

when there is a demonstrable commitment to either terminate employment prior to 

normal retirement date or to provide such benefits as a result of an offer to encourage 

voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits settled within 12 months are reported at 

the amount expected to be paid, otherwise they are reported as the present value of the 

estimated future cash outflows. 
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Obligations for contributions to the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme, 

Kiwisaver, and the Government Superannuation Fund are recognised in the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income as they fall due. Obligations for defined benefit retirement 

plans are recorded at the latest actuarial value of the Ministry’s liability. All movements 

in the liability, including actuarial gains and losses, are recognised in full in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur. 

 

ACC Partnership Programme 

The Ministry belongs to the Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) Partnership 

Programme whereby the Ministry accepts the management and financial responsibility 

for work-related illnesses and accidents of employees. Under the ACC Partnership 

Programme, the Ministry is effectively providing accident insurance to employees: this 

is accounted for as an insurance contract as the Ministry accepts liability for all its 

claims costs for a period of four years up to a specified maximum. At the end of the 

four-year period, the Ministry pays a premium to ACC for the value of residual claims, 

and the liability for ongoing claims beyond that point passes to ACC. 

 

The liability relating to the Ministry’s ACC Partnership Programme obligations is 

measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 

employee injuries and claims, for which the Ministry has responsibility up to the 

reporting date, using actuarial techniques. Consideration is given to expected future 

wage and salary levels and experience of employee claims and injuries to date, and may 

include a risk margin that represents the inherent uncertainty of the present value of 

the expected future payments. Expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields applying as at the reporting date based on government bonds with terms to 

maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

 

Leases 

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. 

 

Lease payments under an operating lease net of lease incentives received are 

recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 

received are recognised evenly over the term of the lease as a reduction in rental 

expense. 

 

Leasehold improvements are capitalised and the cost is amortised over the unexpired 

period of the lease, or the estimated useful life of the improvements whichever is 

shorter. 

 

Provisions 

The Ministry recognises a provision, based on probable cost, for future expenditure of 

uncertain amount or timing where there is a present obligation (either legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event. 
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Provisions are recorded at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. Provisions to be settled 

beyond 12 months are recorded at their present value. 

 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are recorded in the Statement of 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets at the point at which the contingency 

becomes evident. Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will 

crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets are disclosed if it is probable that the 

benefits will be realised. 

 

Commitments 

Expenses yet to be incurred on non-cancellable contracts that have been entered into 

on or before balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are 

equally unperformed obligations. Cancellable commitments that have penalty or exit 

costs explicit in the agreement on exercising that option to cancel are included in the 

statement of commitments at the value of that penalty or exit cost. 

 

Changes in accounting policies 

Accounting policies are changed only if the change is required by a standard or 

interpretation or otherwise provides more reliable and more relevant information. All 

policies have been applied on a basis consistent with the previous year. 

 

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not effective 

and have not been early adopted 

NZ IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements 

The amendments introduce a requirement to present, either in the statement of 

changes in equity or the notes, for each component of equity, an analysis of other 

comprehensive income by item. The Ministry has decided to present this analysis in 

note 15. 

 

FRS-44: New Zealand Additional Disclosures and Amendments to NZ IFRS to 

harmonise with IFRS and Australian Accounting Standards (Harmonisation 

Amendments) 

The purpose of the new standard and amendments is to harmonise Australian and New 

Zealand accounting standards with source IFRS and to eliminate many of the 

differences between the accounting standards in each jurisdiction. The main effect of 

the amendments to the Ministry is that certain information about property valuations 

is no longer required to be disclosed. 
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NZ IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will eventually replace NZ IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. NZ IAS 39 is being replaced through the 

following three main phases: Phase 1 Classification and Measurement, Phase 2 

Impairment Methodology, and Phase 3 Hedge Accounting. Phase 1 on the classification 

and measurement of financial assets has been completed and has been published in the 

new financial instrument standard NZ IFRS 9. NZ IFRS 9 uses a single approach to 

determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortised cost or fair value, 

replacing the many different rules in NZ IAS 39. The approach in NZ IFRS 9 is based 

on how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business model) and the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also 

requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the many different 

impairment methods in NZ IAS 39. The new standard is required to be adopted for the 

year ended 30 June 2016. The Ministry has not yet assessed the effect of the new 

standard and expects it will not be early adopted. 

 

The Minister of Commerce has approved a new Accounting Standards Framework 

(incorporating a Tier Strategy) developed by the External Reporting Board (XRB). 

Under this Accounting Standards Framework, the Ministry is classified as a Tier 1 

reporting entity and it will be required to apply full Public Benefit Entity Accounting 

Practices (PAS). These standards are being developed by the XRB based on current 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards. The effective date for public sector 

entities is expected to be for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. This 

means the Ministry expects to transition to the new standards in preparing its 30 June 

2015 financial statements. As the PAS are still under development, the Ministry is 

unable to assess the implications of the new Accounting Standards Framework at this 

time. 

 

Due to the change in the Accounting Standards Framework for public benefit entities, 

it is expected that all new NZ IFRS and amendments to existing NZ IFRS will not be 

applicable to public benefit entities. Therefore, the XRB has effectively frozen the 

financial reporting requirements for public benefit entities up until the new Accounting 

Standard Framework is effective. Accordingly, no disclosure has been made about new 

or amended NZ IFRS that exclude public benefit entities from their scope. 

 

Comparative figures 

When presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended or 

accounting policies are changed, comparative figures are restated to ensure consistency 

with the current period unless it is impracticable to do so. 

 

Segment reporting 

As a public benefit entity, the Ministry is not required to provide segment reporting. 
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Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables 

and payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable 

as input tax, then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 

 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue 

Department (IRD) as at balance date is included as part of receivables or payables in 

the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing 

and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash 

Flows. 

 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 

 

Note 2: Revenue – other 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

9,152 Medicines registration 8,215 

3,832 Service fees 2,274 

1,829 Annual licence and registration fees 1,853 

2,212 State Sector Retirement Saving Scheme recovery 2,113 

– Other departmental revenue 63 

712 Other 1,132 

17,737 Total revenue other 15,650 

 

Note 3: Losses 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

(464) Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (33) 

(464) Total losses (33) 
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Note 4: Personnel 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

102,064 Salaries and wages 91,710 

2,700 Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 2,558 

(776) Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (140) 

5,802 Other 4,419 

109,790 Total personnel costs 98,547 

 

Note 5: Capital charge 

The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June 

and 31 December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2012 

was 8.0 percent (2011: 7.5 percent). 

 

Note 6: Finance costs 

The Ministry has a policy of not entering into finance leases and as such incurs no 

significant finance costs. 
 

Note 7: Other operating expenses 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

364 Audit fees for the financial statements audit 352 

8,229 Operating lease payments 7,650 

9,470 Consultancy 7,119 

1,208 Maintenance 530 

41 ACC Partnership Programme (41) 

2,285 Asset write-offs 1,933 

1,240 Revaluation loss on property – 

57,802 Other operating expenses 59,249 

80,639 Total other operating expenses 76,792 
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Note 8: Debtors and other receivables 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

5,655 Debtors – Crown 24,577 

– Debtors – departments – 

3,323 Debtors – other 723 

8,978 Net debtors 25,300 

676 Accrued revenue 334 

9,654 Total debtors and other receivables 25,634 

 

The carrying value of debtors and other receivables approximates their fair value. 

 

As at 30 June 2012, all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and 

appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below: 

 

 2011 2012 

Gross 

$000 

Impairment 

$000 

Net 

$000 

Gross 

$000 

Impairment 

$000 

Net 

$000 

Not past due 8,903 – 8,903 25,154 – 25,154 

Past due 1–30 days 33 – 33 71 – 71 

Past due 31–60 days 31 – 31 4 – 4 

Past due 61–90 days (2) – (2) 46 – 46 

Past due >90 days 13 – 13 25 – 25 

Total debtors 8,978 – 8,978 25,300 – 25,300 

 

The Ministry has no provision for doubtful debts as at 30 June 2012 (2011: nil). There 

were no expected losses for the Ministry’s pool of debtors, based on analysis of the 

Ministry’s losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors at balance date. 
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Note 9: Plant, property and equipment 

 Land 

 

 

$000 

Buildings/ 

leasehold 

improvements 

$000 

Furniture 

plant and 

equipment 

$000 

Motor 

vehicles 

 

$000 

Computer 

hardware 

 

$000 

Total 

 

 

$000 

Cost or valuation       

Balance as at 1 July 2010 4,000 7,901 8,476 461 23,646 44,484 

Additions – 218 1,472 43 6,800 8,533 

Revaluation increase/ 
(decrease) 

(1,240) 1,558 – – – 318 

Disposals – (767) (563) (38) (87) (1,455) 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 2,760 8,910 9,385 466 30,359 51,880 

Balance as at 1 July 2011 2,760 8,910 9,385 466 30,359 51,880 

Additions  1,039 571 22 1,823 3,455 

Revaluation increase/ 
(decrease) 

 – – – – – 

Disposals – (1,835) (3,493) (77) (11,828) (17,233) 

Balance as at 30 June 2012 2,760 8,114 6,463 411 20,354 38,102 

Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses 

      

Balance as at 1 July 2010 – 3,554 5,552 199 16,527 25,832 

Depreciation expense – 641 703 59 4,012 5,415 

Eliminate on disposals – (615) (328) (31) (60) (1,034) 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 – 3,580 5,927 227 20,479 30,213 

Balance as at 1 July 2011 – 3,580 5,927 227 20,479 30,213 

Depreciation expense  710 682 62 5,597 7,051 

Eliminate on disposals  (35) (2,680) (62) (11,723) (14,500) 

Balance as at 30 June 2012 – 4,255 3,929 227 14,353 22,764 

Carrying amounts       

At 30 June 2010 4,000 4,347 2,924 262 7,119 18,652 

At 30 June 2011 2,760 5,330 3,458 239 9,880 21,667 

At 30 June 2012 2,760 3,859 2,534 184 6,001 15,338 

 

Following engineering assessment of the NRL building, the Ministry’s insurer 

determined that the building was not economic to repair, and made full settlement of 

the property. A provision has been made to reflect the impairment of the building. A 

provision has also been made to cover the future cost of demolition. The Ministry is 

still receiving some short term rental for 50 percent of the building, but it has no 

saleable value. 
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The land value has been impacted by some liquefaction and the value has been reduced 

to $2.760 million to reflect the impact of the damage. Whilst the value of the land is 

impacted, there is still some value as reconstruction is allowed. 

 

Note 10: Intangible assets 

 Acquired 

software 

 

$000 

Internally 

generated 

software 

$000 

Total 

 

 

$000 

Cost    

Balance as at 1 July 2010 22,265 35,637 57,902 

Additions 1,363 4,140 5,503 

Disposals (306) – (306) 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 23,322 39,777 63,099 

Balance as at 1 July 2011 23,322 39,777 63,099 

Additions – 9,512 9,512 

Disposals (1,304) (2,733) (4,037) 

Balance as at 30 June 2012 22,018 46,556 68,574 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 

losses 

   

Balance as at 1 July 2010 9,644 22,622 32,266 

Amortisation expense 4,256 2,256 6,512 

Disposals (223) – (223) 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 13,677 24,878 38,555 

Balance as at 1 July 2011 13,677 24,878 38,555 

Amortisation expense 2,478 2,047 4,525 

Disposals (869) (1,475) (2,344) 

Balance as at 30 June 2012 15,286 25,450 40,736 

Carrying amounts    

At 30 June 2010 12,621 13,015 25,636 

At 30 June 2011 9,645 14,899 24,544 

At 30 June 2012 6,732 21,106 27,838 

 

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s intangible assets nor are any 

intangibles pledged as security for liabilities. 
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Note 11: Creditors and payables 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

1,366 Creditors 6,465 

2,081 Income in advance 1,129 

13,495 Accrued expenses 9,708 

1,274 GST payable 1,893 

18,216 Total creditors and other payables 19,195 

 

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled in the 

following month. Therefore, the carrying value of creditors and other payables 

approximates their fair value. 

 

Note 12: Provision for repayment of surplus to the Crown 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

3,726 Net surplus/(deficit) before other expenses 15,249 

 Add:  

1,240 Revaluation (gains)/losses recognised in the net surplus  

– Less surplus of memorandum accounts (185) 

4,966 Total operating surplus to be returned to Crown 15,064 

– Repayment of proceeds of NRL sale to the Crown (1,122) 

4,966 Operating surplus to be returned to Crown 13,942 
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Note 13: Provisions 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 Current provisions are represented by:  

415 Restructuring – 

634 Performance incentive 147 

33 Project development – 

– Lease exit makegood 2,445 

– NRL building demolition 300 

53 ACC Partnership Programme 12 

1,135 Total current portion 2,904 

 Non-current provisions are represented by:  

45 ACC Partnership Programme 45 

45 Total non-current portion 45 

1,180 Total provisions 2,949 

 

Movements in provisions during the year 

 Restructuring 
 
 

$000 

Performance 
incentive 

 
$000 

Project 
development 

 
$000 

Lease exit  
makegood 

NRL 
building 

demolition 
$000 

ACC 
Partnership 
Programme 

$000 

Total 
 
 

$000 

Opening balance 
1 July 2011 

415 634 33 – – 98 1,180 

Additional 
provision made 

– 147 – 2,445 300 – 2,892 

Amounts applied – (391) – – – – (391) 

Unused amounts 
reversed 

(415) (243) (33) – – (41) (732) 

Closing balance 

30 June 2012 

– 147 – 2,445 300 57 2,949 

 

Performance incentive 

The estimated amount due to employees under the Ministry’s remuneration guidelines 

or employment contracts. 
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Lease make good 

In respect of a number of its leased premises, the Ministry is required at the expiry of 

the lease term to make good any damage caused to the premises and to remove any 

fixtures or fittings installed by the Ministry. In many cases, the Ministry has the option 

to renew these leases, which affects the timing of the expected cash outflows to make 

good the premises. 

 

NRL building write-off 

Following engineering assessment of the National Radiation Laboratory building in 

Christchurch, the Ministry’s Insurer determined that the building was not economic to 

repair, and made full settlement of the property. The property is now recorded in the 

Ministry’s books as having a value equivalent to its demolition cost. A provision has 

been made to cover the future cost of demolition. 

 

ACC Partnership Programme 

The liability for the ACC Partnership Programme is measured at the present value of 

expected future payments to be made with respect to employee injuries and claims 

received up until the reporting date using actuarial calculations. Consideration is given 

to expected future salary levels and experience of employee injuries and claims history. 

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields on national government 

bonds at the reporting date with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 

the estimated future cash outflows. 

 

The Ministry manages its exposure arising from the programme by promoting a safe 

and healthy working environment through: 

 implementing and monitoring health and safety policies 

 induction training on health and safety 

 actively managing work place injuries to ensure employees return to work as soon as 

practical 

 recording and monitoring workplace injuries and near-miss events to identify risk 

areas and implementing mitigating actions 

 identifying work hazards and implementing appropriate safety procedures. 

 

The Ministry has adopted a stop loss limit of 150 percent of the industry premium for 

the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: 123 percent). The stop loss limit meant the 

Ministry only carried exposure for total cost of claims up to $170,000 (2011: 

$178,000). The Ministry is not exposed to any significant concentrations of insurance 

risk as work related injuries are generally the result of an isolated event to an individual 

employee. 
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An external independent actuarial valuer, Mr Mark Weaver (FIANZ), has calculated the 

Ministry’s liability, and the valuation is effective as at 30 June 2012. The valuer has 

attested he is satisfied as to the nature, sufficiency and accuracy of the data used to 

determine the outstanding claims liability. There are no qualifications contained in the 

actuarial valuer’s report. 

 

The value of the liability is not material for the Ministry’s financial statements. Any 

changes in assumptions will not, therefore, have a material effect on these financial 

statements. 

 

Note 14: Employee entitlements 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 Current employee entitlements are represented by:  

6,044 Annual leave 5,817 

132 Sick leave 103 

799 Retirement and long service leave 782 

2,158 Accrued salaries 2,465 

9,133 Total current portion 9,167 

 Non-current employee entitlements are represented by:  

1,367 Retirement and long service leave 1,193 

1,367 Total non-current portion 1,193 

10,500 Total employee entitlements 10,360 

 

The present value of the retirement and long service leave entitlements depend on a 

number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of 

assumptions. Two key assumptions applied when calculating this liability were the 

discount rates and the salary inflation factors. Any changes in these assumptions will 

have significant impact on the carrying value of the liability. 

 

The discount rates used are taken from the Treasury’s centrally produced risk free 

discount rates. The methodology of how these rates are calculated is provided on the 

Treasury website. The short-term salary inflation factor has been determined after 

considering historical salary inflation patterns and current budgeting predictions. The 

long-term salary assumption is a Treasury-provided figure. 

 

If the discount rates were to differ by 1 percentage point from the Ministry’s estimates, 

with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the total liability would be 

an estimated average $63,701 higher/lower. 

 

If the salary inflation rates were to differ by 1 percentage point from the Ministry’s 

estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the total liability 

would be an estimated average $92,496 higher/lower. 
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Note 15: Taxpayers’ funds 

Taxpayers’ funds compromises two components: general funds and revaluation 

reserve. 

 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 General funds  

31,130 Balance at 1 July 29,890 

3,726 Net surplus/(deficit) 15,249 

 Transfer surplus of memorandum accounts (185) 

(4,966) Operating surplus to be returned to Crown (15,064) 

 Repayment of equity (NRL asset sales) (878) 

29,890 General funds at 30 June 29,012 

 Revaluation reserves  

270 Balance at 1 July 1,828 

1,558 Revaluation gains/(losses) on land and building (1,828) 

1,828 Land and building revaluation reserve at 30 June – 

 Memorandum accounts  

 Balance at 1 July  

 Capital injection for memorandum account opening balances 4,882 

 Surplus on memorandum accounts 185 

 Memorandum accounts at 30 June 5,067 

31,718 Total taxpayers’ funds 34,079 

 Revaluation reserves consist of:  

1,828 Land and building revaluation reserve – 

1,828 Total revaluation reserves – 
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Note 16: Reconciliation of the net surplus/(deficit) to the net cash 

from operating activities 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

3,726 Net surplus/(deficit) 15,249 

 Add/(less) non-cash items:  

11,948 Depreciation and amortisation expense 11,576 

3,548 Other non-cash items 1,166 

15,496 Total non-cash items 12,742 

 Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities:  

464 (Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 33 

 Gain on sale of NRL (1,122) 

464 Total items classified as investing or financing activities  (1,089) 

 Add/(less) movements in working capital items:  

(2,642) (Increase)/decrease in debtors and receivables 2,942 

9,395 (Increase)/decrease in debtor Crown (14,040) 

(1,179) (Increase)/decrease in prepayments 280 

384 Increase/(decrease) in creditors and other payables 1,399 

(1,362) Increase/(decrease) in provisions 1,794 

– Increase/(decrease) in deferred liabilities – 

(776) Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (140) 

3,820 Net movements in working capital items (7,765) 

23,506 Net cash from operating activities 19,137 

 

Note 17: Related party transactions and key management personnel 

Related party transactions 

The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government significantly 

influences the roles of the Ministry as well as being its major source of revenue. 

 

The Ministry enters into transactions with other government departments, Crown 

entities (including DHBs), and other state-owned enterprises on an arm’s-length basis. 

Those transactions are considered by the Ministry to have occurred within a normal 

supplier or client relationship on terms no more or less favourable than those which it 

is reasonable to expect the Ministry would have adopted if dealing with that entity at 

arm’s length in the same circumstances. Such transactions are considered not to be 

related party transactions and are not disclosed. 
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The following transactions were carried out with related parties. 

 There are no close family members of key management personnel employed by the 

Ministry. 

 During the year the Ministry contracted on behalf of the Crown with Te Runanga 

O Toa Rangatira for which the Deputy Director-General – Māori Health’s husband 

is Executive Director. The value of services provided under contract this year by 

Te Runanga O Toa Rangatira totalled $894,317 and were negotiated on normal 

commercial terms. The outstanding balance as at year end was $3,749. 

 During the year the Ministry contracted on behalf of the Crown with the New 

Zealand Guidelines Group for which the Acting Deputy Director-General – Sector 

Capability and Implementation is a board member. The value of services provided 

under contract during the year totalled $921,165 and were negotiated on normal 

commercial terms. There were no outstanding balances with this related party as at 

year end. 

 During the year the Ministry contracted on behalf of the Crown with NZ Council of 

Victim Support Inc, for which the Chief Financial Officer was on the national board 

until September 2011. The value of services provided under contract during the year 

totalled $585,000 and were negotiated on normal commercial terms. There were no 

outstanding balances with this related party as at year end. 

 

During the year the Ministry entered into transactions with some entities which had 

associations with members of the National Health Board. These transactions are 

considered by the Ministry to be within normal provider-funder arrangements or arms-

length commercial terms. The related-party disclosures for the National Health Board 

members are shown below. 
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National Health Board members 

Related-party disclosures for the year ended 30 June 2012 

Board 

member 

Interest Entity Total 

payables 

2012 

$000 

Outstanding 

payables at 

30/6/12 

$000 

Total 

receivables 

 

$000 

Outstanding 

receivables 

at 30/6/12 

$000 

Philip 
Jeffrey 
Brown 

National President Association of 
Salaried 
Medical 
Specialists 

0.05 0 0 0 

Committee Member 
of Paediatric 
Education 
Committee 

Royal 
Australasian 
College of 
Physicians 

26 0 0 0 

Robin 
Cooper 

Appointed member Auckland 
District Health 
Board 

1,290,612 5,332 720,904 3,644 

Appointed member Waitemata 
District Health 
Board 

1,460,235 4,453 396,449 2,430 

Chief Executive Ngati Hine 
Health Trust 
Northland 

3,895 256 0 0 

Board member – 
James Henare 
Research Centre 

University of 
Auckland 

3,823 318 10 0.08 

Mary 
Catherine 
Gordon 

Employee, 
Executive Director 
of Nursing 

Canterbury 
DHB 

1,655,306 11,414 636,607 2,866 

Member College of 
Nurses 
Aotearoa 

0.95 0.49 0 0 

Member Nurse 
Executives of 
NZ 

0.35 0 0 0 

Registered nurse Nursing Council 
of NZ 

46 46 0 0 

Desmond 
Francis 
Gorman 

Associate Dean, 
Professor of 
Medicine 

University of 
Auckland 

3,823 318 10 0.08 

Director and 
shareholder 

Gorman Health 
Services 
Limited 

223 0 0 0 
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Board 

member 

Interest Entity Total 

payables 

2012 

$000 

Outstanding 

payables at 

30/6/12 

$000 

Total 

receivables 

 

$000 

Outstanding 

receivables 

at 30/6/12 

$000 

Marion 
Margaret 
Guy 

Board member Bay of Plenty 
DHB 

701,041 1,408 291,600 813 

Board member Western Bay of 
Plenty PHO 

0 0 25 0 

Member NZ Health 
Practitioners 
Disciplinary 
Tribunal 

148 0 0 0 

Member NZ Nurses 
Organisation 

0.40 0 0 0 

Murray 
James 
Horn 

Board member Telecom NZ 2,250 0.046 0 0 

Director and 
shareholder 

Como Corp 
Limited 

81 0 0 0 

Thomas 
Harry 
Marshall 

Associate editor BMC Research 
Notes 

46,394 6,894 0 0 

Shareholder (until 
December 2011) 

Procare Health 
Limited 

2 0 0 0 

Murray 
Owen 
Milner 

Director Milner 
Consulting Ltd 

76 0 0 0 

Beverly 
Margaret 
O’Keefe 

Chair and member 
of negotiating team 
for DHB–PHO 
contract 
negotiations 

General 
Practice NZ 

146 0 0 0 

Hayden 
Paul 
Waretini 
Wano 

Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Executive Director 

Tui Ora Ltd 1,135 106 0 0 

Chair Health 
Sponsorship 
Council 

6,244 0 0 0 

Margaret 
Lesley 
Wilsher 

Hon Clinical 
Teacher, Faculty of 
Medical and Health 
Sciences 

University of 
Auckland 

3,823 318 10 0.08 

Chief Medical 
Officer 

Auckland DHB 1,290,612 5,332 720,904 3,644 

 

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment from 

related parties. 
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Key management personnel compensation 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

2,748 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,383 

– Post-employment benefits – 

– Other long-term benefits – 

160 Termination benefits – 

2,908 Total key management personnel compensation 2,383 

 

Note 18: Events after the balance sheet date 

There are no significant events after the balance date. 

 

Note 19: Canterbury earthquake related expenditure 

Following an engineering assessment of the National Radiation Laboratory building in 

Christchurch, the Ministry’s Insurer determined that the building was not economic to 

repair, and made full settlement of the property. As the building had previously been 

valued at almost zero, the Ministry was carrying a revaluation reserve. This has now 

been reversed. The impact on the operating statement is $253,000. A provision (of 

$300,000) has also been made to cover the future cost of demolition. The Ministry is 

still receiving some short term rental for 50% of the building, but it has no saleable 

value. 

 

The land value has been impacted by some liquefaction and the value has been reduced 

to $2.760 million to reflect the impact of the damage. Whilst the value of the land is 

impacted, there is still some value as reconstruction is allowed on the site in central 

Christchurch. 

 

Note 20: Financial instrument risks 

The Ministry’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks including 

market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Ministry has policies in place to manage 

the risk associated with financial instruments and continually seeks to minimise risk 

from exposure to financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions of 

a speculative nature to be entered into. 

 

Market risk 

Currency risk: Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a 

financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The 

Ministry has no significant exposure to currency risk on any financial instruments. 
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Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows 

from a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. 

The Ministry has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on any of its financial 

instruments. 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Ministry, 

causing the Ministry to incur a loss. 

 

In the normal course of business, credit risk arises from debtors and other accounts 

receivable, deposits with banks, and derivative financial instruments. 

 

In accordance with New Zealand Treasury policy, the Ministry is only permitted to 

deposit funds with Westpac Banking Corporation, a registered bank, and to enter into 

foreign exchange forward contracts with the New Zealand Debt Management Office. 

These entities have high market credit ratings. With respect to its remaining financial 

instruments, the Ministry does not have significant concentrations of credit risk. 

 

The Ministry’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instruments is 

represented by the total carrying amount of cash, cash equivalents, net debtors and 

derivative financial instrument assets. The Ministry holds no collateral as security 

against these financial instruments, including those that are overdue or impaired. 

 

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying value disclosed 

in the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

The Ministry held no bank overdraft facilities as at 30 June 2012, or incurred any 

overdrafts during the 2011/12 fiscal period. 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Ministry will encounter difficulty with raising liquid 

funds to meet its payment commitments as they fall due. 

 

In meeting its liquidity requirements the Ministry closely monitors its forecast cash 

requirements with expected cash drawdowns from the New Zealand Debt Management 

Office. The Ministry maintains a target level of available cash to meet its liquidity 

requirements. 

 

The table below analyses the Ministry’s financial liabilities that will be settled based on 

the remaining period at the balance date to the contracted maturity date. The amounts 

disclosed are the contracted undiscounted cash flows. 
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 Less than 

6 months 

 

$000 

Between 

 6 months and 

1 year 

$000 

Between  

1 and 5 years 

 

$000 

Over 5 years 

 

 

$000 

2011     

Creditors and other payables 18,216 – – – 

2012     

Creditors and other payables 19,195 – – – 

 

Note 21: Categories of financial instruments 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each of the 

NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement categories are as 

follows: 

 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 Loans and receivables  

8,570 Cash and cash equivalents 9,848 

9,654 Debtors and other receivables 25,634 

18,224 Total loans and receivables 35,482 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  

(18,216) Creditors and other payables (19,195) 

 

Note 22: Capital management 

The Ministry’s capital is its equity (or taxpayers’ funds) that comprise general funds 

and revaluation reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. 

 

The Ministry manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and general financial 

dealings in a prudent manner. The Ministry’s equity is largely managed as a by-product 

of managing income, expenses, assets, liabilities and its need to comply with both 

Government Budget processes and New Zealand Treasury instructions. 

 

The objective of managing the Ministry’s equity is to ensure the Ministry effectively 

achieves its goals and objectives, for which it has been established, while remaining a 

going concern. 
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Note 23: Memorandum accounts 

The change in accounting treatment of memorandum accounts has resulted in 

including the balances of each account as a component of the Ministry’s financial 

position. 

 

The total opening balance, $4,882,000 has been included as Equity as at 1 July 2011. 

 

The accumulated surpluses/(losses) during the year result in a net increase/(decrease) 

in the memorandum accounts of $185,000. 

 

Summary of memorandum accounts 

Opening balance  

National Radiation Laboratory 603 

Medsafe 4,859 

Problem Gambling (580) 

Opening equity balance 4,882 

2011/12 revenue and appropriation  

National Radiation Laboratory revenue 281 

Medsafe revenue 7,819 

Problem Gambling appropriation 773 

 8,873 

2011/12 expenditure  

National Radiation Laboratory expenditure 240 

Medsafe expenditure 7,803 

Problem Gambling expenditure 645 

 8,688 

Closing equity balance 5,067 

 

Problem gambling 

Since October 2004 the Ministry has, in accordance with the Gambling Act 2003, 

received an appropriation for problem gambling that over time is intended to be fully 

funded from the levies collected from the industry, on behalf of the Crown, by the IRD. 

The following table shows a comparison between the Ministry’s appropriation for, and 

actual expenditure on initiatives in relation to problem gambling and the levies 

collected to date. The balance in the problem gambling memorandum account as at 

30 June 2012 is $8.028 million. 
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 Appropriation^ 

 

 

$000 

Expenditure 

 

 

$000 

Balance 

 

 

$000 

Levies 

collected 

(IRD) 

$000 

Transition costs prior to introduction of levy 
strategy 

– 1,291   

Prior years non-departmental amount 117,134 109,286   

Prior years departmental amount 6,454 7,033 (580)  

Total to 30 June 2010 123,588 117,610  119,116 

2011/12 year non-departmental amount 19,864 17,942   

2011/12 year departmental amount 773 645 128  

Total for the year ended 30 June 2012 20,637 18,587  18,917 

Accumulated totals to June 2012 144,225 136,197  138,033 

^ Appropriation figures include both departmental and non-departmental budgeted amounts and exclude 

output expense budget amounts carried forward from one year to the following year. 

 

National radiation laboratory: licensing activities 

A memorandum account was established on 1 July 1998 for National Radiation 

Laboratory licensing activities required by the Radiation Protection Act 1965. The 

following table shows the amounts of revenue and expenses relating to licensing 

activities. 

 

Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 Licensing fees  

472 Balance at 1 July 603 

745 Revenue 281 

(614) Expenses (240) 

603 Balance at 30 June 644 

 

Medsafe 

Pursuant to the Medicines Act 1981, Medsafe derives third-party fee revenue from the 

medicines and pharmaceutical industry from licence applications to approve new or 

changed medicines, and for clinical trials. A memorandum account has been 

established effective from 1 July 2007 to match accumulated licence revenue collected 

against the expenses incurred to process applications. This information will be used to 

ensure that, over time, fees will be set at a level as to ensure revenue collected equates 

to equivalent levels of costs incurred. 
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Actual 

2011 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

$000 

 Medsafe  

4,325 Balance 1 July 4,859 

8,864 Revenue 7,819 

(8,330) Expenses (7,803) 

4,859 Balance 30 June 4,875 

 

Note 24: Sale of NRL 

During the year the National Radiation Laboratory was sold, resulting in lower revenue 

and expenses in the operating statement of the Ministry. The Ministry has retained the 

licensing function, which provides licences to the users of radioactive source. The 

laboratories were purchased by Environmental and Scientific Research (ESR) for 

$2 million dollars, which included $878,000 of net assets. The Ministry’s net equity 

reduced by $878,000 as a result of the sale. The Ministry returned to the Crown, 

during the year, $1.122 million representing the profit on sale, and $878,000 for the 

sale of the assets. The Ministry continues to purchase the Public Good services 

associated with the Laboratory from ESR for a cost of $1.6 million per annum, which 

was transferred from Departmental appropriations to Non Departmental as a result of 

the sale. The Land and Buildings occupied by NRL, were not part of the sale but have 

been rented to ESR on a short term basis. The property, has been written off, and can 

only be partially occupied following earthquake damage. 

 

Note 25: Explanation of major variances against budget 

Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s estimated figures are as follows. 

 

Statement of comprehensive income 

Revenue Crown 

Revenue Crown was lower than the previous year and the Main Estimates and 

Supplementary Estimates due to budget reductions from savings. 

 

Revenue other 

Revenue other was $2 million (12 percent less than the previous year due to sale of 

National Radiation Laboratory). 

 

Canterbury earthquake related income 

This is insurance proceeds arising from the Canterbury earthquake. 
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Personnel costs 

Personnel costs were lower by $11 million (10 percent) than the previous year due to 

lower staff numbers. The lower number target was planned for in the Main Estimates 

as part of the Ministry’s savings target. 

 

Depreciation 

The Main Estimates forecast that depreciation would increase by $7 million due to 

increased capital expenditure. This forecast was reduced in the Supplementary 

Estimates forecast due to delays in capital expenditure projects, including those carried 

forward from the previous year. 

 

Other operating expenses 

Actual expenditure was $4 million (5 percent) less than the prior year, and $4 million 

less than the Supplementary Estimates due to cost management of expenditure. 

Tighter internal rules were applied to some cost items during the year to achieve 

savings targets in future years. 

 

Statement of financial position 

Revaluation reserves 

The revaluation reserves have been reduced to nil due to the NRL building being 

written off as a result of the Canterbury earthquakes. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents, debtors and other receivables 

Crown debtors was $18 million higher than last year and $16 million higher than 

Supplementary Estimates due to changed cash requirements due to lower operating 

and capital expenditure and $5 million to provide for memorandum accounts 

(note 23). 

 

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment were lower than last year due to capital expenditure 

being lower than the depreciation write down. 

 

Repayment of surplus 

The repayment of surplus provision reflects the actual surplus generated from savings. 

At the time of budget setting budgets are presumed to be fully spent so no surplus is 

provisioned for. 
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Statement of cash flows 

Cash from operating activities 

Cash from operating activities was $4 million less than last year due to lower cash 

inflows ($22 million) and lower cash outflows ($18 million). The lower cash inflows 

was mainly due to drawing down $30 million less from the Crown partially offset by 

$8 million increased cash from others, including $5 million from insurance proceeds 

from the Canterbury earthquakes. The lower cash outflows arise from lower costs, 

$12 million from lower personnel costs and $6 million from other costs. 

 

Cash from investing activities 

Cash outflow from investing activities was $5 million less last year due to lower capital 

formation ($3 million) and proceeds from the sale of NRL ($2 million). 

 

Cash from financing activities 

Cash outflow from financing activities totalled $7 million comprising repayment of the 

2010/11 surplus ($5 million) and repayment of capital following the sale of NRL 

($2 million). 
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Non-departmental statements and schedules for 

year ended 30 June 2012 

The following non-departmental statements and schedules record the income, 

expenses, assets, liabilities, commitments, contingent liabilities, contingent assets and 

trust accounts that the Ministry manages on behalf of the Crown. 
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Statement of non-departmental expenses and 

capital expenditure against appropriations for the 

year ended 30 June 2012 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Vote Health: 

Appropriation for output expenses 

Health and disability support services 

for district health boards (DHBs) 

    

430,962 Northland DHB  447,987 448,202 448,097 

1,124,558 Waitemata DHB  1,173,790 1,172,846 1,173,791 

961,356 Auckland DHB  992,268 993,557 992,277 

1,058,245 Counties Manukau DHB  1,121,978 1,121,468 1,122,033 

872,148 Waikato DHB  918,893 924,120 918,893 

251,977 Lakes DHB  259,791 260,135 259,857 

544,162 Bay of Plenty DHB  567,609 567,474 567,745 

128,385 Tairawhiti DHB  133,819 133,429 133,859 

275,360 Taranaki DHB  282,559 282,865 282,627 

392,959 Hawke's Bay DHB  401,785 406,757 401,786 

185,626 Whanganui DHB  191,186 191,163 191,229 

409,407 MidCentral DHB  424,655 424,893 424,787 

320,061 Hutt Valley DHB  333,279 333,345 333,342 

597,437 Capital and Coast DHB  623,437 623,960 623,530 

108,153 Wairarapa DHB  112,592 112,529 112,593 

333,921 Nelson–Marlborough DHB  345,821 345,263 345,821 

109,818 West Coast DHB  112,998 113,013 113,027 

1,128,270 Canterbury DHB  1,178,937 1,167,291 1,179,148 

148,374 South Canterbury DHB  152,692 152,762 152,728 

701,674 Southern DHB  722,810 721,784 722,975 

10,082,853 Total health and disability support 

services for district health boards 

 10,498,886 10,496,856 10,500,145 
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Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

970,784 National disability support services  1,028,966 1,028,402 1,035,134 

426,738 Public health services purchasing 2.1 436,751 453,708 448,337 

1,800 Management of residual health liabilities 
and DHB term debt 

 1,900 1,900 1,900 

59,821 National child health services 2.2 77,768 68,130 78,990 

251,023 National elective services 2.3 265,056 260,056 265,056 

85,179 National emergency services  87,481 86,831 87,521 

8,211 National Māori health services  4,045 8,605 4,182 

137,415 National maternity services 2.4 136,408 147,307 139,504 

56,840 National mental health services 2.5 40,925 70,192 44,462 

150,035 National contracted services – other 2.6 92,979 111,262 93,419 

322 National advisory and support services  258 340 340 

14,834 Monitoring and protecting health and 
disability consumer interests 

 14,482 15,231 15,231 

6 Meningococcal vaccine  – – – 

– Health services funding 2.7 – 165,745 – 

16,407 Problem gambling services  17,942 17,864 19,864 

126,616 Health workforce training/development 2.8 155,749 155,549 160,787 

174,789 Primary health care strategy  171,536 178,771 171,571 

12,563,673 Total appropriations for non-

departmental output expenses 

 13,031,132 13,266,749 13,066,443 

 Appropriation for other expenses to 

be incurred by the Crown 

    

2,158 International health organisations  1,742 2,030 1,840 

858 Legal expenses  5,186 1,028 6,028 

24,908 Provider development  24,588 24,874 25,289 

27,924 Total appropriations for other 

expenses to be incurred by the Crown 

 31,516 27,932 33,157 
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Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Appropriation for capital expenditure     

62,960 Deficit support for DHBs 2.9 18,850 – 60,849 

64,119 Equity for capital projects for DHBs and 
the NZ Blood Service 

2.10 37,013 347,611 129,558 

– Health sector projects  – 2,665 2,665 

129,259 Loans for capital projects 2.11 213,030 68,043 310,864 

70,000 Refinance of DHB private debt  – – – 

15,344 Residential care loans  15,063 15,000 18,000 

3,500 Kenepuru interest-free loan  – – – 

345,182 Total appropriations for capital 

contributions to other persons or 

organisations 

 283,956 433,319 521,936 

– Response to significant health 
emergencies 

 – – – 

– Total appropriations for purchase or 

development of capital assets by the 

Crown 

 – – – 

12,936,779 Total appropriations  13,346,604 13,728,000 13,621,536 

 

Appropriation transfers under section 26A of the Public Finance Act 

1969 

There were no appropriation transfers under section 26A of the Public Finance Act 

1989 for the year ended 30 June 2012. 

 

Statement of unappropriated non-departmental 

expenditure and capital expenditure for the year 

ended 30 June 2012 

There was no unappropriated non-departmental expenditure for the year ended 

30 June 2012 (2011: $344,000). 
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Schedule of non-departmental income and capital 

receipts for the year ended 30 June 2012 

Non-departmental revenues and capital receipts are administered by the Ministry on 

behalf of the Crown. As these revenues are not established by the Ministry nor earned 

in the production of the Ministry’s outputs, they are not reported in the Ministry’s 

financial statements. 

 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Income     

 Reimbursement from the ACC+     

5,476 ACC – reimbursement of complex burns costs  5,985 7,579 7,579 

20,820 ACC – reimbursement of work-related public 
hospital costs 

 21,714 27,060 27,060 

253,586 ACC – reimbursement of non-earners’ account  262,965 255,516 255,519 

81,526 ACC – reimbursement of earners’ non-work-related 
public hospital costs 

 84,719 77,563 77,564 

52,660 ACC – reimbursement of motor vehicle-related 
public hospital costs 

 56,310 64,255 64,256 

2,984 ACC – reimbursement of medical misadventure 
costs 

 3,471 2,362 2,362 

4,791 ACC – reimbursement of self-employed public 
hospital costs 

 4,967 7,388 7,388 

421,843 Total ACC reimbursements 2.12 440,131 441,723 441,728 

158,796 Payment of capital charge by DHBs 2.13 163,043 158,464 158,464 

(20,084) Net surplus/(deficit) from DHBs*  (24,205) – – 

7,283 Other Crown entities surplus/(deficits)**  8,110 – – 

695 Crown health financing agency rental  450 651 651 

6 Crown health financing agency interest  – – – 

558 Miscellaneous  – – 1,800 

569,097 Total non-departmental income  587,529 600,838 602,643 

 Capital receipts     

11,076 Repayment of residential care loans 2.14 13,085 24,000 24,000 

304 Repayment of DHB debt  – – – 

12,499 Equity repayments by DHBs  10,638 12,499 12,499 

23,879 Total non-departmental capital receipts  23,723 36,499 36,499 

592,976 Total non-departmental income and capital 

receipts 

 611,252 637,337 639,142 
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+ Accident Compensation Corporation. 

* Based on unaudited financial statements of the 20 DHBs: accordingly these have not been reflected in 

the investments in Crown entities figure within the schedule of non-departmental assets. 

** Based on unaudited financial statements of the other non-DHB health sector Crown entities: 

accordingly these have not been reflected in the Investments in Crown entities figure within the 

schedule of non-departmental assets. 

 

Schedule of non-departmental assets as at 30 June 

2012 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Assets     

 Current assets     

88,146 Cash and cash equivalents 2.15 94,951 95,000 95,000 

67,407 Inventory 2.16 59,869 70,021 67,936 

 Debtors and other receivables:     

36,343 District health boards 2.17 4,474 28,863 10,000 

120,330 ACC 2.17 136,293 128,594 144,650 

176 Government departments 2.17 951 – – 

6,225 Others 2.17 4,910 1,310 2,545 

1,698 Prepayments  8,606 – – 

320,325 Total current assets  310,054 323,788 320,131 

 Non-current assets     

 Advances:     

37,130 Residential care loans 2.18 37,784 45,753 56,447 

22,453 Other advances 2.19 12,988 – – 

 Investments:     

– Leasehold land  – 2,631 – 

24,225 Other investments 2.20 24,225 23,275 24,225 

83,808 Total non-current assets  74,997 71,659 80,672 

404,133 Total non-departmental assets  385,051 395,447 400,803 
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In addition, the Ministry monitors a number of Crown entities (including the 20 

DHBs). The investment in those entities is recorded in the financial statements of the 

Government on a line-by-line basis. No disclosure of investments in Crown entities is 

made in this schedule. 

 

Schedule of non-departmental liabilities as at 

30 June 2012 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Note Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

Main 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

Supp. 

estimates 

2012 

$000 

 Liabilities     

 Current liabilities     

 Creditors and other payables:     

16,159 District health boards  24,225 – – 

– Other Crown entities  – – – 

– Other payables 2.21 38,161 – – 

 Accrued liabilities and provisions:     

217,687 District health boards 2.22 170,857 195,576 212,561 

2,259 Other Crown entities 2.22 1,607 – – 

150,270 Other accrued liabilities 2.22 156,472 241,012 175,000 

386,375 Total non-departmental liabilities  391,322 436,588 387,561 
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Schedule of non-departmental commitments as at 

30 June 2012 

The Crown has the following capital and operating commitments for the supply of 

goods and services. 

 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

 Capital commitments  

366,290 Property, plant and equipment – 

– Intangible assets – 

65,848 Other capital commitments 192,249 

432,138 Total capital commitments 192,249 

432,138 Total commitments 192,249 

 

Schedule of non-departmental contingent liabilities 

and contingent assets as at 30 June 2012 

Quantifiable contingent liabilities 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

18,155 Legal proceedings and disputes 20,355 

18,155 Total quantifiable contingent liabilities 20,355 

 

Legal proceedings and disputes 

Legal claims against the Crown are mainly seeking recompense in relation to perceived 

issues regarding treatment and care. The Crown is in the process of defending these 

claims. In the normal course of events previous experience indicates that any 

settlements are likely to be significantly less than the claims made. 

 

Contingent assets 

The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent assets as at 30 June 2012 (2011: 

nil). 
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Statement of trust monies for the year ended 

30 June 2012 

Actual 

2011 

 

$000 

 Actual 

2012 

 

$000 

 District Health Boards Deposit Trust Account*  

1,375 Balance as at 1 July 2011 808 

4,521,633 Contributions 5,086,377 

(4,521,579) Distributions (5,086,135) 

– Revenue – 

(621) Expenditure (172) 

808 Balance as at 30 June 2012 878 

* This trust account was set up to hold funds received from DHBs for the delivery of processing services 

and disbursements. 

 Another trust account was set up to hold deposits made by those new medicines applications that 

have been rejected by the Medicines Assessment Advisory Committee (MAAC). Deposits are made 

when applicants request the Medicines Review Committee to consider their objections to 

recommendations made by MAAC. Once the Medicines Review Committee has completed its review, 

these deposits are refunded to depositors subject to the deduction of any costs ordered by the 

Committee. There were no transactions during the year ended 30 June 2012 and the balance remains 

under $500.00. 
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Notes to the non-departmental statements and 

schedules 

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 30 June 

2012 

Reporting entity 

The non-departmental statements and schedules for the Crown: Vote Health have been 

prepared by the Ministry and present the public funds managed by the Ministry that 

are not incorporated in its financial statements. 

 

The Ministry is responsible for an effective and efficient management of revenue, 

expenditure, assets and liabilities on behalf of the Crown. These statements have been 

produced pursuant to the Public Finance Act 1989. 

 

Measurement system 

The non-departmental statements and schedules have been prepared on an historical 

cost basis modified by the revaluation of certain assets. 

 

Revenue and receipts 

Revenue from ACC recoveries and capital charges from DHBs is recognised when 

earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. 

 

Debtors and receivables 

Receivables from ACC recoveries are recorded at the value of the contract and agreed 

with ACC. Receivables from capital charges are recorded at estimated realisable value. 

 

Residential care loans 

The carrying value of residential care loans is based on an actuarial valuation, which 

was undertaken in May 2012. 

 

Inventory 

Inventories held for consumption in the provision for services are recorded at the lower 

of cost or current replacement cost. Any write-down from cost to replacement cost is 

recognised in the Statement of Non-Departmental Expenses and Capital Expenditure 

against appropriations. 

 

Investments 

Investments are recorded in the Schedule of Non-Departmental Assets at historical 

cost. The carrying value represents the aggregate of equity injections made by the 

Ministry less subsequent repayments of equity returned to the Crown. 
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Payables and provisions 

Payables and provisions are recorded at the estimated obligation to pay. 

 

Accrued expenses 

Accrued expenses are recorded at either the value of funding entitlements owing under 

Crown funding agreements or the estimated value of contracts already started but not 

yet completed. 

 

Financial instruments 

The Crown: Vote Health is party to financial instruments as part of its normal 

operations. These instruments include bank accounts, short-term deposits, debtors and 

creditors. All financial instruments are recognised in the Schedules of Non-

Departmental Assets and Non-Departmental Liabilities and all revenues and expenses 

in relation to financial instruments are recognised in the Schedules of Non-

Departmental Revenue and Non-Departmental Expenses. 

 

Goods and services tax (GST) 

All items in the financial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated 

exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST-

inclusive basis. In accordance with Treasury Instructions, GST is returned on revenue 

received on behalf of Crown, where applicable. However, an input tax deduction is not 

claimed on non-departmental expenditure. Instead, the amount of GST applicable to 

non-departmental expenditure is recognized as a separate expense and eliminated 

against GST revenue on consolidation of the Financial Statements and Government. 

 

Commitments 

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into 

as at balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally 

unperformed obligations. 

 

Budget figures 

The budget figures are consistent with the financial information in the Mains 

Estimates. In addition, these financial statements also present the updated budget 

information about the Supplementary Estimates. 

 

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident. 

 

Changes in accounting policies 

There have been no changes in accounting policies. 
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Events after the balance date 

There are no significant events after the balance date. 

 

Note 2: Explanation of major variances against budget 

Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s non-departmental appropriations 

within the Main Estimates are as follows. 

 

Schedule of non-departmental expenses and capital expenditure against 

appropriations 

Further explanations for some items, including a description of delivery against 

expected non-financial performance, is contained in the separate report prepared in 

accordance with Section 32A of the Public Finance Act. 

 

2.1 Public health services purchasing 

This appropriation is underspent by $11.586 million mainly due to delays with local 

authorities completing projects that would qualify for safe drinking water subsidies. 

 

2.2 National child health services 

The underspend of $1.222 million (2 percent of the appropriation) is due to the later 

than anticipated rollout of the School Based Health Service to some schools. 

 

2.3 National elective services 

Expenditure equals the supplementary estimate. 

 

2.4 National maternity services 

The underspend of $3.096 million (2 percent of the appropriation) is due to delays 

with the Better Maternity Data project. 

 

2.5 National mental health services 

The underspend of $3.538 million (8 percent of the appropriation) was due to the slow 

start of the youth forensic programme. The Youth Forensic Services Development 

Document was prepared pre- election but was not signed off until January 2012. There 

was also a delay in deciding the siting of the inpatient unit that will now go out to RFP 

in the 2012/13 financial year. 

 

2.6 National contracted services – other 

The underspend of $0.44 million (0.5 percent of the appropriation) was caused by 

minor variances in service costs. 
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2.7 Health services funding 

Health services funding is a contingency appropriation, from which, no spending is 

made directly. The appropriation of $166 million at mains was reduced to nil in 

Supplementary Estimates. Funding was transferred to various appropriations 

including deficit support for DHBs. Contingency funding not required was released for 

reinvestment in Budget 2012. 

 

2.8 Health workforce training/development 

The underspend of $5.038 million (3 percent of the appropriation) was mainly due to 

fewer than expected applications in this financial year for payment from the Voluntary 

Bonding Scheme. 

 

2.9 Deficit support for DHBs 

The initial budget was zero as funding is held in Health Services Funding until 

Ministers have agreed DHB annual plans. $60.8 million was transferred in the 

Supplementary Estimates. Actual expenditure was less than this amount due to better 

than planned financial performance by DHBs. 

 

2.10 Equity for capital projects for DHBs and the New Zealand Blood 

Service 

The Main Estimates of $348 million was reduced in the Supplementary Estimates to 

$130 million through the transfer out of $280 million to Loans for Capital Projects 

appropriation and the transfer in of $61 million of under spends. 

 

The actual expenditure was lower than expected, due to DHBs delaying their 

requirement for equity because of changes in their funding requirements. 

 

2.11 Loans for capital projects 

The Main Estimates of $68 million was increased in the Supplementary Estimates to 

$311 million through the transfer in of $280 million from Equity for capital projects for 

DHBs and the New Zealand Blood Service to Loan appropriation and expense transfers 

out of $37 million of under spends. 

 

The actual expenditure was lower than expected, due to DHBs delaying their 

requirement for loan funding because of changes in their funding requirements. 

 

Schedule of non-departmental income and capital receipts 

2.12 ACC reimbursements 

The increase in ACC payments in 2011/12 was due to an increase in contractual value. 
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2.13 Payment of capital charge by DHBs 

The actual capital charge to DHBs was $4.6 million more that the Main Estimates due 

to DHBs net assets being slightly higher that estimated. 

 

2.14 Repayment of residential care loans 

The repayments were lower than expected due to less people exiting the system. 

 

Schedule of non-departmental assets 

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash holdings equal the Estimates and are $7 million higher than last year. 

 

2.16 Inventory 

Stocks of vaccines are $8 million less than last year and the Supplementary Estimates 

through the write down of expired vaccines. 

 

2.17 Debtors and other receivables 

The debtors and other receivables actual are $16 million lower than last year and 

$11 million less the Supplementary Estimates. The actual indebtedness of DHBs has 

reduced due to changes in the payment requirements. Increased ACC indebtedness 

arises because of increases in the contracted revenue. 

 

2.18 Residential care loans 

The residential care loans was close to last year’s closing balance. 

 

2.19 Other advances 

Other Advances are $9 million less than last year due to the partial repayment of a 

loan. The Estimates for Other Advances were combined with estimates for residential 

care loans – see note 2.18. 

 

2.20 Other investments 

There is no variance. 

 

Schedule of non-departmental liabilities 

2.21 Other payables 

These liabilities comprise liabilities assumed by the Ministry upon the 

dis-establishment of the Crown Health Financing Agency and the Mental Health 

Commission. These liabilities could not be anticipated in the Supplementary Estimates 

as no decision had been made on the dis-establishment of these entities. 
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2.22 Accrued liabilities and provisions 

Accrued liabilities decreased by $41.3 million over last year and were $58.6 million less 

than the Supplementary Estimates due to a reduced level of provisions and accruals. 
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Health and Independence 

Report 2012 – The Director-

General of Health’s Annual 

Report on the State of Public 

Health 

Purpose of this report 

The Health and Independence Report (the Report) fulfils the responsibility of the 

Director-General of Health under section 3C of the Health Act 1956 to report annually 

to the Minister of Health on the current state of public health in New Zealand. The 

Report accompanies the Ministry of Health’s Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 

2012. 

 

The approach taken in the Report is to consider the current state of public health in 

three main sections: 

 health status 

 factors that influence our health 

 health system performance. 

 

Overview 

The health and disability system is complex and diverse. Every day tens of thousands of 

people interact with the system, as health professionals, service providers or members 

of the public. The number and nature of these interactions is captured by the following 

examples. In the year to 30 June 2012: 

 61,031 people were born 

 29,204 people died 

 67.7 million prescription items were dispensed 

 24.7 million laboratory tests were performed 

 there were approximately 14.0 million general practitioner visits 

 there were approximately 1.0 million emergency department attendances 

 there were nearly 1.1 million in/day patient hospital discharges 

 there were 240,000 elective in/day patient admissions, of which 146,000 were for 

surgical elective services. 
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Overall, the health of New Zealanders continues to improve. Life expectancy continues 

to increase, due largely to reductions in cardiovascular disease mortality. Declines in 

cardiovascular disease mortality are due to both primary prevention (eg, reduced 

exposure to risk factors such as smoking and saturated fat intake) and better medical 

care such as lipid-lowering medications and surgical procedures. 

 

Cancer mortality is slowly but steadily decreasing and cancer survival is improving. 

These improvements are due to a combination of factors, including primary 

prevention, earlier detection and better treatments. For example, the decline in 

smoking has contributed to lower lung cancer mortality in males. Earlier detection and 

better treatments have contributed to improvements in five-year survival from breast 

cancer. 

 

At the same time, the health sector faces many challenges. Our population is ageing, 

obesity and diabetes rates are increasing, mental health conditions are common in 

young people and youth suicide rates are high by international standards, and many 

children live in overcrowded or poor-quality houses, so increasing their risk of 

infectious diseases. In addition, substantial ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in 

health status still exist in New Zealand. 

 

The six national health targets have helped focus the health system. Good progress has 

been made in improving access to elective services, shorter waits for cancer treatment, 

shorter stays in emergency departments, increased immunisation of two year olds, and 

better help for hospitalised smokers to quit. 

 

New Zealand's health sector has managed well during the aftermath of the global 

financial crisis. While some OECD countries have been forced to cut government health 

spending, leading to significant impacts for health services and staff, New Zealand has 

slowed expenditure growth without needing to reduce health services or cut the 

number of clinical staff. 

 

Finally, the level of trust and confidence in the health system has improved markedly in 

recent years. Most New Zealanders are confident that if they became seriously ill, they 

would get effective treatment, including drugs and diagnostic tests, and nearly three 

quarters of health care users are satisfied with a range of health services received. 

 

Note on indicators, sources and data 

The Ministry is continually striving to improve and expand the indicators it uses to 

analyse the state of public health in New Zealand. 

 

All data reported are the latest available. The time lag between the most recent data 

and the present can be substantial. For example, the most recent disability prevalence 

data are for 2006, because these figures are only updated following each Census, and 

the 2011 Census was deferred to 2013. 
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International benchmarking can provide valuable insights into the current state of 

public health and systems performance. However, comparisons made using such 

indicators need to be interpreted with caution because of differences in how individual 

countries collect data and define indicators. 

 

Areas where future reports are likely to be better placed to provide evidence-based 

commentary on the current state of public health are: 

 integration across the primary and secondary health sectors 

 better measures of patient experience 

 a greater focus on children’s health. 

 

Sources of information that are likely to assist with these areas of development include 

the continuous New Zealand Health Survey, which will report on an annual basis from 

November 2012. The 2011/12 New Zealand Health Survey included an expanded set of 

questions on patient experience. Results from the New Zealand Burden of Disease 

Study, which will be released mid 2013, will provide comprehensive information on the 

burden of over 200 diseases, injuries and risk factors in New Zealand. 

 

Other potential sources of information include the Well Child Tamariki Ora and Before 

School Check data; reports on progress towards achieving Better Public Services 

health-related targets; and interRAI information (a tool for the clinical assessment of 

older people which will provide insight into their disability support needs). 
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Section 1: Health status 
This section presents the most recent information on the health status of New 

Zealanders. It covers overall health, major causes of morbidity and mortality, and the 

major health conditions that impact on health status. The range of indicators covered 

in this section demonstrates the diversity and complexity of issues the health and 

disability sector must respond to every day. 

 

Overall health 

Health expectancy, life expectancy, infant mortality, and the prevalence of disability are 

major indicators of the health status of the whole population. 

 

Health expectancy at birth 

Health expectancy is the number of years a person can expect to live in good health if 

current age-specific mortality and morbidity rates persist. It is a summary measure of 

health status that captures two dimensions of health: quantity of life (mortality) and 

quality of life (morbidity). The measure of health expectancy used here is independent 

life expectancy at birth – that is, the number of years an individual can be expected to 

live without functional limitation (disability) requiring assistance. 

 

From 1996 to 2006 New Zealanders’ health expectancy increased by 2.7 years for males 

and 1.7 years for females (Ministry of Health and Statistics New Zealand 2009). In 

2006 health expectancy was 67.4 years for males and 69.2 years for females. 

 

Health expectancy differs by ethnicity. In 2006 health expectancy for Māori males and 

females was 6.8 and 6.2 years lower than for non-Māori males and females, 

respectively. 

 

Life expectancy at birth 

Life expectancy at birth – the average number of years a person born today can expect 

to live, if current age-specific mortality rates persist – is a summary measure of 

population survival. 

 

For both male and female New Zealanders, life expectancy at birth continues to 

increase (Figure 22). From 1996 to 2010 life expectancy at birth increased by 4.7 years 

for males and 3.1 years for females. In 2010 life expectancy at birth was 79.1 years for 

males and 82.8 years for females. 
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New Zealand compares well with other similar countries for life expectancy. For males, 

life expectancy at birth is well above the 2010 OECD average of 77.0 years, putting New 

Zealand males in the best third of OECD countries. For females, life expectancy at birth 

is slightly above the 2010 OECD average of 82.5 years, putting New Zealand females in 

the middle third of OECD countries (OECD 2012). 

 

Figure 22: Life expectancy at birth, by sex, 1950–52 to 2009–11 
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Source: Statistics New Zealand Life Tables 

Note: The 2011 values are linear extrapolations of annual data from 2001–2008. 

 

Life expectancy is improving for Māori. From 1996 to 2006 it increased from 66.6 to 

70.4 years for Māori males (a gain of 3.8 years) and from 71.3 to 75.1 years for Māori 

females (a gain of 3.8 years). The gap between Māori and non-Māori narrowed by 

approximately 0.2 years for males and 1.4 years for females during this period, but in 

2006 life expectancy was still 8 to 9 years lower for Māori than for non-Māori. 

 

Socioeconomic status is also an important determinant of life expectancy, even within 

ethnic groups. For example, life expectancy for Māori males living in the least 

socioeconomically deprived areas (NZDep2006 quintile 1) is 8.8 years higher than for 

Māori males living in the most socioeconomically deprived areas (NZDep2006 

quintile 5). 
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Infant mortality 

The New Zealand infant mortality rate (deaths of children under one year old) has 

declined steadily from the 1950s to the mid 1990s. However, as shown in Figure 23, the 

rate of decline has slowed over the last decade for both the total population and Māori. 

In 2009 the infant mortality rate was 5.2 deaths per 1000 live births. In the same year, 

the infant mortality rate for Māori was 7.4 per 1000 live births. 

 

Figure 23: Infant mortality per 1000 live births, Māori and total population, 

1996–2009 
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Source: Ministry of Health 

 

Based on data from 2006 to 2008, about 45 percent of infant deaths occur in the early 

neonatal period (0–7 days), about 10 percent are in the late neonatal period (7–27 

days) and the remainder are in the post-neonatal period (28 days to 1 year). 

 

New Zealand’s infant mortality rate is higher than in similar countries. In 2010 our 

infant mortality rate was higher than the OECD average (which is 4.3 per 1000) and we 

ranked in the worst third of OECD countries (OECD 2012). 

 

Life expectancy at age 65 years 

Life expectancy changes throughout life. Once someone has survived birth, childhood 

and adolescence, their chance of reaching older age increases. In 2010, a male New 

Zealander aged 65 years could expect to live to 83.8 years (another 18.8 years) and 

female New Zealanders could expect to live to 86.2 years (another 21.2 years). 
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Life expectancy at age 65 years is improving for Māori, but remains 4 to 5 years lower 

than that for non-Māori. From 1996 to 2006 (the most recent data for Māori), life 

expectancy at age 65 years increased from 11.7 to 13.8 years for Māori males (a gain of 

2.1 years) and from 14.1 to 16.1 years for Māori females (a gain of 2.0 years). During 

this period, the gap between Māori and non-Māori narrowed by 0.4 years for females, 

but increased by 0.3 years for males. 

 

New Zealand’s life expectancy at 65 years of age compares well with similar countries. 

For New Zealand males it was above the 2010 OECD average of 17.4 years and we 

ranked in the best third of OECD countries. For New Zealand females, life expectancy 

at age 65 years was higher than the OECD average of 20.7 years and we ranked in the 

middle third of OECD countries (OECD 2012). 

 

Disability 

Disability requiring assistance is defined as experiencing an impairment that requires 

some kind of regular help from other people, or technical aids. 

 

Approximately 10 percent of New Zealanders had a disability requiring assistance in 

2006 (the most recent year for which data are available), a similar proportion to that 

found in the 1996 and 2001 Disability Surveys (see Table 23). 

 

Table 23: Disability requiring assistance, Māori and non-Māori by sex, 1996, 2001 

and 2006 

 Males Females 

Māori 

(%) 

Non-Māori 

(%) 

Total 

(%) 

Māori 

(%) 

Non-Māori 

(%) 

Total 

(%) 

1996 13.1 9.3 9.9 13.7 9.5 10.1 

2001 13.5 9.9 10.7 14.4 8.9 9.7 

2006 10.2 9.6 9.7 10.4 11.2 11.1 

Sources: 1996 Disability Survey; 2001 and 2006 Household Disability Surveys; 2001 and 2006 Disability 

Surveys of Residential Facilities 

 

Rates of disability increase with age. In 2006 people aged 65 years and over had the 

highest prevalence of disability (45 percent), compared with 10 percent for children 

aged 0–14 years. 

 

Independence for older people 

There is good evidence that people who continue to live in their own home – with 

personal care and home management support if necessary – experience greater 

wellbeing. In addition, most older people prefer to stay in their own home, and this 

arrangement is usually less expensive than residential care. 
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Over the last five fiscal years, the proportion of New Zealanders aged 85 years and 

older living in aged residential care has remained relatively stable (see Table 24). 

However, the number of people aged 85 years and older living in aged residential care 

has increased, reflecting the growing size of the population aged 85 years and older. 

 

Table 24: Number and percentage of the population aged 85 years and older living 

in residential care, 2006/07–2011/12 

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Number of people aged 85+ years 
living in aged residential care 

15,133 14,962 15,078 15,650 17,573 18,233 

Percent of people aged 85+ years 
living in aged residential care 

26.0 24.7 23.9 23.8 25.7 25.5 

Source: Ministry of Health payments data (with estimates of fully private payers) 

 

Major causes of morbidity and mortality 

This section outlines major causes of morbidity and mortality in New Zealand across 

the life cycle. 

 

Infants and children 

The main reasons for hospital admissions among New Zealand children are injury, 

gastroenteritis and respiratory infections. The most common long-term condition in 

childhood is asthma, affecting around 15 percent of children aged under 15 years. 

Infectious diseases such as rheumatic fever, measles, meningococcal disease and 

pertussis continue to be a problem for children. Some of these infectious diseases are 

vaccine-preventable. In addition, hospital admissions for childhood skin infections 

have increased in recent years. 

 

The proportion of deaths in New Zealand infants and children aged 0–4 years is low 

relative to the overall population, at less than 2 percent. Leading causes of death in 

infants and children are perinatal conditions, congenital abnormalities and injury. 

 

Young people 

Mental health conditions such as depression, anxiety and substance abuse occur at 

significant levels in young people (15–24 years) in New Zealand. Mental health 

conditions can be both a cause and a consequence of some risk behaviours, such as 

alcohol use and illicit drug use. 
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Many risk behaviours are either initiated (eg, tobacco use and hazardous drinking) or 

worsen (eg, poor diet and physical inactivity) in this age group. The short-term 

consequences of these risk behaviours include injury (eg, road traffic accidents), 

sexually transmitted infections and teen pregnancies. If not addressed, many of these 

risk behaviours persist into adulthood and contribute to the development of long-term 

conditions. 

 

The proportion of deaths in young people is low relative to the overall population, at 

less than 2 percent. Major causes of death include injury (eg, through road traffic 

accidents, drowning and poisoning) and suicide (see the section on ‘Mental health’). 

 

Adults 

Each year, approximately 20 percent of deaths in New Zealand occur in people aged 

25–64 years. Leading causes of death in young adults (25–44 years) include road 

traffic accidents, suicide and ischaemic heart disease. In middle-aged adults (45–64 

years), the leading causes of death are ischaemic heart disease, lung cancer, stroke, 

suicide and type 2 diabetes. 

 

While long-term conditions such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer and 

chronic respiratory disease emerge in adults, the risk factors for these conditions (eg, 

smoking, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity and harmful use of alcohol) begin much 

earlier. 

 

Older people 

Each year, approximately 75 percent of deaths in New Zealand occur in older people 

(65+ years). The leading causes of death are cardiovascular diseases, cancers and 

chronic respiratory diseases. While mortality rates for major long-term conditions such 

as cardiovascular disease and (more recently) cancer are declining, the number of 

people with these conditions is stable or increasing due to demographic change 

(population size and ageing). 

 

The size of the population aged 65 years and older is increasing as the ‘baby boomer’ 

generation enters old age. In addition, the population is ageing because life expectancy 

at age 65 years is increasing (see the section on ‘Overall health’). The number of people 

aged 65 years and older is projected to increase by about 60 percent between 2011 and 

2026. In contrast, the number of people aged less than 65 years is projected to increase 

by only 5 percent during the same period. The increasing population aged 65 years and 

older has major implications for the health sector, as this age group makes up a large 

proportion of general practice consultations, acute hospitalisations, placements in 

long-term home-based and residential care, and deaths. 
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Cardiovascular disease 

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death in New Zealand. The term 

‘cardiovascular disease’ covers a range of diseases related to the circulatory system, 

including ischaemic heart disease (also known as coronary heart disease) and 

cerebrovascular disease (or stroke). Ischaemic heart disease is the narrowing or 

blocking of the coronary arteries that supply blood and oxygen to the heart, resulting in 

angina and heart attack. Stroke refers to the sudden interruption of the blood supply to 

the brain that can cause permanent damage. The interruption of the blood supply can 

be caused by either blood clots (ischaemic stroke) or bleeding in the brain 

(haemorrhagic stroke). In New Zealand, the majority of strokes are due to blood clots. 

 

Cardiovascular diseases are largely preventable. Modifiable risk factors include tobacco 

smoking, poor diet (especially high saturated fat and sodium intakes), physical 

inactivity, obesity, high blood cholesterol, high blood pressure and poorly controlled 

diabetes. For those with cardiovascular disease, morbidity and mortality can be 

reduced through early intervention and effective management. These services are 

actively offered through the public health system (the health target ‘more heart and 

diabetes checks’ is discussed in ‘Health targets and better public services results’, 

Section 3). 

 

Ischaemic heart disease 

In 2006/07 the prevalence of ischaemic heart disease10 was 5.2 percent in adults, with 

rates slightly higher in males than females (6.1 percent versus 4.3 percent) (Ministry of 

Health 2008). This equates to about 161,000 adults with ischaemic heart disease in 

2006/07. Ischaemic heart disease was more prevalent among older people, with one in 

four (26 percent) adults aged 75 years and older having ischaemic heart disease. 

 

Cardiovascular disease mortality 

In 2009 cardiovascular diseases accounted for 10,372 deaths, which was over one-third 

(35.5 percent) of all deaths in New Zealand (Ministry of Health 2012a). Of the different 

cardiovascular diseases, ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause of death (5553 

deaths; 19 percent of all deaths), followed by stroke (2488 deaths; 8.5 percent of all 

deaths). 

 

In 2009 New Zealand’s ischaemic heart disease mortality rate was slightly higher than 

the OECD average and we ranked amongst the worst third of OECD countries (OECD 

2011). 

 

 

10 Ischaemic heart disease was defined as having had a heart attack requiring hospitalisation 

and/or having angina. 
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Cardiovascular disease mortality in New Zealand has declined steadily since the late 

1960s. In the last 20 years, the cardiovascular disease mortality rate for the total 

population has halved, declining from 265 deaths per 100,000 in 1990 to 131 deaths 

per 100,000 in 2009. Cardiovascular disease mortality rates are higher in males than 

females, although this difference has narrowed since 1990 (see Figure 24). While the 

cardiovascular disease mortality rate continues to decline, the number of deaths from 

cardiovascular disease each year is relatively stable due to growth in the number of 

older people (where more cardiovascular deaths occur). 

 

Figure 24: Cardiovascular disease mortality rates, by sex, 1990–2009 
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Source: New Zealand Mortality Collection 

Note: Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the WHO world standard population. 

 

Cardiovascular disease mortality rates have decreased in all ethnic groups, although 

rates for Māori and Pacific peoples continue to be significantly higher than those for 

the total population. In 2009 the cardiovascular mortality rate for Māori was 239 per 

100,000 and for Pacific peoples was 217 per 100,000. 

 

The decrease in cardiovascular disease mortality is due to a reduction in both tobacco 

smoking and saturated fat intake (see ‘Risk factors’ in Section 2), as well as 

improvements in medical care (eg, medications and surgical procedures). While the 

decrease in cardiovascular disease mortality over the last few decades is a success story 

for the health and disability system, the future challenge is to ensure that this declining 

trend continues despite the recent increases in obesity (see ‘Obesity’) and diabetes (see 

‘Diabetes’). 

 



 

 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 177 
 including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Stroke 

Stroke is the third-largest cause of death in New Zealand and a major cause of long-

term adult disability. In 2009 there were 2488 deaths (62 percent of them females) due 

to stroke (Ministry of Health 2012a). About 80 percent of strokes occurred in people 

aged 75 years and over. About one-third of people who survive a stroke will rely on 

others for assistance with the activities of daily living.11 

 

Stroke mortality has decreased in all OECD countries (except Poland) since 1980 

(OECD 2011). The reduction is attributable to reduced risk factors (notably smoking 

and hypertension) and improvements in medical treatment. In 2009 New Zealand’s 

stroke mortality rate was lower than the OECD average. 

 

Diabetes 

Diabetes is characterised by raised blood glucose due to insulin deficiency, insulin 

resistance or both. Diabetes can lead to cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, 

blindness, and vascular problems that may lead to amputation of the foot or lower leg. 

 

There are two main types of diabetes. Type 1 diabetes is less common and usually 

develops in childhood. Type 1 diabetes is irreversible and daily insulin injections are 

usually required to sustain life. Type 2 diabetes is more common (accounting for about 

90 percent of cases) and usually develops in adulthood. Type 2 diabetes is largely 

preventable; key risk factors include obesity, physical inactivity and poor diet. 

Increasing physical activity and improving diet can also help reduce complications 

from diabetes. 

 

About one in 14 New Zealand adults (7.1 percent) had diabetes12 in 2008/09 (Ministry 

of Health 2011). There are marked ethnic differences in the prevalence of diabetes, 

particularly among women. In 2008/09 Māori women were nearly twice as likely as 

non-Māori women to have diabetes (Ministry of Health 2012d), while Pacific women 

were nearly three times as likely as non-Pacific women to have diabetes (Ministry of 

Health 2012e). 

 

The proportion of adults with diabetes increased among all age groups and ethnic 

groups from 2005 to 2011 (Figure 25). The increase is most apparent for Pacific and 

Indian peoples aged over 70 years. Reasons for the increase include an increase in 

obesity, population ageing and reduced mortality rates due to better medical care. 

 

 

11 Information from the Stroke Foundation of New Zealand. 

12 Diabetes was defined as self-reported doctor diagnosed diabetes (excluding diabetes during 

pregnancy) or measured blood HbA1c levels of 6.5 percent or higher. 
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Figure 25: Prevalence* of diabetes, by age and ethnic group, 2005 and 2011 
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Source: Virtual Diabetes Register, Ministry of Health 

Note: * Percent of practice enrolled population. 

 

There is scope to improve the diagnosis and treatment of diabetes in New Zealand. In 

2008/09 about one-quarter of adults with diabetes were undiagnosed13 – that is, they 

had not been told by a doctor that they had diabetes but they had glycated haemoglobin 

(HbA1c) levels of 6.5 percent or higher (Ministry of Health 2011). Of adults with 

diagnosed diabetes, only half (48.5 percent) had HbA1c levels less than 7.0 percent, 

which is indicative of good diabetes control. 

 

In 2009 there were 869 deaths directly related to diabetes. Most people with diabetes 

die from cardiovascular diseases, so this figure underestimates the full contribution of 

diabetes to premature death. 

 

The health target ‘more heart and diabetes checks’ is discussed in ‘Health targets and 

better public services results’, Section 3. 

 

Cancer 

Cancer is the second-highest cause of death in New Zealand after cardiovascular 

disease. Cancer is a group of diseases in which abnormal cells divide in an uncontrolled 

manner. These abnormal cells can invade and damage other tissues around them and 

can spread to other parts of the body through the blood and lymph systems. Outcomes 

for people with cancer vary considerably depending on a number of factors, including 

individual factors (eg, age), the type of cancer, stage at diagnosis, and the availability of 

specialist cancer treatment and follow-up care. 

 

 

13 Undiagnosed diabetes could only be determined in adults who provided a blood sample. 
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Improvements in cancer registrations, mortality and survival are due to a combination 

of factors, including primary prevention, earlier detection and better treatments. For 

example, the decline in smoking prevalence (see ‘Risk factors’ in Section 2) has 

contributed to lower lung cancer mortality in males, while reduced sun exposure has 

contributed to the decline in mortality from melanoma of the skin in females. 

Screening and better treatments have contributed to the improvements in five-year 

survival from breast cancer. 

 

The health target ‘shorter waits for cancer treatment’ is discussed in ‘Health targets and 

better public services results’, Section 3. 

 

Cancer registrations 

In 2009 a total of 20,875 new registrations of primary cancer were reported to the New 

Zealand Cancer Registry (Ministry of Health 2012b). Males accounted for 11,151 

registrations (53 percent) and females accounted for 9724 (47 percent). 

 

Prostate cancer was the most commonly registered cancer in 2009, accounting for 

3369 new registrations. This was closely followed by colorectal cancer 

(2837 registrations), breast cancer (2781 registrations), melanoma of the skin 

(2212 registrations) and lung cancer (2008 registrations). These five leading sites 

accounted for 63 percent of all cancer registrations in 2009. 

 

Over half of cancer registrations occur in older people. In 2009, 57 percent of cancer 

registrations were in people aged 65 years and older. The most common types of cancer 

across the life cycle are shown in Table 25. 

 

Table 25: Most common cancer registrations, by age group, 2009 

Age group Cancer 

0 to 24 years Leukaemia (males and females) 

25 to 44 years Melanoma (males), breast cancer (females) 

45 to 64 years Prostate cancer (males), breast cancer (females) 

65 to 74 years Prostate cancer (males), breast cancer (females) 

75+ years Prostate cancer (males), colorectal cancer (females) 

Source: New Zealand Cancer Registry 

 

From 1999 to 2009 cancer registration rates slowly decreased from 355.1 to 344.4 per 

100,000 people. The decrease over this period was larger for males (409.3 to 388.3 per 

100,000) than for females (318.9 to 307.2 per 100,000). However, registration rates 

remain higher for males than for females (Figure 26). 
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Figure 26: Cancer registration rates, by sex, 1999–2009 
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Source: New Zealand Cancer Registry 

Note: Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the WHO world standard population. 

 

Cancer mortality 

In 2009 there were 8437 deaths from cancer (4402 males and 4035 females). Because 

the cardiovascular disease mortality rate is declining faster than the cancer mortality 

rate, cancer is predicted to replace cardiovascular disease as the leading cause of death 

in the near future. 

 

Most cancer deaths occur in older people. In 2009, 72 percent of cancer deaths 

occurred in people aged 65 years and older. The most common types of cancer deaths 

in each age group across the life cycle are shown in Table 26. 

 

Table 26: Most common cancer deaths, by age group, 2009 

Age group Cancer 

0 to 24 years Leukaemia (males), brain cancer (females) 

25 to 44 years Colorectal cancer (males), breast cancer (females) 

45 to 64 years Lung cancer (males), breast cancer (females) 

65 to 74 years Lung cancer (males and females) 

75+ years Prostate cancer (males), colorectal cancer (females) 

Source: New Zealand Mortality Collection 
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Cancer mortality rates decreased from 1999 to 2009 by around 16 percent. For males 

the decrease was greater (20 percent), dropping from 181.3 to 145.4 deaths per 

100,000. Cancer mortality rates remain higher for males than for females (Figure 27). 

 

Figure 27: Cancer mortality rates, by sex, 1999–2009 
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Source: New Zealand Mortality Collection 

Note: 

1. Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the WHO world standard population. 

2. ICD-10 codes D45–D47 are included from 2003 onwards. 

 

In 2009 New Zealand’s all-cancer mortality rate was just below the OECD average. For 

lung cancer New Zealand ranked in the best third of OECD countries, and for breast 

cancer we ranked in the worst third (OECD 2011). 

 

Cancer survival 

Cancer survival is a key outcome measure of cancer control. Five-year relative survival 

ratios show the percentage of patients with a disease who are alive five years after their 

disease is diagnosed. They provide insight into the effectiveness of health services in 

detecting and treating cancer. 

 

From 1998/99 to 2008/09 New Zealand’s five-year survival ratios for all adult cancers 

improved from a ratio of 0.577 in 1998/99 to 0.633 in 2008/09 (Ministry of Health 

2012c). Both males and females experienced this improvement (Figure 28). 
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Figure 28: Cumulative relative cancer survival ratios, by sex, 1998/99–2008/09 
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Figure 29: Cumulative relative cancer survival ratios, by ethnicity, 

1998/99–2008/09 
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Although there have been improvements in the last decade, Māori still experienced 

worse cancer outcomes than non-Māori. While Māori experienced reductions in the 

registrations and mortality and improvements in survival rates from 1998/99 to 

2008/09 (Figure 29), cancer registration is 20 percent higher for Māori and cancer 

mortality is nearly 80 percent higher for Māori than for non-Māori. Māori not only had 

poorer survival ratios than non-Māori from 1998/99 to 2008/09 but also were more 

likely than non-Māori to have their cancer detected at a later stage of disease. Similarly, 

residents of more socioeconomically deprived areas are more likely to develop cancer, 

less likely to have their cancer detected early, and have poorer rates of survival than 

residents of less deprived areas. 

 

Respiratory diseases 

Respiratory diseases include a range of conditions that affect the airways. Long-term 

respiratory diseases include asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

(COPD). 

 

Asthma 

Asthma is an inflammatory disorder of the airways that causes reversible restriction of 

air flow into and out of the lungs. The cause of asthma is unknown, but symptoms can 

be triggered by allergens, respiratory infections, exercise, cold air, tobacco smoke and 

other pollutants. 

 

About one in seven (14.8 percent) children aged 2–14 years had medicated asthma14 in 

2006/07 (Ministry of Health 2008). This equates to about 109,900 children with 

medicated asthma in 2006/07. Māori children were 1.4 times as likely as other children 

to have medicated asthma. 

 

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

COPD refers to a number of chronic lung disorders that are characterised by non-

reversible air-flow restriction into and out of the lungs. Emphysema and chronic 

bronchitis are the most common forms of COPD. Chronic bronchitis occurs when the 

airways to the lungs become narrow and partly clogged with mucus. Emphysema 

occurs when some of the air sacs deep in the lungs have been damaged. Common 

features are cough with phlegm, and breathlessness when exercising or walking. COPD 

is permanent, and the main risk factor is tobacco smoking. 

 

Approximately 96,100 New Zealand adults aged 45 years and older had COPD in 

2006/07 (Ministry of Health 2008). COPD is more common in older adults: it is 

diagnosed in one in ten (9.7 percent) adults aged 75 years and older. 

 

 

14 Medicated asthma meets the following conditions: (1) a parent or guardian has been told by a 

doctor that the child has asthma; and (2) the child is currently taking medication for their 

asthma. 
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Mental health 

Mental health conditions such as depression, anxiety and substance abuse have a major 

impact on individuals, their families and society as a whole. Poor mental health can 

cause disability, diminish quality of life and reduce productivity. 

 

Mental health conditions can be both a cause and a consequence of some risk 

behaviours, such as alcohol use (see ‘Risk factors’ in Section 2) and illicit drug use. 

 

Psychological distress 

Approximately 7 percent of New Zealand adults had a high or very high probability of 

an anxiety or depressive disorder (psychological distress) in 2006/07 (Ministry of 

Health 2008). The highest prevalence of psychological distress was among young 

women aged 15–24 years (11.9 percent). 

 

Psychological distress is associated with neighbourhood deprivation. In 2006/07 men 

and women living in the most socioeconomically deprived areas (NZDep2006 quintile 

5) were two to three times more likely than those living in the least deprived areas 

(NZDep2006 quintile 1) to have a high or very high probability of anxiety or depressive 

disorder (see Figure 30). 

 

Figure 30: Prevalence of high or very high probability of anxiety or depressive 

disorder in adults (15+ years), by neighbourhood deprivation and sex, 2006/07 
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Source: Ministry of Health 2008 
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Major mental health disorders 

At the time of the last mental health survey (2003/04), about one in five (20.7 percent) 

New Zealand adults aged 16 years and older had a mental health disorder.15 The 

12-month prevalence of mental health disorders peaked in young people aged 16–24 

years, as did the prevalence of most types of mental health disorders (see Figure 31). 

 

Figure 31: Twelve-month prevalence of mental health disorders in adults 

(16+ years), by age group, 2003/04 
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Source: Oakley Browne et al 2006 

 

Suicide 

A total of 522 New Zealanders died by suicide in 2010 (provisional Ministry of Health 

data), which represents a rate of 11.5 deaths per 100,000 population. There were 

380 male suicides (17.0 per 100,000) and 142 female suicides (6.4 per 100,000). The 

2010 male suicide rate was about 30 percent below the peak rate during the mid 1990s. 

The female suicide rate has remained relatively stable since records began. 

 

From 1996 to 2010 suicide death rates trended downwards for non-Māori but were 

variable for Māori (see Figure 32). 

 

 

15 Mental health disorder defined as including anxiety disorder, mood disorder, substance use 

disorder and/or eating disorder. 
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Figure 32: Suicide death rates, Māori and non-Māori, 1996–2010* 
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Source: New Zealand Mortality Collection 

Notes: 

* Provisional data. 

Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the World Health Organization world standard population. 

 

The youth (15–24 years) suicide death rate was 17.7 per 100,000 in 2010, representing 

a decline of 38 percent since the peak rate in 1995. The youth suicide rate remains 

higher among males than among females (see Figure 33). 

 



 

 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 187 
 including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Figure 33: Youth (15–24 years) suicide death rates, by sex, 1985–2010* 
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Source: New Zealand Mortality Collection 

Notes: 

* Provisional data. 

Rates per 100,000 are age standardised to the WHO world standard population. 

 

In 2010 the youth suicide rate for Māori was more than 2.5 times higher than that for 

non-Māori (35.3 and 13.4 per 100,000, respectively). The non-Māori youth suicide rate 

has declined since 1996, whereas the Māori youth rate has been variable. 

 

In 2010 New Zealand’s suicide rate for the total population was slightly lower than the 

OECD average and we ranked in the middle third of countries (OECD 2012). However, 

New Zealand’s youth suicide rate is high by international standards (WHO 2012). 

 

Oral health 

Oral diseases are among the most prevalent chronic diseases in New Zealand, and 

represent a considerable burden on the health of the public and on the health system. 

They are largely preventable, their impact on individuals and society is high, and they 

are expensive to treat. 

 

The two current major threats to natural teeth are dental caries (dental decay) and 

periodontal disease. If left untreated, they cause pain (particularly in the case of dental 

caries), infection may occur and the tooth may ultimately be lost. 
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Child oral health 

Promoting good oral health in young people has benefits over a lifetime. Research 

indicates that children with good oral health are likely to have lower levels of oral 

health disease in adulthood. 

 

In 2011, 60 percent of children were caries-free in their baby teeth when they started 

school. The levels were lower for Māori (41 percent) and Pacific (35 percent) children, 

compared with 69 percent in children of European/Other ethnic group. 

 

The severity of dental decay experience for children aged five years is measured by the 

number of decayed, missing or filled baby teeth (dmft). The average dmft was 1.8 for 

the total five-year-old population. The average dmft was higher for Māori and Pacific 

children, at 3.0 and 3.4 respectively, compared with 1.2 for European/Other children. 

 

Just over half (54 percent) of children were caries-free in their adult teeth at the end of 

Year 8. Levels were lower for Māori (41 percent) and Pacific (40 percent) children than 

for European/Other children (59 percent). The average DMFT (adult teeth)was 1.24 for 

the total population at the end of Year 8. Within this population, the DMFT was 1.83 

for Māori and 1.80 for Pacific children, compared with 1.01 for European/Other 

children. 

 

In areas with a fluoridated water supply, children have better oral health outcomes. 

They have generally better caries-free rates and a lower average number of dmft/DMFT 

across all three ethnic groups and in both age groups (Figure 34). 

 

Figure 34: Percentage of children caries-free (a) and average number DMFT (b) at 

Year 8, by ethnicity and water supply fluoridation status, 2011 
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Source: Community Oral Health Service data reported by district health boards to the Ministry of Health. 
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Adult oral health 

Adult oral health in New Zealand has continued to improve over time, with dramatic 

reductions in tooth loss and in the lifetime experience of dental caries. The 2009 New 

Zealand Oral Health Survey (Ministry of Health 2010a) shows that the majority 

(91 percent) of adults aged 18 years and over are now dentate (have some natural 

teeth), and 60–70 percent of adults aged 65 years and older have retained some natural 

teeth. However, one in three adults has untreated dental decay and a large proportion 

of adults are affected by periodontal disease. Among young adults aged 25–34 years, 

nearly half (47 percent) have untreated coronal decay in one or more teeth, the highest 

prevalence in any adult age group in New Zealand. 

 

Infectious diseases 

Although non-communicable diseases now account for much of the burden of disease 

in New Zealand, infectious diseases still account for a large, increasing and avoidable 

proportion of hospitalisations. Baker et al (2012) report both increasing admission 

rates and increasing disparities in hospital admissions for infectious diseases from 

1989 to 2009. Māori and Pacific peoples had over twice the admission rates of other 

ethnic groups, and people living in the most socioeconomically deprived areas had 

2.8 times the rate of those living in the least deprived areas. 

 

There has been a particular resurgence in infectious diseases that are spread through 

close contact. Poor living conditions, including overcrowded and poor-quality housing, 

contribute to higher rates of many infectious diseases in areas of high socioeconomic 

deprivation. 

 

Immunisation can prevent a number of infectious diseases. It provides individual 

protection and in some cases population-wide protection by reducing the incidence of 

vaccine-preventable diseases and preventing their spread to vulnerable people. 

 

The health target ‘increased immunisation’ is discussed in ‘Health targets and better 

public services results’, Section 3. 

 

This section presents information on rheumatic fever, meningococcal disease, 

influenza, measles, pertussis, tuberculosis, childhood skin infections, sexually 

transmitted infections and antibiotic resistance. 

 

Rheumatic fever 

Rheumatic fever is an autoimmune reaction to a group A Streptococcal infection. 

Rheumatic fever is a leading cause of acquired heart disease in New Zealand children. 

Rheumatic fever rates in New Zealand are much higher than in other developed 

countries. For these reasons, reducing the rate of rheumatic fever is a priority for the 

Government (see ‘Health targets and better public services results’, Section 3). 
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Annual notifications for rheumatic fever increased from 102 cases in 1997 to 164 cases 

in 2011 (Figure 35). In 2011, 152 notifications were initial attack cases and 12 recurrent 

cases, which represent an annual rate of 3.5 per 100,000 for initial attack rheumatic 

fever and 0.3 per 100,000 for recurrent rheumatic fever. 

 

Figure 35: Rheumatic fever notification rates, 1997–2011 
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Source: ESR 2012a 

 

Māori and Pacific children living in the central-upper North Island (Tairawhiti, 

Northland and Counties Manukau DHBs) are disproportionately affected by rheumatic 

fever. In 2011 the rate of initial attack cases was 22.5 per 100,000 for Pacific peoples 

(60 cases) and 13.5 per 100,000 for Māori (87 cases), compared with less than one per 

100,000 for the European/Other ethnic group. The rate of rheumatic fever is highest in 

the children aged 10–14 years, at 27.3 per 100 000 population, followed by children 

aged 5–9 years, at 15.0 per 100 000. 

 

Meningococcal disease 

New Zealand experienced an epidemic of meningococcal B disease from 1991 to 2007. 

Although rates have since declined, meningococcal disease is an important disease and 

remains a cause of death and disability. Meningococcal disease can be caused by group 

A, B, C, Y and W135 strains. Most cases in New Zealand are caused by group B or C 

strains. 
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In 2011 a total of 119 cases of meningococcal disease were notified, representing a rate 

of 2.7 per 100,000. Nearly all cases (115) were hospitalised and 13 deaths were 

recorded (representing a case-fatality rate of 10.9 percent). The 2011 rate is lower than 

the peak rate of 16.7 per 100,000 experienced during the meningococcal disease 

epidemic, but higher than the pre-epidemic rate of 1.5 per 100,000. In 2011 Pacific 

peoples had the highest meningococcal disease rate (7.1 per 100,000) of any ethnic 

group, followed by Māori (6.3 per 100,000). 

 

Group B disease, especially the strain (B:P1.7–2.4) that drove the New Zealand 

epidemic, accounted for over half of all the cases where the organism was identified in 

2011. The next most common strains were group C strains (see Figure 36). 

 

Figure 36: Notified meningococcal cases, by strain, 2007–2011 
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Source: ESR 2012a 

 

Influenza 

Influenza is a common cause of illness and hospitalisation in New Zealand. Annual 

activity generally occurs between May and September, with seasonal peaks in August 

and September. 
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Influenza activity was higher in 2012 than in 2011, but lower than during the pandemic 

in 2009. The peak weekly average consultation rate for influenza-like illness in 2012 

was 154 per 100,000 patient population,16 compared with 66 per 100,000 in 2011 and 

284 per 100,000 in 2009 (Figure 37). 

 

Figure 37: Weekly consultation rates for influenza-like illness, 2007–2012 
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Source: ESR 2012b. 

 

The number of hospital admissions for influenza followed a similar pattern, with a total 

of 680 so far in 2012 (at the end of August) compared with 562 in 2011 and 1484 in 

2009. 

 

Measles 

Measles is a vaccine-preventable illness that occurs primarily in childhood. Despite 

improvements in immunisation coverage in children, immunity across New Zealand is 

still lower than is needed to prevent outbreaks. The prevention of measles in New 

Zealand after outbreaks in other countries, including European countries, requires 

ongoing management. 

 

 

16 This is an estimate based on the number of general practice consultations for an influenza-

like illness recorded among the 91 practices that provide surveillance data to Environmental 

Science and Research. 
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In 2011, 597 cases of measles were notified (13.6 per 100,000); this was a substantial 

increase from the 48 cases (1.1 per 100,000) notified in 2010 and was the highest 

annual number since 1997 when 1984 cases were notified. The spike in measles cases in 

2011 continued into early 2012, but with declining numbers of cases and then stopped 

in June 2012 (Figure 38). 

 

Figure 38: Monthly measles notifications, 2005–2012 
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Source: ESR EpiSurv data as of 20 August 2012 

 

To combat the most recent measles outbreak, the Ministry recommended that children 

were vaccinated earlier than outlined in the routine immunisation schedule. In 

addition, primary care practices were asked to recall children who had not been fully 

immunised, and to vaccinate patients (children and adults) who were not fully 

immunised, when they attended the practice for other reasons. 

 

Pertussis 

Pertussis (whooping cough) is a vaccine-preventable disease caused by the bacterial 

agent Bordetella pertussis. Epidemics occur every two to five years, with young 

children – especially those aged under 12 months – at greatest risk of severe disease. 

 

A total of 1998 pertussis cases were notified in New Zealand in 2011, of which one-

quarter (516 cases) were laboratory confirmed. The 2011 notification rate was 45.4 per 

100,000, more than twice the rate in 2010 (20.9 per 100,000). Around 7 percent of 

notified pertussis cases were hospitalised in 2011 and one death occurred. Since the 

most recent outbreak began in August 2011, over 5000 pertussis cases had been 

reported to the end of August 2012. 
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Figure 39: Pertussis notifications, 1997–2011 
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Source: ESR 2012a. 

 

The rate of pertussis notification in 2011 varied substantially by DHB region. Rates 

were highest in the West Coast DHB (719.1 per 100,000), Nelson Marlborough 

(317.4 per 100,000) and Hutt Valley (118.3 per 100,000). In 2011 the highest pertussis 

notification rate was in the European/Other ethnic group (51.9 per 100,000, or 

1582 cases), followed by Māori (40.4 per 100,000, or 261 cases). 

 

Tuberculosis 

Tuberculosis (TB) is one of the most common causes of death from infectious disease 

worldwide and remains a significant disease in New Zealand. In 2011 a total of 312 TB 

cases were notified, of which six were reactivations. The rate of TB notifications was 

7.1 per 100,000, which is similar to previous years (see Figure 40). 
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Figure 40: Tuberculosis notifications (new and reactivations), 1997–2011 
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Source: ESR 2012a 

 

A large proportion (76 percent) of tuberculosis cases occurred in people born overseas. 

The incidence rate was highest for the Asian ethnic group (40.3 per 100,000), followed 

by the Middle Eastern, Latin American or African (39.8 per 100,000) and Pacific 

(18.0 per 100,000) ethnic groups. 

 

Childhood skin infections 

Research shows that from 1990 to 2007 the incidence of hospital admissions for 

serious childhood skin infections in New Zealand increased. The Gisborne region 

experienced the highest national incidence rates (O’Sullivan et al 2012). 

 

Skin and subcutaneous tissue infections are a heterogeneous group of superficial 

bacterial infections that can usually be treated within the primary care setting. 

However, they can progress to serious skin infections that may require admission and 

treatment in hospital. 

 

Preschool-aged children, Pacific and Māori children, and those living in 

socioeconomically deprived areas have the highest infection rates. The many reasons 

behind these rates are likely to include household overcrowding, barriers to accessing 

primary health care and a range of socioeconomic factors (O’Sullivan et al 2012). 

 

For the period 1990–1999, New Zealand’s overall rate of hospitalisations for serious 

skin infections (age-adjusted) was 354.3 per 100,000 children. For the period 

2000–2007, the rate was 531.7 per 100,000, which is an increase of 50 percent from 

the earlier period. 
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Sexually transmitted infections 

In New Zealand, sexually transmitted infections are not notifiable and the surveillance 

system relies on the ongoing support of sexual health clinics, family planning clinics 

and laboratory staff. Estimated national rates can be calculated for chlamydia and 

gonorrhoea only. 

 

Chlamydia 

Chlamydia infection is asymptomatic in about 25 percent of male cases and 70 percent 

of female cases. Untreated chlamydia can have serious consequences, including pelvic 

inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy and infertility. 

 

Chlamydia was the most common sexually transmitted infection in New Zealand in 

2011, when a total of 25,666 cases were reported (ESR 2012c). The estimated national 

rate was 786 cases per 100,000. Chlamydia was most common in females aged 

15–19 years and males aged 20–24 years. The national chlamydia rate has been stable 

since 2008. 

 

Gonorrhoea 

Gonorrhoea is caused by the bacterium Neisseria gonorrhoeae. About 5 percent of 

male cases and 50 percent of female cases will have no symptoms. Untreated 

gonorrhoea can have serious consequences, including pelvic inflammatory disease. 

 

In 2011 the estimated national gonorrhoea rate was 67 cases per 100,000 (ESR 2012c). 

Gonorrhoea was most common in young people aged 20–24 years. The national 

gonorrhoea rate has been relatively stable since 2008, although there has been 

considerable regional variation. 

 

Genital warts 

Genital warts are caused by infection with certain types of human papillomavirus 

(HPV). Some types of HPV (mainly types 16 and 18) can cause cervical, penile and anal 

cancers. In September 2008 an HPV immunisation programme (covering types 6, 11, 

16 and 18) commenced for girls born on or after 1 January 1990. The vaccine is now 

part of the routine immunisation schedule for girls aged 12 years and is still available 

free to young women up to age 20 years. 

 

In 2011 sexual health and family planning clinics reported 2905 first presentations of 

genital warts (ESR 2012c). Since 2008, when the HPV vaccine was introduced, there 

has been a marked decline in case numbers among females aged 15–19 years. 
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Antibiotic resistance 

Bacteria are tested for antibiotic susceptibility to determine the likelihood of an 

antibiotic being effective in treating an infection caused by a particular bacterial strain. 

Antibiotic resistance occurs when the bacterium is able to survive exposure to an 

antibiotic. If a bacterium is resistant to several antibiotics it is described as multi-drug 

resistant (MDR). As antibiotic resistance, especially multi-drug resistance, becomes 

more common, the need for alternative treatments increases. Factors that help to 

prevent the development and spread of antibiotic-resistant bacteria include prudent 

use of antibiotics and effective infection control practices. 

 

Some strains of antibiotic-resistant bacteria are well established in New Zealand, 

occurring not only in infections treated in hospitals and other health care facilities but 

also in the community. Examples of antibiotic-resistant bacteria include methicillin-

resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), penicillin-resistant Streptococcus 

pneumoniae and multi-drug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB). The prevalence of 

MRSA in New Zealand has increased significantly over the last 10 years (2002–2011). 

More cases are now contracted in the community than in health care facilities. MDR-

TB remains rare in New Zealand, with two cases in 2011, accounting for 0.9 percent of 

the culture-positive cases. In June 2012 the World Health Organization warned against 

the resistance of gonorrhoea to ceftriaxone, and cases of gonorrhoea with reduced 

ceftriaxone susceptibility have been reported recently in New Zealand. 

 

Injury 

Unintentional injury 

Unintentional injuries are one of the main reasons for acute care, as well as a leading 

cause of long-term disability and mortality in children. The number of admissions for 

unintentional injury indicates how effectively policies and services (such as Well Child) 

are educating parents, children and young people on safety and injury prevention. 

 

In 2011/12 two of every 100 hospital admissions were due to unintentional injuries in 

children and young people 0–24 years. This number of unintentional injuries has been 

declining since 2000/01 (see Figure 41). The highest percentage occurred in children 

and young people aged 12–24 years. 
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Figure 41: Percentage of all hospital admissions in children and young people with 

a primary diagnosis of injury and external cause of unintentional injury, 

2000/01–2011/12 

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

2000/01 2001/02 2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

Year

Percent of all admissions

 

Source: National Minimum Dataset, Ministry of Health 

 

Road traffic injuries 

From 2000 to 2010 the number of road deaths decreased from 462 to 375. However, 

during the same period the number of serious17 and minor18 injuries due to road 

crashes rose to a peak of 16,053 in 2007 and has since declined to 14,031 in 2010 

(Figure 42). The Ministry of Transport’s Crash Analysis System collects the data on 

these injuries; it is estimated that only about two-thirds of hospitalised casualties are 

notified. The growth in the number of injuries increases the demand for public-funded 

health services – for example, through more patients visiting emergency departments 

– and therefore presents further challenges for the sector. 

 

 

17 Serious injuries include fractures, concussion, internal injuries, crushings, severe cuts and 

lacerations, severe general shock necessitating medical treatment, and any other injury 

involving removal to and detention in hospital. 

18 Minor injuries include sprains, bruises and other injuries of that nature. 
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Figure 42: Number of road deaths and reported number of serious and minor 

injuries, 2000–2010 
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Source: Ministry of Transport 2010 and 2011 

 

Falls 

Falls are common in older people, and can result in serious injury, loss of 

independence and entrance to aged residential care facilities. Falls that do not result in 

injury can lead to a loss of confidence. Older people are at greater risk of falls for a 

range of reasons, including a greater likelihood of having weak muscles, low blood 

pressure, poor vision, medical conditions (such as Parkinson’s disease or stroke), a 

high dosage of a medication or a regimen of multiple medications. A fall may be an 

indicator of an emerging or undiagnosed medical condition. 

 

From 2005/06 to 2011/12 the rate of acute hospitalisations due to falls was relatively 

stable for people aged 65 years and older, but increased for people aged 85 years and 

older (see Table 27). 

 

Table 27: Acute hospitalisations rates* due to falls in older people, 2005/06–

2011/12 

 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

People aged 65+ 15.7 15.7 15.4 15.7 15.9 16.6 16.1 

People aged 85+ 51.7 54.6 51.0 53.5 53.6 56.0 55.6 

Source: National Minimum Data Set, Ministry of Health 

* Age-specific rates per 1000 population 
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Section 2: Factors that 

influence our health 
Many things influence how healthy we are, including behavioural, biological, social and 

economic factors. These factors can have direct or indirect impacts on health. 

 

Some factors that increase the risk of poor health interact with other risk factors. For 

example, both excess energy intake and insufficient physical activity can lead to 

obesity, which in turn can lead to high blood pressure, which is a risk factor for heart 

disease, stroke and kidney disease. 

 

This section focuses mainly on behavioural and biological risk factors. It also includes a 

brief overview of other factors that can influence health. 

 

Risk factors 

Table 28 summarises the association between behavioural and biological risk factors 

and selected long-term conditions. 

 

Table 28: Association between risk factors and selected long-term conditions 

 Condition 

Ischaemic 

heart 

disease 

Stroke Type 2 

diabetes 

Respiratory 

disease 

Osteo-

arthritis 

Osteo-

porosis 

Depression 

Tobacco smoking        

Hazardous alcohol 
use 

      

Physical inactivity       

Poor diet        

Obesity       

High blood pressure        

High blood 
cholesterol 

       

Source: Table adapted from Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2010 

Notes: Respiratory disease includes asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). 
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Tobacco smoking 

Smoking-related mortality is the single most preventable cause of premature death in 

New Zealand. Each year in New Zealand around 4500 to 5000 people die from 

smoking-related causes (including second-hand-smoke exposure). Smoking is the main 

cause of lung cancer and COPD, and is a major contributor to ischaemic heart disease, 

stroke and other types of cancer. The World Health Organization (2009) estimated that 

tobacco accounted for 10.7 percent of the burden of disease19 in high-income countries 

in 2004. 

 

Based on provisional data from the most recent New Zealand Health Survey (2011/12), 

about 17 percent of New Zealanders aged 15 years and older are daily smokers.20 The 

prevalence of daily smoking has decreased for both men and women from 1996/97 to 

2011/12 (Figure 43). 

 

Figure 43: Daily smoking prevalence in adults (15+ years), by sex, 1996/97–2011/12 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012

Year

Males

Females

Percent

 

Source: New Zealand Health Surveys 1996/97, 2002/03, 2006/07, 2011/12 (provisional data) 

 

 

19 Burden of disease measured in DALYs (disability adjusted life years), a metric that combines 

information on both the fatal and nonfatal burden of disease. 

20 A daily smoker is defined as someone aged 15 years or older who has smoked more than 

100 cigarettes in their lifetime and currently smokes daily. 
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There is considerable variation in the prevalence of smoking by ethnic group and 

neighbourhood deprivation. Based on findings from the 2009 New Zealand Tobacco 

Use Survey (Ministry of Health 2010b), Māori females are more than twice as likely to 

be current smokers21 as females in the total population. Māori and Pacific males are 

also significantly more likely to be current smokers than males in the total population. 

The prevalence of current smoking increases markedly as neighbourhood deprivation 

increases. 

 

New Zealand’s smoking rates are lower than those for many similar countries. In 2010 

our daily smoking prevalence was lower than the OECD average of 21.1 percent and we 

ranked in the best third of OECD countries. New Zealand was also in the best third of 

OECD countries for our decline in smoking prevalence from 1999 to 2009 (a relative 

decrease of 30 percent, compared with the OECD average reduction of 18 percent). 

 

New Zealand’s progress in reducing smoking rates is the result of a wide range of 

initiatives sustained over many years. Such initiatives include public education 

campaigns, restrictions on advertising, increasing tobacco prices, health warnings on 

packets, smoke free environments and better help to quit. 

 

Most smokers want to quit, and public hospitals and general practices offer simple and 

effective interventions. The health target ‘better help for smokers to quit’ is discussed 

in ‘Health targets and better public services results’, Section 3. 

 

Alcohol use 

Alcohol misuse is a factor in many diseases and injuries. Alcohol misuse also causes 

considerable social harm. The World Health Organization (2009) estimated that 

alcohol use was the second leading health-related risk factor in high-income countries 

in 2004, accounting for 6.7 percent of the burden of disease. 

 

Most New Zealand adults drink alcohol. In the 2007/08 Alcohol and Drug Use Survey 

(Ministry of Health 2009), 85 percent of people aged 16–64 years reported having had 

an alcoholic drink in the past year. A small proportion of drinkers (6.8 percent) drank 

alcohol every day. 

 

The risk of alcohol-related harm increases with the amount of alcohol consumed on a 

single occasion. It is recommended that New Zealanders do not drink large amounts of 

alcohol on one occasion, defined as six or more standard drinks for males and four or 

more standard drinks for females. 

 

In 2007/08 one in eight (12.6 percent) past-year drinkers had consumed a large 

amount of alcohol at least once a week during the last year (Ministry of Health 2009). 

This equates to about 284,000 adults aged 16–64 years consuming large amounts of 

alcohol at least weekly in 2007/08. Young people aged 18–24 years were most likely to 

consume large amounts of alcohol at least weekly (Figure 44). 

 

21 A current smoker is defined as someone aged 15 years or older who has smoked more than 

100 cigarettes in their lifetime and currently smokes at least once a month. 
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Figure 44: Percentage of adults (16–64 years) consuming a large amount of alcohol 

on one drinking occasion at least weekly, by age group and sex, 2007/08 
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Source: Ministry of Health 2009 

 

Harmful effects of alcohol include impacts on friendships and social life, home life, 

work, study and employment opportunities and financial position, as well as legal 

problems and learning difficulties. In 2007/08, one in eight (12.2 percent) New 

Zealanders aged 16–64 years reported having experienced at least one harmful effect of 

alcohol due to their own drinking in the past year (Ministry of Health 2009). 

 

Many people, including non-drinkers, had also experienced harm from someone else’s 

drinking in the past year. For example, 16 percent of people aged 16–64 years reported 

harmful effects on friendships or social life due to someone else’s drinking. The 

harmful effects of alcohol use (own or someone else’s) were most common in young 

people aged 18–24 years. 

 

Physical activity 

Physical activity helps protect against heart disease, type 2 diabetes, certain types of 

cancer, osteoarthritis and depression. Physical activity is also important for 

maintaining a healthy weight and preventing obesity. Physical activity refers to all 

movement produced by skeletal muscles that increases energy expenditure above 

resting level, whether it is incidental, occupational or recreational. The World Health 

Organization (2009) estimated that physical inactivity was the sixth leading health-

related risk factor in high-income countries in 2004, accounting for 4.1 percent of the 

burden of disease. 
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New Zealand Physical Activity Guidelines state that children and young people (5 to 

18 years) should do a total of 60 minutes or more of moderate- to vigorous-intensity 

physical activity each day (Ministry of Health 2010c). Young people aged 18 years or 

older come under the adult guidelines, which recommend participating in at least 

30 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity on most, if not all, days of the week 

(SPARC 2005). 

 

Physical activity levels decline during childhood and adolescence. Figure 45 shows that 

almost all children aged 5–9 years meet physical activity guidelines, but by age 20–24 

years only one in five meet the guidelines. Declines in physical activity are most 

apparent in females. 

 

Figure 45: Percentage of children and young people who meet physical activity 

guidelines, by age group and sex, 2008/09 
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Source: Clinical Trials Research Unit and Synovate 2010 

Note: Physical activity is objectively measured using an accelerometer. 

 

Diet 

The foods and drinks we consume play a major role in our health and wellbeing. For 

infants and children, good nutrition is essential for optimal growth and development. 

Good nutrition across the life cycle prevents nutritional deficiencies, protects against 

infection and helps maintain a healthy body weight. It also reduces the risk of long-

term conditions such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancer. In contrast, 

unhealthy dietary patterns are associated with obesity and many of the health 

conditions related to it. 
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Breastfeeding 

The Ministry of Health recommends that mothers breastfeed their infants exclusively 

for the first six months of their life. Appropriate nutrition in the first few months of life 

is more critical than at any other time in the life cycle. Breastfed infants have a reduced 

risk of infectious diseases, such as meningitis, gastroenteritis, and respiratory and ear 

infections, because of maternal antibodies contained in breast milk. Breastfed infants 

also have reduced risk of sudden unexplained death in infancy (SUDI) and a reduced 

risk of being overweight during childhood and adulthood. The long-term protective 

effects of breastfeeding infants appear to be related to the duration and exclusivity of 

breastfeeding. Breastfeeding also has benefits for the mother: women who have 

breastfed at some time in their lives have a lower risk of breast cancer compared with 

women who have never breastfed. 

 

The percentage of infants in New Zealand who are fully or exclusively breastfed for the 

first six months of life has remained relatively stable since 2003/04. The only 

improvement has been in the Asian ethnic group (see Figure 46). 

 

Figure 46: Percentage of infants who are fully or exclusively breastfed at six 

months, 2003/04–2011/12 
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Source: Plunket data, Ministry of Health 
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Dietary fat 

Dietary saturated fat increases total and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol 

levels in blood, which in turn increase the risk of cardiovascular disease. It is 

recommended that the combined intake of saturated and trans fats does not exceed 

10 percent of total energy. The main sources of saturated fats are animal products such 

as milk, cream, butter, cheese and meat, but other sources are palm and coconut oils, 

which are used in many baked products. 

 

Saturated fat intakes are declining slowly in New Zealand. From 1997 to 2008/09, the 

contribution of saturated fat to energy intake decreased from 15.1 to 13.1 percent in 

men and from 14.7 to 13.1 percent in women (Ministry of Health 2011). This decrease in 

saturated fat intake is likely to have contributed to the drop in blood cholesterol over 

the same period (see ‘Blood cholesterol’ below). Although saturated fat intakes are 

decreasing in New Zealand adults, they are still much higher than recommended levels. 

 

Obesity 

Nearly one million New Zealanders are obese.22 Obesity is an established risk factor for 

many long-term health conditions, including type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, 

some common types of cancer (eg, colorectal and post-menopausal breast), 

osteoarthritis, gout, sleep apnoea, reproductive disorders, polycystic ovarian 

syndrome, gallstones and mental health conditions (especially depression). The World 

Health Organization (2009) estimated that overweight and obesity was the third 

leading health-related risk factor in high-income countries in 2004, accounting for 

6.5 percent of the burden of disease. 

 

In 2008/09 the prevalence of obesity in New Zealand adults was 28 percent in both 

men and women (Ministry of Health 2011). In 2006/07 the prevalence of obesity in 

New Zealand children aged 2 to 14 years was eight percent, with no difference between 

boys and girls (Ministry of Health 2008). 

 

Obesity affects people of all age, sex and ethnic groups, although there is considerable 

variation across population subgroups. Based on data from the 2006/07 New Zealand 

Health Survey, obesity levels increase rapidly in young people (15–24 years) and young 

adults (25–34 years), before peaking in middle age and declining in older people (see 

Figure 47). 

 

 

22 Obesity is defined as having a body mass index (BMI) of 30 kg/m2 or over (or the age/sex 

equivalent cut-off point for those aged under 18 years). 
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Figure 47: Prevalence of obesity, by age group and sex, 2006/07 
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Source: Ministry of Health 2008 

 

Māori and Pacific peoples are more likely to be obese than other New Zealanders. In 

2006/07 Pacific children and adults were 2.5 times more likely to be obese than the 

total population. Māori adults were 1.7 times more likely and Māori children 1.5 times 

more likely to be obese than adults and children in the total population. New 

Zealanders living in the most socioeconomically deprived areas are two to three times 

more likely to be obese than those living in the least deprived areas (Ministry of Health 

2011). 

 

The prevalence of obesity has increased in both men and women since the late 1970s, 

with the gap between men and women closing recently. From 1997 to 2008/09 the 

prevalence of obesity increased from 17.0 to 27.7 percent in men and from 20.6 to 

27.8 percent in women (Ministry of Health 2011). While obesity rates are higher for 

Māori and Pacific adults, there has been no significant change in obesity rates among 

Māori or Pacific adults since 1997 (Ministry of Health 2012d and 2012e). 

 

From 2002 to 2006/07 the prevalence of obesity in children aged 5 to 14 years 

remained stable at around nine percent (Ministry of Health 2008). 

 

New Zealand has very high rates of obesity compared with similar countries. In 2010 

New Zealand adults ranked third out of 15 OECD countries that directly measured 

obesity. New Zealand’s adult obesity rates, including those for European/Other adults, 

were above the OECD average of 22.2 percent (OECD 2012). 
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Blood pressure 

Around one in three New Zealand adults has high blood pressure.23 High blood 

pressure (or hypertension) is a risk factor for heart disease, stroke, chronic kidney 

disease and heart failure. The World Health Organization (2009) estimated that high 

blood pressure was the fourth leading health-related risk factor in high-income 

countries in 2004, accounting for 6.1 percent of the burden of disease. Modifiable 

determinants of high blood pressure include diet (especially sodium or salt intake), 

obesity, excessive alcohol consumption, and physical inactivity. 

 

In the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey, 33 percent of men and 27 percent 

of women had hypertension. The prevalence of hypertension increased markedly with 

age, to the extent that it is found in about 70 percent of adults aged 65 years and older 

(see Figure 48). 

 

Figure 48: Prevalence of hypertension in adults (15+ years), 2008/09 
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Source: 2008/09 Adult Nutrition Survey (provisional data) 

 

Overall, about half of adults with hypertension were untreated. Nearly all young adults 

with hypertension were untreated. Of adults currently taking medication for high blood 

pressure, about half had uncontrolled hypertension. Older adults were more likely to 

have uncontrolled hypertension. These findings suggest that there are opportunities to 

improve the detection and management of high blood pressure in adults. 

 

 

23 High blood pressure is defined as systolic blood pressure ≥140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood 

pressure ≥90 mmHg and/or currently taking medication for high blood pressure. 
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Blood cholesterol 

Blood cholesterol levels are an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease, 

particularly ischaemic heart disease. Total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein 

(LDL) cholesterol are associated with a higher risk, whereas high-density lipoprotein 

(HDL) cholesterol is associated with a lower risk. The ratio of total to HDL cholesterol 

is a strong predictor of cardiovascular disease mortality, with the optimum ratio less 

than 4.5. 

 

The World Health Organization (2009) estimated that high cholesterol was the seventh 

leading health-related risk factor in high-income countries in 2004, accounting for 

3.4 percent of the burden of disease. Modifiable determinants of blood lipids include 

diet (especially saturated fat intake), body weight and physical activity. Blood lipid 

concentrations can also be influenced by lipid-lowering medications. 

 

Blood cholesterol levels are improving in New Zealand. From 1997 to 2008/09, mean 

total cholesterol levels decreased in adult males and females (Ministry of Health 2011). 

Total cholesterol concentrations have also decreased for Māori and Pacific adults since 

1997 (see Figure 49). 

 

Figure 49: Mean total cholesterol concentrations in adults (15+ years), by ethnicity 

and sex, 1997 and 2008/09 
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Source: Ministry of Health 2011, Ministry of Health 2012d, Ministry of Health 2012e 

 

Favourable trends in total cholesterol levels are due to both improvements in diet, 

particularly reduced saturated fat intake (see ‘Diet’ above), and management of high 

cholesterol with lipid-lowering medications. 
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Other factors influencing health 

Many other factors influence health, including social, economic and environmental 

factors. Factors such as income, employment status, housing and education can have 

both direct and indirect impacts on health and have cumulative effects over lifetimes. 

In this section we consider two factors in more detail – health literacy and household 

crowding. 

 

Two other factors that can influence health – safe drinking water and air quality – are 

included in the Ministry of Health’s 2012 Annual Report (see pages 50 and 70–71). 

 

Health literacy 

Health literacy is defined as the ability to obtain, process and understand basic health 

information and services in order to make informed and appropriate health decisions. 

International research shows there is a relationship between a person’s level of literacy 

and their health status. Poor health literacy is a significant barrier to accessing health 

care. 

 

The Ministry of Health’s Māori Health Business Unit commissioned a report on the 

health literacy results from the 2006 Adult Literacy and Lifeskills Survey. 

 

The report (Ministry of Health 2010d) shows that: 

 on average, New Zealanders have poor health literacy skills 

 four out of five Māori males and three out of four Māori females have poor health 

literacy skills 

 Māori have much poorer health literacy skills than non-Māori, regardless of sex, 

age, level of education, labour force status, household income or rural/urban 

location, and this is likely to have a negative impact on their health status 

 Māori and non-Māori with a tertiary education are more likely to have good health 

literacy skills than those with lower levels of education 

 Māori across all types of labour force status have poorer health literacy skills than 

non-Māori, but Māori who are unemployed or looking for work have the poorest 

health literacy skills. 

 

Household crowding 

Household crowding is defined as needing one or more additional bedrooms to 

adequately accommodate household members. Household crowding is a risk factor for 

infectious diseases. Underlying reasons for household crowding include cultural 

attitudes and economic hardship. 
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Based on Census data, about 10 percent of New Zealanders were living in crowded 

households in 2006. This was similar to the level of crowding in 2001. Children are 

more likely to live in crowded households than adults. In 2006, 17 percent of children 

under the age of 10 years, and 15 percent of children aged 10–14 years, lived in 

households requiring at least one more bedroom. 

 

Pacific peoples and Māori are more likely to live in crowded households than other 

ethnic groups. In 2006, 43 percent of Pacific peoples and 23 percent of Māori lived in 

crowded households. 
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Section 3: Health system 

performance 
This section discusses the performance of the health and disability system. Discussion 

is grouped under the domains of quality, value for money and integration. This 

approach is consistent with health performance frameworks used around the world. 

 

The approach used in this section represents a departure from previous Health and 

Independence Reports. It will be further refined in subsequent reports, for example by 

presenting a detailed analysis from the expanded health service utilisation and patient 

experience module in the 2011/12 New Zealand Health Survey. 

 

Quality 

A continual effort to improve the quality of services across the whole New Zealand 

health system is essential to: 

 reduce rates of death and harm from preventable adverse events and errors 

 make services more effective and timely 

 reduce use of ineffective or inappropriate services and increase use of effective 

services 

 improve efficiency – that is, increase value through more efficient service provision 

(HQSC 2011). 

 

Quality improvements should ultimately contribute to improving the health outcomes 

covered in Section 1 of this Report. 

 

Dimensions of quality include responsiveness, effectiveness, accessibility and safety. 

 

Responsiveness 

A high-quality health and disability system is responsive to patients’ non-clinical needs, 

which include the need to be treated with respect and dignity, to have their privacy 

protected and to have personal information kept confidential. Two indicators of 

responsiveness are reported here: trust and confidence; and patient experience. 
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Trust and confidence 

New Zealanders’ overall trust and confidence in our health system has improved over 

recent years, according to Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Surveys of 

adults aged 18 years and over. Nearly four in 10 (37 percent) New Zealanders surveyed 

in 2010 reported only minor changes are needed to our health system, up markedly 

from just under one in 10 (9 percent) in 1998. These figures compare well with other 

countries, with only United Kingdom respondents having a higher level of trust in their 

health system (see Figure 50). 

 

Figure 50: Only minor changes needed to health system, views of five countries, 

1998–2010 (selected years) 
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Source: Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Surveys 

 

In the 2010 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey, 84 percent of 

New Zealand respondents said that if they became seriously ill, they would be confident 

or very confident that they would get most effective treatment, including drugs and 

diagnostic tests. 

Patient experience – public satisfaction with health services 

A people-focused and responsive health system is increasingly regarded as crucial for 

the delivery of high-quality care. By measuring patient experience, it is possible to 

better understand and assess the extent to which health care and support services are 

people-focused. 
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A survey of New Zealanders’ experiences with frequently used public services found 

that satisfaction with the quality of health services has increased since 2007, when the 

survey began (State Services Commission 2012). In 2012 almost three-quarters of 

health care users reported satisfaction with a range of services received (see Table 29). 

 

Table 29: Percentage of New Zealanders satisfied with certain health services, 

2007, 2009 and 2012  

Health service Percent 

2007 2009 June 2012 

Received outpatient services from a public 
hospital (includes accident and emergency) 

69 68 72 

Stayed in a public hospital 68 71 74 

Used an 0800 number for health information 67 70 70 

Overall 68 69 72 

Source: State Services Commission 2012 

Note ‘Obtaining family services or counselling’ is also included in the overall Health group score. 

 

Patient experience is reported as one aspect of quality; this is an emerging measure of 

quality improvement for the health system, and an expanded set of questions was 

included in the 2011/12 New Zealand Health Survey. 

 

Effectiveness 

How effective is the New Zealand health system in delivering services that reduce the 

burden of ill health on the population? This section considers four topics, representing 

areas where evidence shows that the public health system can have the greatest impact 

on reducing mortality and morbidity: progress against health targets; ambulatory-

sensitive hospitalisations; amenable mortality; and first-to-acute24 admissions to 

inpatient mental health services. 

 

Health targets and better public services results 

An important measure of the health and disability system’s effectiveness is its 

performance in achieving the Government’s six health targets. These national measures 

have been specifically designed to improve the performance of health services. Progress 

against health targets is summarised in Table 30 below. A more detailed discussion of 

this topic is included in the Ministry of Health’s 2012 Annual Report (see 

pages 22–30). 

 

 

24 A ‘first-to-acute admission’ means a person’s first contact with mental health services 

coincides with their need for an inpatient admission. 
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Table 30: Achievements against National Targets, 2011/2012 

Health target Measure Achieved against 

National Target in 

2011/2012 

Shorter stays in 
emergency departments 

95 percent of patients will be admitted, 
discharged or transferred from an emergency 
department within 6 hours 

93.8 percent 

Improved access to 
elective surgery 

The volume of elective surgery will be increased 
by an average of 4000 discharges per year 

Achieved: since 2007/08, 
volume has increased by 
more than 8000 a year 

Shorter waits for cancer 
treatment 

Everyone needing radiation treatment will have 
this within 4 weeks 

Achieved 

Increased immunisation 95 percent of two year olds will be fully 
immunised 

93.1 percent 

Better help for smokers 
to quit 

1 95 percent of hospitalised smokers will be 
provided with advice and help to quit by July 
2012 

1 93.6 percent by 
30 June 2012 

2 90 percent of patients enrolled with PHOs 
who smoke and are seen in general practice 
will be provided with advice and help to quit 
by July 2012 

2 34.4 percent by 30 
June 2012 

More heart and diabetes 
checks (changed from 
January 2012) 

Increase the proportion of the eligible population 
who have had blood tests for cardiovascular 
disease risk assessment (including tests for 
diabetes) in the previous five years (60% by 
1 July 2012, 75% by 1 July 2013, 90% by 1 July 
2013) 

48.5 percent (new health 
target) 

 

Overall, the system has met or almost met most of the targets and made significant 

progress towards achieving others. 

 

In 2012 the Government announced its commitment to delivering a set of ten Better 

Public Services results, chosen for their importance in improving the lives of New 

Zealanders. These include two targets directly related to health: 

 increase infant immunisation rates so that 95 percent of eight-month-olds are fully 

immunised by December 2014 and this is maintained through to 30 June 2017 

 reduce the incidence of rheumatic fever by two-thirds to 1.4 cases per 100,000 

people by June 2017. 

 

Reports of progress towards these targets will provide additional indicators of the 

effectiveness of the public service in improving the health status of New Zealanders. 
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Ambulatory-sensitive hospitalisations 

Ambulatory-sensitive hospitalisations (ASH) are hospital admissions that might have 

been avoided if health services had been delivered more effectively or had been 

accessed in a community setting, including through primary health care. ASH is an 

indicator of the effectiveness of primary health care and of how it relates to hospital-

based services. 

 

Vulnerable populations (Māori, Pacific peoples and people living in areas of high 

deprivation) have considerably higher rates of ASH admissions. Figure 51 shows that 

ASH admission rates for Pacific peoples increased by 20 percent from 2001 to 2011, 

and for Māori by 4 percent. Rates for the ‘Other’ ethnic group decreased by 7 percent 

from 2001 to 2011, and the total New Zealand rate remained stable. 

 

Figure 51: Ambulatory-sensitive hospital admission rate per 1000 people aged 

0–74 years, by ethnicity, 2001–2011 
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Source: Ministry of Health (provisional data) 

Note: The data for Pacific peoples are taken from the seven DHBs with a substantial Pacific population: 

Waitemata, Auckland, Counties Manukau, Waikato, Capital & Coast, Hutt and Canterbury. All other 

DHBs’ Pacific populations are grouped into the ‘Other’ ethnic group. 
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Amenable mortality 

Amenable mortality refers to deaths that might have been prevented if health services 

had been delivered more effectively, or if patients had accessed services earlier, either 

in primary care or in hospital. It is a key indicator of health system effectiveness and 

access to health care. 

 

The range of conditions considered amenable (that is, responsive to intervention) 

includes some types of infection and cancer, maternal, perinatal and infant 

conditions/complications, injuries and a range of chronic disorders. Amenable 

mortality is limited to deaths before age 75 years (premature deaths). 

 

Over the last decade New Zealand’s amenable mortality rates declined for both Māori 

and non-Māori males and females (see Figure 52). A decrease in amenable mortality 

represents an improvement in health outcomes and improved services, because it 

indicates that the number of deaths that might have been avoided is decreasing. 

 

Figure 52: Amenable mortality rate per 1000 people aged 0–74 years, Māori and 

non-Māori by sex, 2001–2009 
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Source: Ministry of Health (provisional data) 

 

Amenable mortality rates are also declining for Pacific males and females, based on 

data from 1996 to 2006 (Ministry of Health 2010e). However, in 2006 amenable 

mortality rates for Pacific males and females were approximately twice as high as rates 

for non-Pacific rate males and females. 
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Chronic disorders25 accounted for the largest proportion (58 percent) of amenable 

deaths in 2009, followed by cancers (22 percent), and injuries (16 percent). Maternal 

and infant causes (3 percent) and infections (0.4 percent) comprised only a very small 

proportion of total amenable deaths in 2009. 

 

Because the chronic disorder category is the dominant cause of amenable deaths, the 

following analyses focus on trends in this category for population subgroups. As shown 

in Table 31, amenable mortality rates for chronic conditions have improved for all 

ethnic, sex and age groups from 2001 to 2009. 

 

Table 31: Amenable mortality rates per 1000 population for chronic conditions, by 

ethnicity, sex and age group, 2001 and 2009 

Ethnicity, sex, age group (years) 2001 2009 Percent change 2001 to 2009 

Māori female 45–64 4.69 2.24 -52.2 

Māori male 45–64 5.77 4.83 -16.3 

Māori female 65–74 19.24 15.17 -21.2 

Māori male 65–74 24.89 19.34 -22.3 

Non-Māori female 45–64 0.76 0.55 -28.1 

Non-Māori male 45–64 1.75 1.32 -24.5 

Non-Māori female 65–74 5.99 3.80 -36.4 

Non-Māori male 65–74 10.63 6.68 -37.2 

Source: Ministry of Health (provisional data) 

 

Rate of new admissions to acute inpatient mental health services 

Early detection and treatment of serious mental illness minimise the potential impact 

of such illness. The rate of new admissions directly to acute inpatient mental health 

services provides a measure of the effectiveness and responsiveness of community-

based services. 

 

New Zealand’s rate of first-to-acute admissions to acute inpatient mental health 

services decreased from 6 percent in 2002/03 to 4.4 percent in 2010/11 (see 

Figure 53). This decline suggests that community mental health services became more 

accessible and effective over that period. 

 

 

25 Chronic disorders include deaths due to ischaemic heart disease, COPD, stroke, diabetes, 

valvular heart disease, hypertensive disease, asthma, peptic ulcer disease, renal failure, 

pulmonary embolism, heart failure and cholelithiasis. 
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Figure 53: Mental health clients seen, acute and for the first time, as a percentage 

of clients seen for the first time, 2002/03–2010/11 
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Source: Ministry of Health 

Notes: The definition has changed from ‘seen for the first time in acute/inpatient services (not seen at all 

in the national system)’ to ‘seen in acute/inpatient services for the first time (not seen by mental health 

services in the year prior to acute admission)’. 

 

Accessibility 

Timely and equitable access to health care is critical to achieving positive health 

outcomes. In terms of access, ‘equitable’ refers to the extent to which people are able to 

receive a service on the basis of need and likely benefit, irrespective of factors such as 

ethnicity, age, impairment or sex. Access to services may be improved, for example, by 

individuals being able to attend a range of primary and secondary care services in the 

same centre, by providing services closer to home or by reducing cost and transport 

barriers. 

 

Primary health organisation enrolment rate 

Primary health organisation (PHO) enrolment is a significant measure of the capacity 

of New Zealand’s public health system to deliver health benefits, because important 

benefits such as cheaper visits to the doctor and reductions in the cost of prescription 

medicines are only available to people who have enrolled with a PHO. Entitlement to 

benefits is greater for people who are enrolled in Very Low Cost Access (VLCA) 

practices and for practices that offer the Zero Fees for Under 6s scheme. 
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The following key measures of primary care access show good and improving 

performance on PHOs’ enrolment rates. 

 The estimated PHO enrolment rate has remained relatively steady over the past few 

years, although there was an overall increase from 93.6 percent at 1 July 2006 to 

95.9 percent at 1 July 2012. 

 The proportion of the population enrolled in VLCA general practices has continued 

to increase, to a current level of 30 percent. 

 The proportion of children aged under six years old who are enrolled at a practice 

offering free visits for under 6s continues to increase, with a current level of 

93 percent. 

 

Access to primary health care 

Frequent, regular access to primary care can be linked to improving health outcomes. 

Under-use of primary health care is one indicator of unmet health needs. 

 

In the 2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey, four out of five adults (82.3 percent) who 

had seen their primary health care provider in the previous 12 months reported that 

they had been able to see that provider within 24 hours of when they wanted to 

(Ministry of Health 2008). 

 

When the findings are adjusted for age, women (20.8 percent) were significantly more 

likely than men (15.4 percent) to report that they had not been able to see their health 

care provider within 24 hours of when they wanted to. Māori women were significantly 

more likely than women in the total population to report that they had not been able to 

see their health care provider within 24 hours of when they wanted to. 

 

Access to specialist mental health and addiction services 

Use of specialist mental health services in New Zealand has increased since 2002/03 

(see Figure 54). Use of specialist mental health and addiction services indicates how 

the public health system is responding to the needs of people who are severely affected 

by a mental health and/or addiction problem. 

 

Figure 54 also shows that a higher proportion of the Māori population uses specialist 

mental health services than the non-Māori population. The level of access to specialist 

services has also increased at a faster rate for Māori than non-Māori, particularly since 

2004/05. 
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Figure 54: Percentage of clients accessing specialist/secondary mental health 

services, by ethnicity, 2002/03–2010/11 
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Source: Programme for the integration of mental health data, Ministry of Health. 

 

Unmet need – cost barriers to accessing health services 

Data available from the various Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy 

Surveys show that fewer New Zealanders now report cost as a barrier to accessing three 

types of health care in the past year (Table 32). This finding holds both for adults aged 

18 years and over in the general population (14 percent in 2010) and for sicker adults 

aged 18 years and over (26 percent in 2011). These results are consistent with the 

Primary Health Care Strategy’s objective of reducing cost as a barrier to access to 

primary and other primary-referred health care services. 
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Table 32: Cost-related access problems in the past year, general population and 

sicker adults, 2004–2011 (selected years) 

Cost related access 

problem 

Survey population 

base: adults aged 

18 and over 

Percent reported cost related problem 

2004 2005 2007 2008* 2010 2011 

Did not fill prescription or 
skipped doses 

General population 11  10  7  

Sicker adults**  19  18  12 

Had a medical problem 
but did not visit doctor 

General population 28  19  9  

Sicker adults  29  22  18 

Skipped test, treatment, 
or follow-up 

General population 20  13  8  

Sicker adults  21  18  15 

Yes to at least one of the 
above 

General population 34  25  14  

Sicker adults  38  31  26 

Source: Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Surveys 

* Base adults with any chronic condition; cost related access problems in past two years. 

** Sicker adults in the 2011 survey were defined as those in: fair or poor health; had surgery or been 

hospitalised in past two years; or received care for serious or chronic illness, injury, or disability in past 

year. Similar criteria were used to define sicker adults in other years. 

 

However, while these trends are encouraging, there are still cost-related inequalities 

related to access in New Zealand. For example, sicker adults, who are a high health 

services user group, were much more likely to report cost as a barrier. 

 

International comparisons of access to primary care, specialist care and 

elective surgery 

The last two Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Surveys (2010 and 2011) 

found that, in comparison with other participating countries, New Zealand patients 

reported high levels of access to a doctor or nurse (on the same or next day as need 

arose). New Zealand was approximately in the middle of the range in terms of both 

waiting times for a specialist appointment and waiting times for elective surgery. 

 

The results of the two Commonwealth Fund surveys, which examine international 

differences in patient experience of access and equity (among other topics), are shown 

in Table 33. 
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Table 33: International comparisons of access to primary care, specialist care and 

elective surgery, 2010 and 2011 

Patient experience 

measure 

Survey 

year
1
 

Percent 

New 

Zealand 

Canada France Germany Netherlands United 

Kingdom 

Australia United 

States 

Access to a doctor or 
nurse when sick or 
needed care – same or 
next-day appointment

2
 

2011 75 51 75 59 70 79 63 59 

2010 78 45 62 66 72 70 65 57 

Wait time for a specialist 
appointment – less than 
four weeks (2010 
survey); less than a 
month (2011 survey)* 

2011 68 52 67 79 81 80 59 88 

2010 61 41 53 83 70 72 54 80 

Wait time for elective 
surgery – less than one 
month** 

2010 54 35 46 78 59 59 53 68 

Source: Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Surveys 

* Base needed to see a specialist in the past two years. 

** Base needed elective surgery in the past two years. 

1 ‘Source: Commonwealth Fund 2010 International Health Policy Survey of general population adults 

18 years and over; Commonwealth Fund 2011 International Health Policy Survey of sicker adults 

18 years and over. 

2 Sicker adults were defined as those in: fair or poor health; had surgery or been hospitalised in past two 

years; or received care for serious or chronic illness, injury, or disability in past year. 

 

Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey results for levels of access for 

New Zealand adults (18 years or over) mirror results cited earlier from the 2006/07 

New Zealand Health Survey (see ‘Access to primary care’). 

 

New Zealand’s performance for waiting times for elective surgery has improved, with a 

dramatic reduction from 26 percent waiting four months or more for surgery in 

2001/02 down to just eight percent by 2010 (Figure 55). The base for this indicator is 

those respondents in the annual Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy 

Surveys who needed elective surgery in the past two years. In 2010 eight percent of 

New Zealanders had to wait four months or longer for elective surgery, which is better 

than the proportion in Canada (25 percent), the United Kingdom (21 percent) and in 

Australia (18 percent). Moreover, New Zealand is the only country to have continually 

reduced waiting times in each of the reporting periods. 
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Figure 55: Waiting time of four months or more for elective surgery, 

2001/02–2010 (selected years) 
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Source: Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Surveys 

 

Safety 

A fundamental aspect of system performance is the safety of the care provided to 

patients. Moreover, an important means by which the system can improve 

performance is by maintaining a safety focus, for example in relation to techniques of 

care. 

 

Levels and trends in hospital mortality rates, serious and sentinel events, post-

operative complications and medical errors are discussed in this section as important 

indicators of safety of care. 

 

Hospital mortality rates 

New Zealand’s rates of hospital mortality as a percentage of all hospital discharges have 

been declining since 2000/01, particularly for all age groups over 45 years (see 

Figure 56). Mortality rates are a well-established measure of clinical outcomes for 

hospital patients, because mortality is related to the safety and efficacy of treatment. 

Overseas experience shows that systemic changes to the way care is offered to patients 

can lead to measurable changes in patient morbidity and mortality. Examples are 

changes intended to reduce the incidence of falls, pressure ulcers, pneumonia and 

hospital-acquired infections. 
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Figure 56: Hospital mortality rates, all DHBs combined, by age group,  

2000/01–2011/12 
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Source: Ministry of Health 

Note: The rate is based on dividing the number of in-hospital deaths by the total number of discharges. 

The definition of hospital mortality used in the calculation of these data differs from the definition of 

hospital mortality used in previous versions of this Report. Day cases, stays of longer than 30 days and 

palliative care are now excluded from the scope of measuring hospital mortality, in line with the definition 

used in DHBs’ performance measures for 2010/11. 

 

Serious and sentinel events 

A serious event in hospital care is one that has led to significant additional treatment; a 

sentinel event is life threatening or has led to an unexpected death or major loss of 

function. The reporting of these cases by DHBs started five years ago. Since 2010 it has 

been overseen by the Health Quality and Safety Commission (HQSC). 

 

In the 2010/11 fiscal year, there was a total of 377 serious or sentinel events in public 

hospitals (Table 34). Of these, just over half (195) were falls, followed by 108 clinical 

management events, such as errors of diagnosis and treatment; and 25 were 

medication events, such as giving a patient the wrong medicine or an incorrect dosage. 

 



 

226 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 

including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Table 34: Serious or sentinel events reported by DHBs, by type, 2007/08–2010/11 

Event type Year 

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Wrong patient, site or procedure 19 11 5 11 

Retain instruments or swabs 6 4 9 7 

Clinical management events* 107 123 126 108 

Medication event 21 15 17 25 

Falls 56 85 130 195 

Missing/absent without leave patient 8 2 3 4 

Physical assault on patient 1 2 1 3 

Delays in transfer 3 2 0 2 

Hospital-acquired infection**   8 2 

Patient suicide
†
 16 8 4 5 

Other
††

 21 27 15 15 

Total 258 279 318 377 

Source: HQSC 2012 

Notes: 

* Delays in diagnosis or treatment, failings in patient monitoring or general care, and adverse events 

that occurred during, or as a result of, procedure or operation. 

** Data were not collected prior to 2009/10. 

†
 Outpatient suicides are excluded. 

††
 Diverse incidents which include patient self-harm, failings in hospital laboratory system, and events 

under review where the full facts are still unknown. 

 

Falls drove the overall increase in serious and sentinel events since 2007/08. There was 

considerable variation between DHBs in how many falls were reported as serious or 

sentinel events. The higher number of serious or sentinel events is likely to be due to 

improved reporting; for example, more accurate classification of events as serious or 

sentinel than before. 
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Post-operative complications 

The OECD Health at a Glance report (OECD 2011) showed that in 2009 New Zealand 

had relatively high rates on five out of six measures of procedural or post-operative 

complications:26 obstetric trauma vaginal delivery with instrument (fourth-highest 

from 20 measured countries); foreign body left in during procedure (fourth-highest 

from 16 measured countries); accidental puncture or laceration (third-highest from 

16 measured countries); postoperative pulmonary embolism (eighth-highest from 

18 measured countries); and postoperative sepsis (third-highest from 13 measured 

countries). These findings may, to some extent, reflect better reporting of adverse 

events in New Zealand. 

 

Medical errors 

A 2011 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of 11 countries 

(Commonwealth Fund 2011), which surveyed sicker adults, found that a relatively high 

proportion of New Zealand respondents reported being subject to medical, medication, 

or laboratory test errors or delays in the past two years27 (22 percent, compared with a 

low of 8–9 percent in the United Kingdom and Switzerland). Only Norway had a higher 

proportion (25 percent) of medical errors than New Zealand. The survey results also 

showed that patients with a ‘medical home’28 had a lower rate of medical errors. These 

results show the importance of continuity of care and care coordination with a regular 

doctor or place of care in reducing the risk of medical errors. 

 

Note that New Zealand’s relatively high medical error rates in the 2011 survey may 

reflect differences in systems for reporting medical errors internationally. 

 

Value for money 

Improving the efficiency and productivity of services and organisations is critical to 

achieving value for money and maintaining increasing service volumes within a tight 

fiscal environment. Like many countries, New Zealand faces the increased health 

demands of ageing populations, higher consumer expectations and growing costs 

associated with technological and pharmaceutical advances. Finding efficiencies within 

health care systems is critical to making them sustainable over time. 

 

 

26 Patient safety indicators are derived from the Quality Indicators developed by the US Agency 

for Healthcare Research and Quality. 

27 The four types of medical errors reported were: wrong medication or dose; medical mistake 

in treatment; incorrect diagnostic/laboratory test results; and delays in abnormal test results. 

The questions on incorrect or delayed test results were only asked if respondents had had 

blood tests, x-rays, or other tests in the past two years. 

28 Having a medical home was defined as: having a regular doctor/place of care; being able to 

get an appointment on the same or the next day last time sick and/or regular place of care 

always/often calls back the same day to answer question; someone at regular place of care 

always/often knows important information about medical history; and regular practice 

always/often helps coordinate and arrange care from other doctors/places and/or one person 

responsible for all care received for chronic condition. 
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Sustainability, productivity and efficiency 

The first measure reported in this section relates to whole-of-system fiscal 

sustainability. Then two measures (average length of stay and day case rate) are used to 

assess the efficiency of the hospital sector specifically, which accounts for a substantial 

proportion of total health expenditure. 

 

Fiscal sustainability and health spending challenges in an international 

context 

New Zealand’s health sector has managed well during the aftermath of the global 

financial crisis. To meet the Government’s goal of a return to surplus by 2014/15, the 

rate of growth in government funding for health care has declined, but is still positive, 

unlike other sectors in New Zealand and unlike in many OECD countries. 

 

The latest OECD data (Figure 57) show that New Zealand is one of only a handful of 

countries to have increased real government health expenditure by more than 2 

percent in 2010 following the global financial crisis. Annual real growth in government 

health expenditure across the OECD as a whole was slightly negative in 2010, down 

from 4.4 percent in the 2002–2009 period. By contrast in New Zealand the annual real 

growth in spending fell to 3.6 percent in 2010, down from 6.4 percent on average from 

2002 to 2009. 
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Figure 57: Average annual growth in government health expenditure in OECD 

countries, at real 2005 GDP prices, 2002–2009 and 2010 
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Source: OECD.Stat 2012 

Note: 

* Countries did not report public health expenditure data in 2010. Also the Netherlands and Turkey are 

omitted due to incomplete reporting of public health expenditure data over the period analysed. 

 

Some OECD countries have been forced to cut government health spending, leading to 

significant impacts for health services and staff. 

 

In New Zealand expenditure growth has been slowed without needing to reduce health 

services or cut the number of clinical staff practising in New Zealand. 

 In 2010 New Zealand achieved the third-highest rate of growth in ‘all causes’ public 

hospital discharge rates across the 22 OECD countries reporting data – albeit only 

at a level of 1.7 percent annual growth. 

 In 2010 New Zealand achieved a 3.4 percent rise in the number of practising nurses 

per population and a rise of 1.6 percent in the number of practising physicians per 

population. 

 

The reduced rate of growth in health spending was also achieved without cutting 

clinical staff in district health boards. From 30 November 2008 to 30 April 2012 there 

was an increase of 1093 medical employed full-time equivalent (FTE) staff; and 2446 

nursing employed FTEs (excluding health assistants). 
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The above spending growth figures relate to real government health spending annual 

growth. When focusing on real growth in Vote Health operational spending in 2009 

dollars, growth was 4.5 percent in 2009/10, -1.6 percent in 2010/11, 2.7 percent in 

2011/12, and is 2.1 percent in 2012/13.29 Though overall funding for the health sector 

has increased in 2011/12 and 2012/13, the rate of increase is much lower than in the 

past. 

 

Average length of stay 

Average length of stay for medical and surgical treatment in New Zealand has 

decreased overall since 2001. Having a longer stay on average for medical and surgical 

treatment reduces patient wellbeing and increases the cost of care. Average length of 

stay can be reduced by measures such as advances in treatment technologies (eg, new 

and less invasive surgical techniques), more effective drugs and improved community 

and follow-up care, as well as by more effective hospital administration. The challenge 

for hospital staff is to ensure that minimising length of stay − thus potentially achieving 

benefits to patient wellbeing and efficiency gains for the provider − does not result in 

unnecessary re-admissions or reduce the quality of care. 

 

Figure 58 shows total average length of stay decreased from 2001 to 2011, from 4.4 to 

4.0 days. Average length of stay for surgical procedures decreased from 5.7 to 5.1 days 

and for medical procedures it decreased from 3.9 to 3.5 days. 

 

 

29 Note that the 2011/12 figure for Vote Health is a pre-audit figure, and the 2012/13 Vote 

Health figure is from the Budget 2012 Economic and Fiscal Update. Vote Health figures used 

here relate to operating spending and do not include capital. 
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Figure 58: Average number of days spent in hospital by inpatients, medical and 

surgical, 2001–2011 
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Source: Hospital benchmark information, Ministry of Health 

Note: The definition of average length of stay is consistent with DHBs’ performance measures for 

2010/11; that is, assessment, treatment and rehabilitation are excluded. 

 

The acute re-admission rate has increased over the last decade, reaching 9.2 percent in 

the 2011 calendar year (see Impact Measure 1 in the Annual Report). However, there is 

evidence that it is starting to grow at a slower pace. From 2007 to 2008 the acute re-

admission rate grew by 0.47 percentage points, while from 2010 to 2011 it grew by just 

0.12 percentage points. 

 

Day case procedures 

When surgical procedures can be undertaken on a day-case basis (that is, the patient is 

admitted and discharged on the same day), a hospital visit can be less disruptive for the 

patient and use hospital resources more efficiently. The level of complexity of the 

average case influences the extent to which different specialities can implement day 

surgery. 

 

New Zealand's annual rate of day case procedures as a percentage of all surgical 

procedures has increased from approximately 53 percent in 2001 to 58 percent in 2011.  

This means that a greater proportion of cases of a similar complexity are now being 

done in a day case environment compared with a decade ago. The Ministry monitors 

this measure closely. This positive movement is in line with international trends, and 

suggests that hospitals are becoming more efficient in patient management. 
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Integration 

The integration and coordination of health services helps to ensure that people receive 

optimal care. 

 

Continuity of care 

The 2011 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of sicker adults aged 

18 and over measured three types of care coordination gaps. New Zealand performed 

second best among the countries surveyed, on each of the three care coordination gap 

measures and on the combined overall measure (Table 35). Care coordination gaps 

were reported as a problem by 30 percent of survey participants in New Zealand. Only 

the United Kingdom reported lower rates of care coordination gaps. 

 

Table 35: Patients who experienced care coordination gaps in the past two years, 

2011 

Coordination problem Percentage 

New 

Zealand 

Canada France Germany Netherlands United 

Kingdom 

Australia United 

States 

Test results/records not 
available at appointment 
and/or duplicate tests 
ordered 

15 25 20 16 18 13 19 27 

Providers failed to share 
important information with 
each other 

12 14 13 23 15 7 12 17 

Specialist did not have 
information about medical 
history and/or regular doctor 
not informed about specialist 
care 

12 18 37 35 17 6 19 18 

Yes to at least one of the 
above 

30 40 53 56 37 20 36 42 

Source: Commonwealth Fund 2011 
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Appendix A: Glossary 

Amendable mortality Deaths potentially avoidable through health care. 

Capital Investment 

Committee (CIC) 

A sub-committee of the National Health Board – the CIC has been 
established to develop a new centrally-led process for the national 
prioritisation and allocation of health capital funding. 

Cardiac surgery Surgery on the heart or great vessels. 

Cardiovascular disease 

(CVD) 

The leading cause of death in New Zealand. About 22,000 patients are 
admitted to hospital with a heart attack or stroke each year. 

Crown entities Bodies established by law (Crown Entities Act 2004) in which the 
Government has a controlling interest – for example, by owning a majority of 
the voting shares or through having the power to appoint and replace a 
majority of the governing members – but which are legally separate from the 
Crown. 

Elective surgery Surgery that is scheduled in advance and is non-emergency, such as a 
cataract operation or a knee replacement. 

Health expectancy 
(also known as 
independent life 
expectancy) 

The number of years a person could expect to live independently (that is, 
without any functional limitation requiring the assistance of another person 
or complex assistive device). The measure uses information from the 1996, 
2001 and 2006 Disability Surveys. Because of the 2011 Census being 
delayed, the next Disability Survey is expected to be conducted in 2014. 

Health Improvement and 

Innovation Resources 

Centre (HIIRC) 

A knowledge source to improve New Zealand’s health care system. 
Sponsored by the Ministry of Health, HIIRC has been developed to support 
performance and quality improvement efforts. 

Health Quality and 

Safety Commission 

(HQSC) 

Established under the New Zealand Public Health and Disability 
Amendment Act 2010 to ensure all New Zealanders receive the best health 
and disability care within the available resources, the HQSC is responsible 
for assisting providers across the whole health and disability sector – private 
and public – to improve service safety and quality. 

Health targets Supports improvements across all four of the intermediate outcomes in the 
Ministry’s outcomes framework, although principally to the intermediate 
outcomes ‘people receive better health and disability services’ and ‘good 
health and independence are protected and promoted’. 

HealthCERT Responsible for ensuring hospitals, rest homes and residential disability 
care facilities provide safe and reasonable levels of service for consumers. 

Immunisation Immunisation can protect people against harmful infections, which can 
cause serious complications, including death. It is one of the most effective, 
and cost-effective medical interventions to prevent disease. 

Impact The contributions made to an outcome. 

Intermediate outcome The contribution made to an outcome by a specified mix of interventions. It 
normally describes results that are directly attributable to the interventions of 
a particular agency. 

Internal Cabinet Papers 

Committee (ICPC) 

An internal committee which reviews the Ministry’s Cabinet papers to ensure 
the quality and standards are met. 

InterRAI interRAI is an international collaborative to improve the quality of life of 
vulnerable persons through a seamless comprehensive assessment 
system. 
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Māori Provider 

Development Scheme 

(MPDS) 

Māori health providers tend to deliver health and disability services to 
predominantly Māori clients, although certainly not exclusively to Māori 
clients. MPDS supports the development of those providers. MPDS is 
administered and monitored by the Ministry of Health with an annual 
allocation of $8.89 million (GST exclusive). 

Measles A highly infectious virus that spreads easily from person to person through 
the air, via breathing, coughing and sneezing. 

Monitoring and 

Intervention Framework 

(MIF) 

The purpose of the MIF is to encourage DHB performance. It is based on 
the principle that DHBs performing satisfactorily should be relatively free 
from intervention in their business, and given full opportunity to achieve their 
objectives as set out in their approved accountability documents. 

Multi-Class Output 

Appropriation (MCOA) 

The Minister of Finance can agree that more than one specified class of 
outputs be supplied under a single appropriation. This is known as a Multi 
Class Output Appropriation (MCOA). 

National collections Provide valuable health information to support decision-making in policy 
development, funding and at the point of care. This information contributes 
to improving the health outcomes of New Zealanders. 

National Health Board 

(NHB) 

Established by the New Zealand Government in November 2009. Its role is 
to overcome the challenges facing our health system and improve the 
quality, safety and sustainability of health care, for New Zealanders. 

National Health Index 

(NHI number) 

A unique identifier that is assigned to every person who uses health and 
disability support services in New Zealand. 

National Immunisation 

Register 

A computerised information system that has been developed to hold 
immunisation details of New Zealand children. 

Non-communicable 

diseases (NCDs) 

Non-infectious and non-transmissible diseases between persons. NCDs 
may be chronic diseases of long duration and slow progression, or they may 
result in more rapid death such as some types of sudden stroke. 

Non-departmental 

expenditure (NDE) 

NDE is where a government agency acts as a funding agency to provide 
money to other persons or organisations on behalf of the government. 

Notifiable diseases Diseases that are notifiable to the Medical Officer of Health, see 
www.health.govt.nz/our-work/diseases-and-conditions/notifiable-diseases 

Oncology A branch of medicine that deals with cancer. 

Outcome A change in state of society, the economy or the environment. The term 
refers to the end result expected from services delivered. 

Outputs The goods and services delivered by the Ministry of Health. 

Primary care Health services delivered by providers who act as the principal point of 
consultation for patients within a health care system, such as general 
practitioners, practice nurses or pharmacists. 

Primary health 

organisation (PHO) 

A not-for-profit community-based health care provider, including GPs, 
nurses and other health care providers. 

Public health unit An entity that concentrates on major public health services, such as tobacco 
control and health promotion. 

Rheumatic fever An illness that can result from untreated ‘strep throat’. It can lead to 
rheumatic heart disease, which is life-threatening and can cause serious 
heart damage. 

Section 11 committees Established under section 11 of the New Zealand Public Health and 
Disability Act 2000. Please see Appendix C for further details. 

Tuberculosis An infectious wasting disease in which tubercles appear on body tissue, 
especially in the lungs. 
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Appendix B: Legal and 

regulatory framework 

Legislation the Ministry administers 

 Alcohol Advisory Council Act 1976 

 Alcoholism and Drug Addiction Act 1966 

 Burial and Cremation Act 1964 

 Cancer Registry Act 1993 

 Children’s Health Camps Board Dissolution Act 1999 

 Disabled Persons Community Welfare Act 1975 (Part 2A) 

 Epidemic Preparedness Act 2006 

 Health Act 1956 

 Health and Disability Commissioner Act 1994 

 Health and Disability Services (Safety) Act 2001 

 Health Benefits (Reciprocity with Australia) Act 1999 

 Health Benefits (Reciprocity with the United Kingdom) Act 1982 

 Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003 

 Health Research Council Act 1990 

 Health Sector (Transfers) Act 1993 

 Human Tissue Act 2008 

 Intellectual Disability (Compulsory Care and Rehabilitation) Act 2003 

 Medicines Act 1981 

 Mental Health Commission Act 1998 

 Mental Health (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 1992 

 Misuse of Drugs Act 1975 

 New Zealand Council for Postgraduate Medical Education Act Repeal Act 1990 

 New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 

 Radiation Protection Act 1965 

 Sleepover (Wages Settlement) Act 2011 

 Smoke-free Environments Act 1990 

 Tuberculosis Act 1948. 

 



 

 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 239 
 including the Director-General of Health’s Annual Report on the State of Public Health 

Other regulatory roles and obligations 

In addition to administering legislation, key personnel within the Ministry (such as the 

Directors of Public Health and Mental Health) have specific statutory powers and 

functions under various pieces of legislation. 

 

The Ministry also has certain statutory roles and relationships defined in other 

legislation, including: 

 Biosecurity Act 1993 

 Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002 

 Education Act 1989 

 Food Act 1981 

 Gambling Act 2003 

 Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 

 Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act 2004 

 Litter Act 1979 

 Local Government Act 2002 

 Maritime Security Act 2004 

 Prostitution Reform Act 2003 

 Sale of Liquor Act 1989 

 Social Security Act 1964 

 Victims’ Rights Act 2002 

 Waste Minimisation Act 2008. 

 

International compliance 

The Ministry also helps the Government comply with certain international obligations 

through supporting and participating in international organisations such as the World 

Health Organization, as well as ensuring New Zealand complies with particular 

international requirements such as the International Health Regulations (2005) and 

the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. 

 

Regulations administered by the Ministry can be accessed on the Ministry website: 

www.health.govt.nz 

 

Full, searchable copies of the Acts and associated Regulations administered by the 

Ministry can be found on www.legislation.govt.nz 
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Appendix C: 

Section 11 committees 
Section 12(5) of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 requires that 

in every Annual Report the Ministry must specify the name, chairperson and members 

of all committees established under Section 11 of the Act. This appendix fulfils that 

requirement. 

 

Cancer Control New Zealand 

Associate Professor Christopher Atkinson (Chair) 

Mr Dalton Kelly (Deputy Chair) 

Ms Shelly Campbell 

Professor David Lamb 

Professor Brett Delahunt 

Dr John Koea 

Dr Scott MacFarlane 

Mrs Catherine Smith 

Dr John Waldon 

Dr Kate Grundy 

 

Health Workforce New Zealand 

Professor Des Gorman (Chair) 

Professor Gregor Coster (Deputy Chair) 

Professor Max Abbott 

Ms Helen Pocknall 

Ms Karen Roach 

Dr Andrew Wong 

 

National Health Board 

Dr Murray Horn (Chair) 

Dr Jeff Brown 

Ms Mary Gordon 

Professor Des Gorman 

Mrs Marion Guy 

Dr Tom Marshall 

Dr Murray Milner 

Dr Bev O’Keefe 
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Mr Hayden Wano 

Dr Margaret Wilsher 

 

National Health Committee 

Mrs Anne Kolbe (Chair) 

Mr Craig Climo 

Mr Ross Laidlaw 

Ms Sharon Mariu 

Dr Mark O’Carroll 

Mr Alex Price 

Professor Don Roberton (Advisor) 

 

Northern X Regional Ethics Committee 

Dr Brian Fergus (Chair) 

Ms Michele Stanton 

Ms Susan Buckland 

Ms Linda Kaye 

Ms Alaina Campbell 

Professor Wayne Miles 

Dr Paul Tanser 

Dr Ieti Lima 

Dr Marewa Glover 

Ms Rosemary Langham 

 

Northern Y Regional Ethics Committee 

Ms Raewyn Sporle (Chair) 

Ms Mary Anne Gill 

Mrs Lyn Murphy 

Mrs Phyllis Huitema 

Dr Tessa Turnbull 

Dr Willem Fourie 

Dr Etuate Saafi 

Ms Sanya Ram 

Mr Alistair Stewart 
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Central Regional Ethics Committee 

Mrs Helen Walker (Chair) 

Mr Paul Barnett 

Ms Susan Corbett 

Dr Angela Ballantyne 

Dr Hilary Stace 

Dr Andrea Corbett 

Dr Lynne Russell 

Dr Diana Martin 

Mrs Gael Donoghue 

 

Upper South A Regional Ethics Committee 

Mrs Liz Richards (Chair) 

Ms Edie Moke 

Mrs Angelika Frank-Alexander 

Dr Barbara Nicholas 

Ms Alison Franklin 

Dr Christine Robertson 

Dr Martin Than 

Dr Jinny Willis 

Dr Jane Ward 

Ms Ellen McCrae 

 

Upper South B Regional Ethics Committee 

Ms Patricia Costigan (Chair) 

Mrs Selma Scott 

Ms Raewyn Idoine 

Ms Judene Edgar 

Dr Mary Livingston 

Mrs Annette Finlay 

Dr Sarah Gunningham 

Dr Melissa Copland 

Mr Magnus McGee 
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Lower South Regional Ethics Committee 

Mr Kenneth Copland (Chair) 

Mr Garth Cameron 

Mrs Jeannette McIntyre 

Ms Deborah Ericsson 

Mrs Gwen Neave 

Ms Kath Fox 

Dr Mathew Zacharias 

Dr Tess Patterson 

Dr Nicola Swain 

Dr Rosemary Beresford 

 

Multi-Region Ethics Committee 

Mr Hector Matthews (Chair) 

Mr Doug Bailey 

Mr Kerry Hiini 

Dr Paul Copland 

Mrs Maliaga Erick 

Mrs Carolyn Weston 

Dr Russell Franklin 

Dr John Baker 

Dr Chris Wynne 

Dr Dean Quinn 

Dr Margaret Horsburgh 

Dr Sheila Williams 

 

Ethics Committee on Assisted Reproductive Technology 

Ms Kate Davenport (Chair) 

Dr Deborah Rowe (Ngāi Tahu) (Deputy Chair) 

Dr Deborah Payne 

Dr Brian Fergus 

Associate Professor Huia Tomlins-Jahnke 

Dr Freddie Graham Carolyn Mason 

Dr Adriana Gunder 
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National Ethics Advisory Committee 

Victoria Hinson (Chair) 

Dr Robin Olds (Deputy Chair) 

Dr Adriana Gunder 

Andrew Hall 

Dr Robert Logan 

Dr Diana Sarfati 

Dr Fa’afetai Sopoaga 

Jacob Te Kurapa 

Professor Martin Wilkinson 

Nola Dangen 

Dr Maureen Holdaway 

 

Advisory Committee on Assisted Reproductive Technology 

Established under the Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act 2004 

Dr John Angus (Chair) 

Associate Professor Andrew Shelling (Deputy Chair) 

Dr Karen Buckingham 

Alison Douglass 

Nikki Horne 

Associate Professor Michael Legge 

Cilla Ruruhira Henry 

Judy Turner 

 

http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#vhinson
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#rolds
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#agunder
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#ahall
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#rlogan
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#dsarfati
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#fsopoaga
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#jtekurapa
http://www.neac.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/neac-aboutus-members#mwilkinson
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#jangus
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#ashelling
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#kbuckingham
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#alisondouglass
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#nhorne
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#mlegge
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#chenry
http://www.acart.health.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexcm/acart-aboutus-members#jturner
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Appendix D: 

Organisational structure 

Director-General

Kevin Woods

Clinical Leadership, 

Protection and 

Regulation

Corporate 

Services

Māori 

Health

National 

Health 

Board

Policy

Office of 

the Chief 

Nurse

Sector 

Capability and 

Implementation

Don Mackie Barbara Phillips Teresa Wall Chai Chuah Don Gray Jane O’Malley Ashley Bloomfield
 

 

Clinical Leadership, Protection and Regulation (CLPR) 

The CLPR was established in February 2011. The CLPR brings together a range of 

teams and functions formerly spread across different business units of the Ministry. 

The core roles and functions of the CLPR are clinical leadership, health protection and 

core statutory functions, as well as specific regulatory functions. 

 

Corporate Services (CS) 

The CS assists and leads the Ministry in becoming a high performing and effective 

Ministry, supporting the Minister and public to make a positive difference to health. 

The CS plays a key role in the drive for improving organisational health, capability, 

performance and in providing assurance. 

 

Māori Health (MH) 

MH provides policy advice on achieving the government’s objective for Māori health. 

MH works across the Ministry to achieve improvements in the health of Māori, and 

take a leadership role by managing key relationships with other government agencies 

and in the health sector. MH also represents the Ministry in implementing government 

decisions regarding Whānau Ora. 

 

National Health Board (NHB) 

The NHB is made up of a Board appointed by the Minister of Health, a branded NHB 

business unit within the Ministry of Health, and two subcommittees (the Capital 

Investment Committee and the IT Health Board). The NHB works to consolidate 

planning, funding, workforce planning and capital investment, as well as supervise the 

billions of dollars in public spending spent on hospitals, primary health services and 

important national health services. 
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Policy 

The Policy business unit is the lead Ministry business unit for developing and providing 

policy advice to Ministers, and carrying out related policy functions. The Policy 

business unit will work with, inform and be informed by, the work of the Ministry’s 

clinical, operations, purchasing, programme development, funding and administration 

of legislation functions. 

 

Office of the Chief Nurse (OCN) 

The OCN provides expert advice on nursing to Government, as well as professional 

leadership to the nursing profession in New Zealand, working closely with nurse 

leaders within the health sector, the professional statutory bodies, professional and 

staff associations and unions, DHB Chief Executives and managers, and the voluntary 

and independent sectors. 

 

Sector Capability and Implementation (SCI) 

The SCI is responsible for working proactively with the health sector to facilitate 

implementation, build capability and share innovations across the sector that support 

operationalising the Minister’s strategic priorities. 
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Appendix E: Staff information 

Permanent staff 

The number of permanent staff at the Ministry as at 30 June 2011 was 1093 full-time 

equivalents (FTEs) or 1,141 headcounts. This compares with 1122 FTEs at the same 

time last year. 

 

Figure E1: Staff numbers by business unit 
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* Māori Health and the Office of the Chief Nurse are added together for this graph. 

 

Turnover 

The 12-month rolling average turnover rate for 2011/12 was 15.4 percent. This 

compares with 16.0 percent for 2010/11. During 2011/12, 168 staff have left Ministry. 

 

Length of service 

The average length of service for the Ministry staff is 6.1 years. The average service 

length remains the same as previous years. 

 

Approximately 47 percent of staff have been with the Ministry over 5 years. 
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Figure E2: Staff numbers by service length 
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Ethnicity 

The NZ European ethnic group is the most dominant group within the Ministry at 

62 percent. 

 

Figure E3: Ethnicity 
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Gender and age 

Approximately 37 percent of staff are male and 63 percent are female. The gender 

proportion remains the same as previous years. 

 

The average age of the Ministry staff is 44 years old (45 for male and 44 for female). 

 

Figure E4: Staff numbers by age group and gender 
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Figure E5: Gender proportion by age group 
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Salary 

Overall average salaries have increased by approximately $2,800 since 2010/11 – 

$82,909 in 2011/12 and $80,084 in 2010/11. This is an increase of approximately 

3.5 percent. 

 

Approximately 24 percent of staff are paid over $100,000 and there is approximately a 

$15,000 difference between the average salary paid to male and female staff ($92,392 

for male and $77,406 for female). There are a number of potential factors relating to 

this difference. A major influence is that more female staff work part-time. The 

Ministry is an equal employment opportunity employer and the outlook for 2012/13 

sees a change in the Executive Leadership team with more female members than male 

members. 

 

The Ministry employs a remuneration policy that ensures that all roles in the Ministry 

are evaluated using a recognised methodology and salary bands are set as a 

consequence, ensuring both female and male employees are rewarded on the same 

salary scale. 

 

The Ministry is committed to equal employment opportunities and has a transparent 

system for job applications. 
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Figure E6: Staff numbers by salary band 
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Figure E7: Gender proportion by salary band 
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Appendix F: Staff location 
Staff are located throughout the country, with the highest concentration of numbers 

being in Wellington. 

 

 FTEs % 

Auckland 62.56 5% 

Waikato 14.10 1% 

Manawatu–Whanganui 58.91 5% 

Wellington 860.04 75% 

Canterbury 35.66 3% 

Otago 61.56 5% 
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